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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Years ended December 31 in millions except per share data 2009 2008 Change

Revenue $5951.8 $6355.1 6.3

Net income 730.5a 7995b 8.6

Diluted earnings per common share 2.33a 251b 7.2

Dividends per common sharec 0.90 0.88 2.3

Total asfets $6475.3 $6080.1 6.5

Capital expenditures13 269.3 385.4 30.1

Total debt 1197.8 1267.6 5.5

Equity 1929.2 1352.9 42.6

Revenue Dividends Per Share

in millions in dollars

$6772 $0.90

$0.88

$6255 $6355

$0.82

$6004

$5952
$0.73

$066

Includes $0.03 per
diluted share

net restructuring charge $0.03 per

diluted share loss on the divestiture

of Vista Research Inc and $0.02 per

______________________________________ _____________________________________________ diluted share gain on the divestiture

05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 OS 09
of Business Week

Includes $0.14 per diluted share

restructuring charge

Dividends paid were $0225 per

quarter in 2009 and $0.22 per quarter

in 2008
Shareholder Return Year-End Share Price

Five-Year Cumulative Total Returnid in dollars
Includes investments in prepub

12/31/0412/31/09 $68 02

lication costs purchases of property

and equipment and additions to

technology projects

Assumes $100 invested on

$51.63 December 31 2004 ad total return

includes reinvestment of dividends
115

$43.81 through December 31 2009

$100 $102 $33.51 The Peer Group consists of the

following companies Dow Jones

Company through December 2007
81 $2.19 Thomson Reuters Corporation Thomson

Reuters PLC through September

2009 Reed Elsevier NV Reed

Elsevier PLC Pearson PLC Moodys

Corporation and Wolters Kluwer

04 05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
Prior to 2008 the Peer Group also

included Thomson Corporation and

fl

Reuters Group PLC which are now
MHP Peer Group included as Thomson Reuters and

Dow Jones Company Inc which

SP 500 has been acquired by News Corporation

The McGraw-Hill Companies 2009 Arinsal Report
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Purpose..

Passion

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

\Vitfl this srsau.uu.ai .repo.rt we prese.nt ou.r v.ish tor the

u.ew dwcie.s earl It i.s Isrn for snsa rter better werrid

one where ndividuais markets and eontitnes have unpree

rted .em to t.heknosv.ielge and
ins.i.g.hts

needed to

adapt ow and p.rospe..r
In the pages that follow wes .hare

the sto.res of how we at i.vIcGrawFIil wotki ng with

on.r partne.rs itid c.ustrni rs sro end the globe to build this

fut.ure together

hdividuaflv these stOries span the hreadth of our hnsiness

frn the etedit ratu.gs a.nd .h veatment servees ut St.a nd rd

Poo.rs to the hnane.ia data rid an.aly tie.s of Cahtal IQ to

thr ir ii iisd prots on ii pn01 nus of Irt ea oil

E.due.a.tion to the fd.rtnation se.rv iee.s of brands soc is ea

.1 Power and Platts

Taken together these sto.ries fo.r.m ortrat of compa .ny

on the eutting edge of ttlohaln.a tion rid d.igitizati.on .At

time when t.hese fore.es are re.shap jug the eeouom ic Ia nd

s.ca.pe we a.re p.rovidi tsp
in fot mat ion a.nd knto.vi.edge for the

common good in ways never he.fore possible Th rou lb this

corn rn.itrne.nt to lnn.ovatron t.he employees of McGrawlHI ill

are prom.otong new opportumtoe.s for growth at every levol

.Academic growth for students Career growth lor worke.rs

I.e .nornic growtl. for rnar.kets and nations .And above all

strong and enduring fi.tu .nei.al growth for you our share.holders

RENEWED MOMENTUM FOR GROWTH
a.ns pleased to repo.rt tha.t your eonsprinv

ended aoc with

renewed ruomentu .m after succe.ssfu.ll.y mana.gi.og through

period of urrprecepented tu.rbulence in the g.k
hal ee.crs.rrny

While dilote.cl e.ar n.ings pe share fell aa pg.rcent for the ve.ar

as whole they rose an in
p.ress.ive cC pe.rcrmt in the

four th quarter In ja oua ty we aooounc.eel plans to resrrrrre

our share repurehasing prog atrd increase our annual

dividend Cr the eonsecutive year Si nec 1974 ou.r

annual di.v idend has grown at am ave.rage eonrpound rate of

it. lhllions to shareholders tlsroug.is df.vide.nds arsd

stock hrryhacks

it fts st rung me.sh to no we enter no ra with man

reasons for cr.snfi deu.c.e We autic.ipame year of strong grrw tlr

as sve innovate digital.h around the world With the contiuu

rrg recovery of the global economy we helie.ye smarter

better wo.rld wil.l n.eed the financial ecltreation rid husine.ss

information services we provide more than ever In 1.1 t.hree

of these key rnar.kets the trends for our hu.s.iness are poi sIring

irr one d.i recrion up

Pinarrciai Services During the fin.ancial crisis the world

am why hea It hy credit ma rkets require tra us pa ren

ancl accuuntabi.litv At their roost basic level th.eserna.rk.ets

couue.ct capita.l with those cv ho treed it for deve.iopme.ut

rid grrnwrh herr entreprene rims and srrr.a ii her srn.ess es

earn riot acce.ss fio ancing through thesa channels job rent ions

Fortn natcly conrcl irions have ins prove.d dram.aticai.iy surce

the credit c.ruuch brought the gioberl ecrurom to irtuai

scan dsri ii irs aoo rid en nv anon c.om hi rr atioo of low

Harold McGraw III

Chairman President and Cln

tbr t1ctaavttl I9npsOrs 2.OOS \nnuc Ilri.o
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Growth Jos.
and Credit Ratings

Credit ratings are

valuable benchmark

for investors that

helps the global bond

market work better

heea n.se

ove.rn.rnents.ssne bonds

to ..ay to.t hni..iding .roads

schools and hospita.t.s

the private stietor etilhi

pan.ie.s ssne bonds to stayt

a.nd ex pa .nd hns.inesses

.he .tesn.ltjntç h..ns.ncing

be os e.reate eco.nonsie

arid johr

\t Sdc axt hel bye t.he

hood market works het

te when Inastors .have

tno.te relevan.t .niwrmat.on wh.ie.h can help t.hern dir ti.ngn.i.s.h

tot t..heito.elres t.hr.re.lative tisk investnent op.portnoit.ies

and price those oppottonities as they see ayapropri ate Credi.t

ratngs a.n th.e.i aeetrrnpa.nyi.ng analysis .help i.nvestors do

hr pius idmi pri ii 110 nu if ii 1Ioo

11 STANDARD
POORS
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nrloritv ootentia .recove.rv anal ertidit hr ito

.fil.a.nv i.nvesto.ts a.totitid the world tore etedi.t ratings part

of ei.r ow.n ana lyt.ie eflior to Rati e.gs a.re p.tov ided free of

e.harge to itvestt t.hetti 1.alel1 nark thiit ean help

t.hetn strea shoe their analysis In the part two ears we

have tnade n.e .nshe.r of tnprove.ni.en.ts to increase the na

itv and .V

itisp5ttiOV Of OO.t ratings

With tnore than JOb ana.ivsrs aronnd t.he world She Ps

eom.m.rtosenr to the e.omparahility of our ratings acrs etor5

no If
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11 iirhrr or \k mti el in
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fJornparahihit.v is hmpr.urtant hecanse man nyestors rid others

11111 rOll 1110 OS ii In do 115 11 51 dli

Mark Adelson

Chief Credit Officeg

Standard hr Poors
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Why Is Platts Important to the

Global Energy Markets

One sord 1ranspareny
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W.POWER McGraw Hill @TION WEEK DENVERS0JAND ASSOCIATES CONSTRUCTION

MCGRAW-HILL EDUCATION

McGraw-Hill Education is global education company that

spans
the full

spectrum
of lifelong learning from early

childhood development to professional development With

offices in
33 countries and materials in different languages

the company partners with schools and universities around

the world Through both textbooks and advanced digital

platforms the company provides students and professionals

with the instructional framework and pedagogy to learn

effectively and achieve better results

Through its School Education Group McGraw-Hill provides

wide
range

of teaching and learning materials for pre

kindergarten through secondary school The group includes

the first-of-its-kind Center for Digital Innovation which

researches and develops new programs for learning At the

groups other specialized learning centers experts and

scholars
partner with educators to address critical challenges

such as college and career readiness and dropout prevention

McGraw-Hill Higher Education meets the growing demand

for postsecondary instruction In addition to publishing some

of the worlds most respected textbooks it has developed

McGraw-Hill Connect and other digital learning platforms

that customize learning around the needs of individual students

McGraw-Hill Professional gives workers at all stages of their

careers the opportunity to enhance their skills for success

Bestsellers in Z009 include How to Make Money in Stocks

4e by William ONeil Current Medical Diagnosis and

Treatment 2010 by StephenJ McPhee and Maxine

Papadakis and CISSP All-in-One Certification Exam

Guide 4e by Shon Harris

CTB/McGraw-Hill is leading provider of assessment

services for evaluating student achievement in three critical

marketsearly learning KIz and adult education It

continues to pioneer new innovations in areas such as

automated scoring and assembly of assessments In total

CTB/McGraw-Hill serves more than z8 million students

in 46 countries

www.mheducation.com

MCGRAW-HILL INFORMATION MEDIA

In rapidly changing global economy McGraw-Hills

information brands provide business leaders and entrepreneurs

with the insights and analysis they need to stay competitive

These brands are serving the industries that will define the

future of the global economy fields ranging from energy

and construction to automobiles and aviation

For more than century Platts has been the leading provider

of information for the energy and metals markets Now in

more than 150 countries around the globe Platts works to bring

transparency to these markets by producing critical bench

marks including more than 8500 price assessments each day

www.platts.com

As marketing information company J.D Power and Associates

has built reputation as the worlds leading authority on

customer satisfaction With customers in 6o countries

J.D Power provides consumer research for industries includ

ing automobiles financial services healthcare insurance

telecom and travel

www.jdpower.com

McGraw-Hill Construction is the premier source of infor

mation industry news market research and forecasts

for the $5.6 trillion global construction and design industry

www.construction.com

In i8 countries around the globe Aviation Week provides

strategic news and information for the $z trillion aviation

aerospace and defense industries

www.aviationweek.com

On both television and the Web the McGraw-Hill Broadcasting

Group delivers breaking news award-winning analysis and

local expertise The group includes four ABC-affiliated TV
stations KMGH Denver WRTV Indianapolis KGTV

San Diego and KERO Bakersfield California as well as

Azteca America Spanish-language TV affiliates

19
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and

results of operations of The McGraw-Hill Companies the

Company we or us should be read in conjunction

with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto

included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Certain of the statements below are forward-looking state

ments within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995 In addition any projections of future

results of operations and cash flows are subject to substantial

uncertainty See Safe Harbor Statements Under the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 on page 54

OVERVIEW

The Consolidated and Segment Review that follows is

incorporated herein by reference

We are leading global information services provider serv

ing the education financial services and business infor

mation markets with information products and services

Other markets include energy automotive construction

aerospace and defense broadcasting and marketing infor

mation services The operations consist of three business

segments McGraw-Hill Education Financial Services and

Information Media

The McGraw-Hill Education segment is one of the pre

mier global educational publishers This segment consists of

two operating groups the School Education Group SEG
serving the elementary and high school el-hi markets

and the Higher Education Professional and International

HPI Group serving the college and university profes

sional international and adult education markets

The School Education Group and the industry it serves

are influenced strongly by the size and timing of state adop

tion opportunities and the availability of funds The total

state new adoption market decreased from approximately

$980 million in 2008 to approximately $500 million

in 2009 According to statistics compiled by the Association

of American Publishers AAP total net basal and supple

mentary sales of elementary and secondary instructional

materials decreased 13.8% through December 2009 Basal

sales in adoption states and open territory for the industry

decreased 21.4% compared to prior year In the supplemen

tal market industry sales were up 14.9% versus prior year

driven largely by an increase in demand for intervention

products in reading and math

Revenue at the HPI Group is affected by enrollments

higher education funding and the number of courses avail

able to students The U.S college new textbook market is

approximately $4.3 billion and is expected to grow about

5%7% in 2010 In 2010 all our higher education imprints

will have large competitive lists of new titles and we antici

pate that we will hold or grow our market position

in the industry As technology continues to be the key trend in

higher education for course management and content deliv

ery the HPI Group will aggressively pursue variety of

e-initiatives including electronic books homework support

for students and online faculty training and support The

median projected increase in U.S college enrollments is rise

of 13% to 20.6 million between 2007 and 2018 according

to the National Center for Educational Statistics NCES
The economic recession and related weak job market is lead

ing more individuals to seek additional education and training

In 2009 this trend was strengthened by provisions in the

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act ARRA that

raised the maximum Pell Grant award available to eligible

students and increased the maximum tax credit allowable

to students or their families for college tuition and other

defined expenses During 2009 the federal government

also enacted the Post 9/11 G.I Bill which provides educa

tional stipends for eligible veterans attending postsecond

ary institutions Through September first wave of about

24500 veterans had been approved for 2009 enrollments

under the program The recent extension of unemployment

benefits by the U.S Congress for individuals who have

exhausted their federal unemployment benefits is expected

to continue to fuel this trend in 2010 In 2010 the profes

sional market is expected to he challenging as consumer-

oriented product lines decline but this will be largely offset

by increased demand for medical and engineering product

lines both print and digital The migration of customers to

alternate delivery channels such as e-books and online digi

tal delivery will continue to impact print sales at traditional

retailers and wholesalers

The Financial Services segment operates under the

Standard Poors brand This segment provides services

to investors corporations governments financial institu

tions investment managers and advisors globally The

segment and the markets it serves are impacted by inter

est rates the state of global economies credit quality and

investor confidence The Financial Services segment

consists of two operating groups Credit Market Services

and Investment Services

Credit Market Services provides independent global credit

ratings credit risk evaluations as well as ratings-related

information through its RatingsXpress and RatingsDirect

products Revenue at Credit Market Services is influenced

by credit markets and issuance levels which are dependent

upon many factors including the general condition of the

economy interest rates credit quality and spreads and

the level of liquidity in the financial markets

Investment Services provides comprehensive value-added

financial data information indices and research Revenue

at Investment Services is influenced by demand for company

data and securities data as well as demand for investable

products and high trading volumes in the financial markets

22 The McGraw-Fiji Companies zoo Annuai Report



The Information Media segment includes business

professional and broadcast media offering information

insight and analysis and consists of two operating groups

the Business-to-Business Group including such brands as

J.D Power and Associates McGraw-Hill Construction

Platts and Aviation Week and the Broadcasting Group

which operates nine television stations four ABC affiliated

and five Azteca America affiliated stations The segments

business is driven by the need for information and trans

parency in variety of industrces and to lesser extent

by advertising revenue

Management analyzes the performance of the segments

by using operating profit as key measure which is defined

as income from operations before corporate expense

The following is summary of significant financial items

during 2009 which are discussed in more detail throughout

this Managements Discussion and Analysis

Revenue and income from operations decreased 6.3%

and 8.7% respectively in 2009 Results from opera

tions decreased due to declines in the McGraw-Hill

Education segment driven by lower state adoption sales

at our School Education Group as well as the Financial

Services segment primarily due to continued weakness in

structured finance and reductions in investment research

products Foreign exchange rates had $70.4 million and

$9.5 million unfavorable impact on revenue and operating

profit respectively

In 2009 we initiated restructuring plan that included

realignment of select business operations within the

McGraw-Hill Education segment to further strengthen

their position in the market by creating market focused

organization that enhances its ability to address the chang

ing needs of their customers Additionally we continued

to implement restructuring plans to contain costs and

mitigate the impact of the current and expected future eco

nomic conditions We recorded net pre-tax restructuring

charge of $15.2 million pre-tax $9.7 million after-tax

or $0.03 per diluted share

Diluted earnings per share decreased 7.2% to $2.33 from

$2.51 in 2008

Cash flows provided from operations was $1.3 billion for

2009 Cash levels increased from $471.7 million in the

prior period to $1.2 billion During 2009 we paid divi

dends of $281.6 million and made capital expenditures

of $269.3 million Capital expenditures include prepub

lication costs property and equipment and additions to

technology projects

Cash levels were impacted by reduced share repurchased

decreased incentive compensation payments lower inven

tory purchases and reduced investments in property and

equipment and prepublications costs

OUTLOOK

For the McGraw-Hill Education segment we project

that the 2010 el-hi market will increase by 6% to 7% over

the very weak 2009 market This growth will occur in the

adoption states where favorable adoption cycle will cre

ate good opportunities for new business However this will

be partially offset by continuing declines in open territory

and residual sales The total available state new adoption

market in 2010 is currently estimated at between $925 mil

lion and $975 million depending on state funding levels

compared with approximately $500 million in 2009 The

key adoption opportunities in 2010 are K12 reading and

literature in Texas and K12 math in Florida Although

funding remains uncertain given the states hudget issues

second-year purchasing of K8 reading and third-year

purchasing of K8 math in California is also anticipated

Open territory sales which declined last year are projected

to decrease again in 2010 although the rate of decline is

expected to slow In 2010 SEG anticipates that the testing

market will again reflect pressures on state budgets limit

ing the opportunities for custom contract work that is not

mandated by federal or state requirements however SEG

expects to see continued growth in revenue for its formative

assessment products

HPI expects 2010 to be another challenging year in the

professional market and year of mixed opportunities in

the international market depending on region and product

focus However enrollments are projected to remain strong

in domestic colleges and universities and growth is expected

for all four of HPIs higher education product imprints

Science Engineering and Mathematics SEM Business

and Economics BEHumanities Social Science and

Languages HSSL and Career Education Revenue for

some professional titles will be adversely impacted by con

tinuing weakness in the retail environment This will he par

tially offset by forthcoming titles for the scientific technical

and medical markets which are less vulnerable to economic

downturns than the general retail market Digital licensing

and digital subscriptions should also contribute

to revenue growth

For the Financial Services segment market conditions

for the global corporate bond markets improved substan

tially in 2009 while most sectors of the structured finance

market continue to experience liquidity issues and weak

investor demand Global issuance of both investment and

speculative grade corporate bonds increased as credit spreads

declined significantly

The conditions in the corporate bond market remain favor

able for the first quarter of 2010 As the year progresses the

levels of interest rates and credit spreads are expected to con

tinue to affect issuance levels If global economies continue

to improve and central banks begin to tighten monetary

policy issuance levels could he adversely affected if interest
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OVERVIEW continued

rates and/or credit spreads increase Similarly bond issuance

by financial institutions may be constrained if they continue

to deleverage their balance sheets

In 2010 the global structured finance markets are

expected to continue to encounter several factors adversely

impacting market conditions The recovery of the

residential mortgage-backed securities RMBS and com
mercial mortgage-backed securities CMBS markets are

ultimately dependent upon the recovery of both residential

and commercial real estate markets Both demand for and

prices of residential and commercial real estate have been

depressed The outlook for the collateralized debt obliga

tions CDO market is dependent upon banks willingness

to initiate new loans and investors risk appetite to invest in

new CDO structures in addition to required improvement

in secondary market trading liquidity Finally the asset-

backed securities ABS market is expected to be adversely

affected by consumers deleveraging and the implementation

of new accounting and regulatory requirements which are

expected to increase the cost of securitizations for banks

resulting in higher capital costs

However in the short-term investment programs imple

mented by governments and central banks are expected to

lessen the impact of these adverse market conditions and

serve to increase liquidity of certain sectors of the structured

finance market Although the Term Asset-Backed Loan

Facility TALF program is currently scheduled to expire

at the end of the first quarter in 2010 the recent implementa

tion by the U.S Treasury of the Public Private Investment

Partnership PPIP is expected to increase demand for

existing legacy RMBS and CMBS In addition the European

Central Bank is in the process of providing stimulus to

the covered bond market through its purchases of euro-

denominated covered bonds

Investment Services expects to experience increased

demand for its Capital IQ and data and information offer

ings Also index services products should benefit if the

global equity markets continue to rally However demand

for investment research products is expected to decline

as the result of the expiration of the Independent Equity

Research settlement

In 2010 the Information Media segment expects to

invest in digital capabilities that will enable the businesses to

become integrated digital solutions providers and create

foundation for the development of new businesses and

revenue streams The segment will further expand its presence

in selected markets and geographies to help drive growth

The ongoing volatility of the oil and natural gas markets are

expected to continue customer demand for news and pricing

products although at slower pace than 2009 J.D Power

and Associates will continue expanding its global automotive

business and extend its product offering into new verticals

and emerging markets but expects to face challenges as the

U.S automotive market experiences significant challenges

In the construction market digital and Web-based products

will provide expanded business information integrated mro

customer workflows In political year the Broadcasting

stations expect growth in political advertising as base adver

tising continues to be impacted by the current economic

conditions particularly in the automotive and retail sectors

The Broadcasting stations will continue to develop and grow

new digital businesses The Broadcasting Group has recently

agreed on the terms of its affiliation renewal with ABC

which will have an adverse but immaterial impact on the

segments future revenue and profitability

In 2010 we plan to continue our focus on the

following strategies

Leveraging existing capabilities to create new services

Continuing to make selective acquisitions that complement

our existing business capabilities

Expanding and refining the use of technology in all

segments to improve performance market penetration

and productivity

Continuing to contain costs

There can be no assurance that we will achieve success in

implementing any one or more of these strategies The fol

lowing factors could unfavorably impact operating results

in 2010

Lower educational funding as result of budget concerns

Prolonged difficulties in the credit markets

change in the regulatory environment affecting our

businesses

change in educational spending

change in the ratings process

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are

designed to ensure that information required to be dis

closed in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission SEC is recorded processed summariied

and reported within the time periods specified ii the SECs

rules and forms and that such information is accumulated

and communicated to management including our Chief

Executive Officer CEO and Chief Financial Officer

CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosure

As of December 31 2009 an evaluation was performed

under the supervision and with the participation of manage

ment including the CEo and CFO of the effectiveness

of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e under the U.S

Securities Exchange Act of Il 934 Based on that evaluation

management including the CEO and CFO concluded that

our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of

December 31 2009
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MANAGEMENTS ANNUAL REPORT

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Section 404 and as defined in Rules 13a-15f under

the U.S Securities Exchange Act of 1934 management is

required to provide the following report on our internal

control over financial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintain

ing adequate internal control over financial reporting

Management has evaluated the system
of internal con

trol using the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission COSO framework

Management has selected the COSO framework for its

evaluation as it is control framework recognized by

the SEC and the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board that is free from bias permits reasonably consistent

qualitative and quantitative measurement of our internal

controls is sufficiently complete so that relevant controls

are not omitted and is relevant to an evaluation of internal

controls over financial reporting

Based on managements evaluation under this framework

management has concluded that our internal controls

over financial reporting were effective as of December 31

2009 There are no material weaknesses in our internal

control over financial reporting that have been identified

by management

Our independent registered public accounting firm

Ernst Young LLP has audited our consolidated finan

cial statements for the year ended December 31 2009

and has issued their reports on the financial statements and

the effectiveness of internal controls over financial report

ing These reports are located on pages
83 and 84 of the

2009 Annual Report to Shareholders

OTHER MATTERS

There have been no changes in our internal control over

financial reporting during the most recent quarter
that have

materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially

affect our internal control over financial reporting

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and

results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial

statements which have been prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

The preparation of these financial statements requires us

to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and

related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates and assump

tions including those related to revenue recognition allowance

for doubtful accounts and sales returns prepublication costs

valuation of inventories valuation of long-lived assets good

will and other intangible assets pension plans income taxes

incentive compensation and stock-based compensation We

base our estimates on historical experience current develop

ments and on various other assumptions that we believe to be

reasonable under these circumstances the results of which

form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of

assets and liabilities that cannot readily be determined from

other sources There can be no assurance that actual results

will not differ from those estimates

Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical

if it required assumptions to be made that were uncertain at

the time the estimate was made and changes in the estimate or

different estimates could have material effect on our results

of operations

Management has discussed the development and selection of

our critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee

of our Board of Directors The Audit Committee has reviewed

our disclosure relating to them in this Managements Discussion

and Analysis

We believe the following critical accounting policies require

us to make significant judgments and estimates in the prepara

tion of our consolidated financial statements

REVENUE RECOGNITION Revenue is recognized as it

is earned when goods are shipped to customers or services

are rendered We consider amounts to be earned once evi

dence of an arrangement has been obtained services are

performed fees are fixed or determinable and collectability

is reasonably assured Revenue relating to products that pro

vide for more than one deliverable is recognized based upon

the relative fair value to the customer of each deliverable as

each deliverable is provided Revenue relating to agreements

that provide for more than one service is recognized based

upon the relative fair value to the customer of each service

component as each component is earned If the fair value to

the customer for each service is not objectively determinable

revenue is recorded as unearned and recognized ratably over

the service period Fair value is determined for each service

component through bifurcation analysis that relies upon

the pricing of similar cash arrangements that are not part

of the multi-element arrangement Advertising revenue is rec

ognized when the page is run or the spot is aired Subscription

income is recognized over the related subscription period

During the first quarter of 2009 J.D Power and Associates

began transitioning number of syndicated studies to an

online service platform This resulted in $11.4 million of
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES continued

revenue and $7.1 million of operating profit that would have

been recognized in 2009 to be deferred and will be recog

nized over the service period

Product revenue consists of educational and information

products primarily books magazine circulations and syn

dicated study products in the McGraw-Hill Education and

the Information Media segments Service revenue consists

of the Financial Services segment the service assessment

contracts of the McGraw-Hill Education segment and infor

mation-related services and advertising of the Information

Media segment

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007
no significant changes have been made to the underlying

assumptions related to estimates of revenue or the method

ologies applied Based on our current outlook these assump
tions are not expected to significantly change in 2010

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS AND SALES

RETURNS The allowance for doubtful accounts reserve

methodology is based on historical analysis review of

outstanding balances and current conditions In determin

ing these reserves we consider amongst other factors the

financial condition and risk profile of our customers areas

of specific or concentrated risk as well as applicable indus

try trends or market indicators The impact on operating

profit for one percentage point change in the allowance

for doubtful accounts is approximately $12.5 million

significant estimate in the McGraw-Hill Education segment

and particularly within the HPI Group is the allowance for

sales returns which is based on the historical rate of return

and current market conditions Should the estimate of the

allowance for sales returns in the HPI Group vary by one

percentage point the impact on operating profit would be

approximately $11.5 million

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 we made no material changes in our assumptions

regarding the determination of the allowance for doubtful

accounts and sales returns Based on our current outlook

these assumptions are not expected to significantly change

in 2010

INVENTORIES Inventories are stated at the lower of cost

first-in first-out or market significant estimate in the

McGraw-Hill Education segment is the reserve for inventory

obsolescence In determining this reserve we consider man

agements current assessment of the marketplace industry

trends and projected product demand as compared to the

number of units currently on hand The impact on operating

profit for one percentage point change in the estimate for

inventory obsolescence is approximately $4.3 million

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

we made no material changes in our assumptions regarding the

determination of the valuation of inventories and reserve for

inventory obsolescence Based on our current outlook these

assumptions are not expected to significantly change in 2010

PREPUBLICATION COSTS Prepublication costs princi

pally external preparation costs are amortized from the

year of publication over their estimated useful lives one to

six years using either an accelerated or straight-line method

The majority of the programs are amortized using an acceler

ated methodology We periodically evaluate the amortization

methods rates remaining lives and recoverability of such

costs which are sometimes dependent upon program accep

tance by state adoption authorities In evaluating recoverabi

ity we consider our current assessment of the marketplace

industry trends and the projected success of programs

For the year ended December 31 2009 prepublication

amortization expense was $270.5 million representing 11.3%

of consolidated operating-related expenses and 12.8% of the

McGraw-Hill Education segments total expenses The impact

on consolidated amortization expense for one percentage

point change in the annual prepublication amortization is

approximately $2.7 million

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

no significant changes have been made to the anlortization

rates applied to prepublication costs the underlying assump

tions related to estimates of amortization or the methodol

ogy applied Based on our current outlook these assumptions

are not expected to significantly change in 2010

ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED

ASSETS INCLuDING OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS We

evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount

of an asset may not he recoverable Upon such an occurrence

recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured

by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to current

forecasts of undiscounted future net cash flows expected

to be generated by the asset lf the carrying amount of the

asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows an impairment

charge is recognized equal to the amount by which the car

rying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset

For long-lived assets held for sale assets are written down

to fair value less cost to sell Fair value is determined based

on market evidence discounted cash flows appraised values

or managements estimates depending upon the nature of

the assets There were no material impairments of long-

lived assets for the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007

GOODWILL AND INDEFINITE-LIVED INTANGiBLE

ASSETS Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price

and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangible

and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the carrying value of

goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets was

approximately $1.9 billion in each year Goodwill and other

intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized

but instead are tested for impairment annually or more
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frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the asset might be impaired

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill using two-step

impairment test approach at the reporting unit level In

the first step the estimated fair value of the reporting unit

is compared to its carrying value including goodwill Fair

value of the reporting units are estimated using discounted

free cash flow DCFanalyses and are corroborated using

Market Approaches principally the guideline public company

method The DCF analyses are based on the current operat

ing budgets and estimated long-term growth projections for

each reporting unit Free cash flow is discounted based on

market comparable weighted average cost of capital rate

for each reporting unit adjusted for market and other risks

where appropriate In addition we analyze any difference

between the sum of the fair values of the reporting units and

our total market capitalization for reasonableness taking

into account certain factors including control premiums

If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carry

ing value second step is performed which compares the

implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill to the car

rying value of the goodwill The fair value of the goodwill

is determined based on the difference between the fair value

of the reporting unit and the net fair value of the identifiable

assets and liabilities of the reporting unit If the implied fair

value of the goodwill is less than the carrying value the

difference is recognized as an impairment charge Significant

judgments inherent in this analysis include estimating the

amount of and timing of future cash flows and the selection

of appropriate discount rates and long-term growth rate

assumptions Changes in these estimates and assumptions

could materially affect the determination of fair value for

each reporting unit and for some of the reporting units could

result in an impairment charge which could be material to

our financial position and results of operations

We evaluate the recoverability of indefinite lived intangible

assets by comparing the estimated fair value of the intan

gible asset to its carrying value The fair value of the J.D Power

and Associates trade name is estimated using the Income

Approach The fair values of our FCC licenses are estimated

using the Greenfield Approach If the indefinite life intan

gible asset carrying value exceeds its fair value an impair

ment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess

Significant judgments inherent in these analyses include esti

mating the amount and timing of future cash flows and the

selection of appropriate discount rates royalty rates broad

cast market shares and long-term growth rate assumptions

Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially

affect the determination of fair value for each indefinite life

intangible asset and could result in an impairment charge

which could be material to our financial position and results

of operations

We performed our impairment assessment of goodwill

and indefinite lived intangible assets and concluded that no

impairment existed for the years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007

RETIREMENT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH-

CARE AND OTHER BENEFITS Our employee pension and

other postretirement benefit costs and obligations are depen

dent on assumptions concerning the outcome of future events

and circumstances including compensation increases

long-term return on pension plan assets healthcare cost

trends discount rates and other factors In determining

such assumptions we consult with outside actuaries and

other advisors where deemed appropriate In accordance

with relevant accounting standards if actual results differ

from our assumptions such differences are deferred and

amortized over the estimated future working life of the

plan participants While we believe that the assumptions

used in these calculations are reasonable differences in

actual experience or changes in assumptions could affect

the expense and liabilities related to our pension and other

postretirement benefits

The following is discussion of some significant assump

tions that we make in determining costs and obligations for

pension and other postretirement benefits

Discount rate assumptions are based on current yields on

high-grade corporate long-term bonds

Salary growth assumptions are based on our long-term

actual experience and future outlook

Healthcare cost trend assumptions are based on historical

market data the near-term outlook and an assessment of

likely long-term trends

Long-term return on pension plan assets is based on cal

culated market-related value of assets which recognizes

changes in market value over five years

Our discount rate and return on asset assumptions used to

determine the net periodic pension cost on our U.S retirement

plans are as follows

2010 2009 2008

5.95% 6.10% 6.25%

8.00% 8.00% 8.00%

Our discount rate and initial healthcare cost trend rate

used to determine the net periodic postretirement benefit cost

on our U.S retirement plans are as follows

January 2010 2009 2008

Discount rate 5.30% 5.95% 6.00%

Healthcare cost trend rare 8.00% 8.00% 8.50%

January

Discount rate

Return on asset assumption
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES continued

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION Stock-based compensa

tion expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair

value of the award and is recognized over the requisite service

period which typically is the vesting period Stock-based com

pensation is classified as both operating expense and selling

and general expense in the consolidated statement of income

Stock-based compensation expense/ benefit for the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $22.3 mil

lion $1.9 million and $124.7 million respectively

During 2008 we reduced the projected payout percent

age of our outstanding restricted performance stock awards

During 2009 we further reduced the projected payout

percentage of our outstanding restricted performance

stock awards although to much lesser extent than 2008

Accordingly we recorded an adjustment to reflect the current

projected payout percentages for the awards which resulted

in stock-based compensation having beneficial impact on

our 2008 expenses

Also included in stock-based compensation expense

is restricted performance stock expense of $1.9 million

$1.2 million after-tax or $0.00 per diluted share in 2009

restricted performance stock benefit of $29.0 million

$18.1 million after-tax or $0.06 per diluted share in 2008

and restricted performance stock expense of $94.2 million

$58.8 million after-tax or $0.17 per diluted share in 2007

We use lattice-based option-pricing model to estimate

the fair value of options granted The following assumptions

were used in valuing the options granted during the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Risk-free average

interest rate 0.44.1% 1.44.4%

Dividend yield 3.33.7% 2.03.4%

Volatility 3375% 2159%

Expected life years 5.66.0 6.77.0

Weighted-average grant-date

fair value $5.78 $9.77 $15.80

Because lattice-based option-pricing models incorporate

ranges of assumptions those ranges are disclosed These

assumptions are based on multiple factors including histori

cal exercise patterns post-vesting termination rates expected

future exercise patterns and the expected volatility of our

stock price The risk-free interest rate is the imputed forward

rate based on the U.S Treasury yield at the date of grant

We use the historical volatility of our stock price over the

expected term of the options to estimate the expected volatil

ity The expected term of options granted is derived from the

output of the lattice model and represents the period of time

that options granted are expected to be outstanding

INCOME TAXES Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to

differences between financial statement carrying amounts

of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax

bases Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using

enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income

in the years in which those temporary differences are

expected to be recovered or settled We recognize liabilities

for uncertain tax positions taken or expected to he taken in

income tax returns Accrued interest and penalties related to

unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and operating

expense respectively

Judgment is required in determining our provision for

income taxes deferred tax assets and liabilities and unrec

ognized tax benefits In determining the need for valuation

allowance the historical and projected financial performance

of the operation that is recording net deferred tax asset is

considered along with any other pertinent information

Our annual effective tax rate was 36.4% in 2009 36.9%

in 2008 and 37.2% in 2007 The effective tax rate includes the

impact of new accounting rule adopted on January 2009

for noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries see Note to our

consolidated financial statements which resulted in change

to the calculated effective tax rates for 2008 and 2007

We file income tax returns in the U.S federal iurisdiction

various states and foreign jurisdictions and we are roudnely

under audit by many different tax authorities We believe that

our accrual for tax liabilities is adequate for all open audit

years based on our assessment of many factors including past

experience and interpretations of tax law This assessment

2007
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve series

of complex judgments about future events It is possible that

3.66.3%
examinations will be settled prior to Deceniber 31 2010 If

1.21.7%
any of these tax audit settlements do occur within that period

1422%

07
we would make any necessary adjustments to the accrual

for unrecognized tax benefits Until formal resolutions are

reached between us and the tax authorities the determination

of possible audit settlement range with respect to the impact

on unrecognized tax benefits is not practicable On the basis of

present information it is our opinion that any assessments

resulting from the current audits will not have material effect

on our consolidated financial statements

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

we made no material changes in our assumptions regarding

the determination of the provision for income taxes However

certain events could occur that would materially affect our

estimates and assumptions regarding deferred taxes Changes

in current tax laws and applicable enacted tax rates could

affect the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities

thereby impacting our income tax provision

2009 2008
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

CONSOLIDATED REVIEW

REVENUE AND OPERATING PROFIT__- _______

in millions

Operating profit is income from operations before corporate expense

Operating profit includes pre-tax gain on the sale of Business Week

pre-tax loss on the sale of Vista Research Inc and pre-rax

restructuring charge

Operating profit includes pre-tax restructuring charge and the impact

of reductions in incentive compensation

Operating profit includes pre-tax gain on the sale of our mutual fund

business and pre-tax restructuring charge

The Segment Review that follows is incorporated herein

by reference

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

In 2009 revenue declined for all three operating segments

and operating profit declined at our McGraw-Hill Education

and Financial Services segments

McGraw-Hill Education revenue and operating profit

declined 9.5% and 14.1% respectively primarily due

to lower state adoption sales at our School Education

Group Reduced potential in the state new adoption

market and reduced spending in the open territory

occurred as schools tightened their budgets in response

to the continuing decline of state and local tax revenues

in most regions The declines were partially offset by

growth at Higher Education

Financial Services revenue and operating profit declined

1.7% and 5.3% respectively Revenue declines were

largely due to continued weakness in structured finance

and reductions in investment research products The

declines were partially offset by growth in corporate

ratings credit-ratings related information products such

as RatingsXpress and RatingsDirect other credit risk

solutions products and growth in Capital IQ our data

and information offerings and index services Operating

profit includes the impact of pre-tax loss on the

divestiture of Vista Research Inc in the second quarter

of 2009

Information Media revenue declined 10.2% and

operating profit improved 0.7% Revenue declines

were driven by advertising weakness across all of our

media properties and reduced sales in our automotive

studies Partially offsetting the decline was an increase

in our global energy and other commodities products

and services Operating profit includes the impact of

pre-tax gain on the divestiture of BusinessWeek in the

fourth quarter
of 2009

Foreign exchange rates had an unfavorable impact

of $70.4 million on revenue and $9.5 million on

operating profit

During 2009 we initiated restructuring plan that

included realignment of select business operations within

the McGraw-Hill Education segment to further strengthen

their position in the market by creating market focused

organization that enhances its ability to address the chang

ing needs of their customers Additionally we continued to

implement restructuring plans related to limited number

of our business operations to contain costs and mitigate

the impact of the current and expected future economic

conditions We recorded pre-tax restructuring charge of

$24.3 million consisting primarily of employee severance

costs related to workforce reduction of approximately

550 positions as follows

McGraw-Hill Education $14.0 million and approxi

mately 340 positions

Financial Services $4.5 million and approximately

85 positions

Information Media $5.8 million and approximately

125 positions

In addition we revised our estimate for previously

recorded restructuring charges and reversed approximately

$9.1 million The net pre-tax charge recorded was $15.2 mil

lion $9.7 million after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share

During 2008 we restructured limited number of busi

ness operations to contain costs and mitigate the impact

of the current and expected future economic conditions

We incurred pre-tax restructuring charges of $73.4 mil

lion $45.9 million after-tax or $0.14 per diluted share

which consisted primarily of severance costs related to

workforce reduction of approximately 1045 positions

as follows

McGraw-Hill Education $25.3 million and approxi

mately 455 positions

Financial Services $25.9 million and approximately

340 positions

Information Media $19.2 million and approximately

210 positions

Corporate $3.0 million and approximately 40 positions

On December 2009 we sold Business Week which was

part of our Information Media segment We recognized

pre-tax gain of $10.5 million $6.7 million after-tax or

$0.02 per diluted share recorded as other loss/income

net This business was selected for divestiture as it no

longer fit within our strategic plans The impact of this

divestiture on comparability of results is immaterial

In May 2009 we sold our Vista Research Inc business

which was part of the Financial Services segment The sale

Revenue

decrease/increase

Operating profit

decrease/increase

operating margin

$5951.8

6.3%
$1382.8

6.8%
23%

2008U

$6355.1

6.2%
$1483.8

19.2%
23%

2007c

$6772.3

8.3%

$1836.8

15.5%

27%
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS CONSOLIDATED REVIEW continued

resulted in pre-tax loss of $13.8 million $8.8 million

after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share recorded as other

loss/income net This business was selected for dives

titure as it no longer fit within our strategic plans This

divestiture enables our Financial Services segment to focus

on its core business of providing independent research

ratings data indices and portfolio services The impact of

this divestiture on comparability of results is immaterial

During 2008 no significant acquisitions or divestitures

were made

Product revenue and expenses consist of educational and

information products primarily books magazine circula

tions and syndicated study programs in the McGraw-Hill

Education and the Information Media segments

Product revenue decreased 8.5% or $220.3 million

primarily driven by lower state adoption sales and

reduced spending in the open territory Revenue was

also impacted unfavorably by foreign exchange

Product operating expenses decreased 4.1% or

$49.0 million primarily due to decreased sales

Product selling and general expenses decreased 10.1%

or $101.0 million primarily due to ongoing cost

saving initiatives

Product margin decreased 150 basis points to 14.1%

primarily due to the decline in revenues at our School

Education Group and the unfavorable impact of

foreign exchange

Revenue declines were partially offset by reduced

expenses due to lower sales and cost saving initiatives

Service revenue and expenses consist of the Financial Services

segment service assessment contracts of the McGraw-Hill

Education segment and information-related services and

advertising of the Information Media segment

Service revenue decreased 4.8% or $183.0 million

The decrease was primarily due to continued weak

ness in structured finance reductions in investment

research products and advertising weakness across

our media properties as well as the impact of foreign

exchange rates

The decline was partially offset by growth in cor

porate industrial ratings sovereign and interna

tional public finance ratings credit-ratings related

information products such as RatingsXpress and

RatingsDirect credit risk solutions products growth

in Capital IQ our data and information offerings

index services and growth in our global energy and

other commodities services

Service operating expenses decreased 6.2% or $83.4 mil

lion primarily due to cost reduction initiatives

Service selling and general expenses decreased 3.2% or

$41.3 million primarily due to the benefit of cost reduc

tion initiatives

Service margin decreased 10 basis points to 30.4% primarily

due to cost saving initiatives at all three segments

zoo8 COMPARED WITH Z007
In 2008 revenue and operating profit declined at our

McGraw-Hill Education and Financial Services segments

and increased at our Information Media segment

McGraw-Hill Education revenue and operating profit

declined 2.5% and 20.3% respectively principally due

to softness in the School Education Group
Financial Services revenue and operating profit declined

12.9% and 21.9% respectively largely due to weakness

in Credit Market Services

Information Media revenue and operating profit

increased 4.1% and 45.0% respectively driven by the

Business-to-Business Group
Reductions to reflect change in the projected payout

of restricted performance stock awards and reductions

in other incentive compensation projections reduced

expenses and helped mitigate the operating profit

decline as follows

McGraw-Hill Education incentive compensation

expense declined $29.3 million compared to prior year

Financial Services incentive compensation expense

declined $166.0 million compared to prior year

Information Media incentive compensation expense

declined $22.6 million compared to prior year

Corporate incentive compensation expense declined

$55.8 million compared to prior year

In 2008 foreign exchange rates positively affected

both revenue and operating profit by $10.8 million and

$38.2 million respectively

During 2008 we restructured limited number of busi

ness operations to contain costs and mitigate the impact

of the current and expected future economic conditions

We incurred pre-tax restructuring charges of $73.4 mil

lion $45.9 million after-tax or $0.14 per diluted share

which consisted primarily of severance costs related to

workforce reduction of approximately 1045 positions

as follows

McGraw-Hill Education $25.3 million and approxi

mately 455 positions

Financial Services $25.9 million and approximately

340 positions

Information Media $19.2 million and approximately

210 positions

Corporate $3.0 million and approximately 40 positions

In 2007 we restructured limited number of business

operations to enhance our long-term growth prospects

We incurred 2007 restructuring charge of $43.7 mil

lion pre-tax $27.3 million after-tax or $0.08 per diluted

share which consisted mostly of severance costs related
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to workforce reduction of approximately 600 positions

as follows

McGraw-Hill Education $16.3 million and approxi

mately 300 positions

Financial Services $18.8 million and approximately

170 positions

Information Media $6.7 million and approximately

110 positions

Corporate $1.9 million and approximately 20 positions

During 2008 no significant acquisitions or divestitures

were made

In March 2007 we sold our mutual fund data business

which was part of the Financial Services segment The

sale resulted in $17.3 million pre-tax gain $10.3 million

after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share recorded as other

loss/income net The divestiture of the mutual fund data

business was consistent with our Financial Services segments

strategy of directing resources to those businesses which

have the best opportunities to achieve both significant finan

cial growth and market leadership The divestiture enables

our Financial Services segment to focus on its core business

of providing independent research ratings data indices

and portfolio services The impact of this divestiture on

comparability of results is immaterial

Product revenue and expenses consist of educational and

information products primarily hooks magazine circula

tions and syndicated study programs in the McGraw-Hill

Education and the Information Media segments

Product revenue decreased slightly as compared to the

prior year as declines in residual sales and open territory

were partially offset by increases in state adoption sales

at the McGraw-Hill Education segment and increases at

the Information Media segment

Product operating-related expenses
increased 4.6% or

$51.8 million primarily due to the growth in expenses

at McGraw-Hill Education related to major product

launches in strong 2008 state adoption market par

tially offset by lower cost of sales as result of decreased

OPERATING PROFIT AND MARGIN

revenues Amortization of prepublication costs

increased $30.3 million or 12.6% driven by spending

associated with the state adoption cycles

Product related selling and general expenses decreased

1.5% primarily as result of cost reduction actions and

reduced 2008 incentive compensation costs

Product margin decreased 212 basis points to 15.6%

as compared to prior year primarily due to the

growth in expenses at McGraw-Hill Education related

to major product launches in strong 2008 state

adoption market

Service revenue and expenses consist of the Financial Services

segment service assessment contracts of the McGraw-Hill

Education segment and information-related services and

advertising of the Information Media segment

Service revenue decreased 9.5% primarily due to

Financial Services

Financial Services revenue decreased primarily due to

Credit Market Services which was adversely impacted

by turbulence in the global financial markets resulting

from challenged credit markets financial difficulties

experienced by several financial institutions and

shrinking investor confidence in the capital markets

McGraw-Hill Education service revenue declined due

to softness in the assessments market

Growth in the Information Media segment par

tially offset this revenue decline

Service operating-related expenses
decreased 4.4%

primarily due to the lower direct costs related to rev

enues and reduced 2008 incentive compensation costs

Service related selling and general expenses
decreased

8.9% primarily due to reduced 2008 incentive compen
sation costs

The service margin decreased 212 basis points to 30.5%

as compared to prior year primarily due to the decline in

Credit Market Services partially offset by reduced 2008

incentive compensation expense

The following table sets forth information about our operating profit and operating margin by segment

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

2009

in millions Operating Proflt Total Margin___________

McGraw-Hill Education 276.0 20% 12%

Financial Services 1014.1 73% 39%

Information Media 92.7 7% 10%

Total $1382.8 100% 23%

2008

Operating Profith Total Margin

321.4 22% 12%

1070.4 72% 40%

92.0 6% 9%

$1483.8 100% 23%

Operating profit includes pre-tax gain on the sale of Business Week pre-tax loss on the sale of Vista Research Inc and pre-tax restructuring charge

Operating profit includes pre-tax restructuring charge and the impact of reductions in incentive compensation



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS CONSOLIDATED REVIEW continued

As demonstrated by the preceding table operating margin

percentages vary by operating segment and the percentage

contribution to operating profit by each operating segment

varies from year to year

In 2009 operating profit declined at our McGraw-Hill

Education and Financial Services segments and improved

at our Information Media segment Operating mar

gin at McGraw-Hill Education was consistent with prior

year at Financial Services declined and at Information

Media improved

McGraw-Hill Education operating profit declined

primarily due to reduced potential in the state new

adoption market and reduced spending in the open

territory markets at School Education Group as schools

tightened their budgets in response to the continuing

decline of state and local tax revenues Cost containment

activities contributed to an operating margin consistent

with prior year

Pre-tax restructuring charges of $11.6 million and

$25.3 million affected the MHE segments operating

profit for 2009 and 2008 respectively

Financial Services operating profit and margin declined

primarily due to continued weakness in structured

finance reductions in our investment research products

and the impact of foreign exchange rates

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2007

Growth in corporate industrial ratings sovereign and

international public finance ratings credit ratings-

related information products such as RatingsXpress and

RatingsDirect and other credit risk related products as

well as growth in Capital IQ our data and information

offerings and index services helped mitigate the impact

of the declines on operating profit and margin

net pre-tax restructuring benefit of $0.4 million

in 2009 and pre-tax restructuring charge of $25.9 mil

lion in 2008 impacted operating profit and margin

pre-tax loss of $13.8 million on the sale of Vista

Research Inc also impacted operating profit

and margin

Information Media operating profit and margin

increase was driven by the following

pre-tax gain of $10.5 million on the sale of

Business Week in 2009

Pre-tax restructuring charges of $4.0 million and

$19.2 million impacted the Information Media seg

ments operating profit for 2009 and 2008 respectively

Growth in the Business-to-Business Group oil natural

gas and power news and pricing products as result of

the increased demand for market information due to

volatility in the price of crude oil and other commodi

ties offset by revenue declines in broadcasting

Operating Irofit Tiit.i Margi ii

403.1 22% S%

1370.2 75% 4S%

63.5 6%

$1836.8 100% 2%

As demonstrated by the preceding table operating margin

percentages vary by operating segment and the percentage

contribution to operating profit by each operating segment

varies from year to year

In 2008 operating profit and operating margin percent

ages declined at our McGraw-Hill Education and Financial

Services segments and improved at our Information

Media segment

McGraw-Hill Education operating profit and margin

decreased primarily due to declines in residual sales in the

adoption states as well as lower new and residual sales

in the open territory markets at School Education Group

These declines were partially offset by strong performance

in the state new adoption market

Increased amortization of prepublication costs of

$30.3 million as result of the investments made in

prior years in anticipation of the strong 2008 state

adoption market

Reductions to reflect change in the proiected payout

of the restricted performance stock awards and reduc

tions in other incentive compensation helped mitigate

the operating profit decline by $29.3 million

Pre-tax restructuring charges of $25.3 million and

$16.3 million affected the MHE segments operating

profit for 2008 and 2007 respectively

Financial Services operating profit and margin decreased

primarily due to significant declines in structured finance

ratings as well as decreases in corporate ratings

Demand for credit ratings-related information products

such as RatingsXpress and RatingsDirect helped

mitigate the impact of declines in structured finance

and corporate ratings on operating profit and margin

in millions

2008

Operating ProfitO O/ Total Margin

McGraw-Hill Education 321.4 22% 12%

Financial Services 1070.4 72% 40%

InforrnationMedia 92.0 6% 9%

Total $1483.8 100% 23%

Operating profit
includes pre-tax restructuring charge and the impact ot reductions in incentive compensation

Operating profit includes pre-tax gain on the sale 0f our mutual fund business and pre-tax restructurnig charge
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Reductions to reflect change in the projected payout

of the restricted performance stock awards and reduc

tions in other incentive compensation helped mitigate

the operating profit decline by $166.0 million

Pre-tax restructuring charges of $25.9 and $18.8 mil

lion impacted the Financial Services segments operat

ing profit for 2008 and 2007 respectively

Information Media operating profit and margin

increased primarily due to growth in the Business-to-

Business Group oil natural
gas

and power news and

pricing products as result of the increased demand for

market information due to volatility in the price of crude

oil and other commodities

Reductions to reflect change in the projected payout

of the restricted performance stock awards and reduc

tions in other incentive compensation had positive

impact on operating profit of $22.6 million

Pre-tax restructuring charges of $19.2 million and

$6.7 million impacted the Information Media seg

ments operating profit for 2008 and 2007 respectively

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Operating-related expenses $2386.0 $251 8.5 $2527.6

decrease/growth 5.3% 0.4% 5.9%

Selling and general expenses 2141.2 2283.6 2424.1

decrease/growth 6.2% S.8% 6.4%

Other operating costs

and expenses 165.5 178.3 161.0

decrease/growth 7.2% 10.8%

Total expense $4692.7 $4980.4 $5112.7

decrease/growth 5.8% 2.6% 5.9%

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

In 2009 total expenses decreased 5.8% while total

revenue decreased 6.3%

During 2009 and 2008 we restructured limited

number of business operations to enhance our long-

term growth prospects Included in selling and general

expense for 2009 are pre-tax restructuring charges of

$24.3 million which consisted primarily of severance

costs related to workforce reduction of approximately

550 positions In addition during 2009 we revised our

estimate for previously recorded restructuring charges

and reversed approximately $9.1 million The net pre

tax charge recorded was $15.2 million $9.7 million

after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share Included in selling

and general expenses for 2008 are pre-tax restructur

ing charges of $73.4 million $45.9 million after-tax

or $0.14 per diluted share which consisted primarily

of severance costs related to workforce reduction of

approximately 1045 positions

During 2008 we reduced the projected payout percent

age of our outstanding restricted performance stock

awards During 2009 we further reduced the projected

payout percentage of our outstanding restricted perfor

mance stock awards although to much lesser extent

than 2008 Accordingly we recorded an adjustment

to reflect the current projected payout percentages for

the awards which resulted in stock-based compensation

having beneficial impact on our 2008 expenses

Total product-related expenses decreased 6.9% while

product revenue decreased 8.5%

Product operating-related expenses which includes amor

tization of prepublication costs decreased $49.0 million

or 4.1% primarily due to cost containment activities

partly offset by increased incentive compensation and

increased amortization of prepublication costs

For 2009 combined printing paper and distribution

prices for manufacturing which represented 17.2%

of total operating-related expenses decreased 0.4%

versus 2008

Printing prices declined 0.6% versus 2008 primarily

due to successful negotiations with major U.S print

ing and multi-media packaging suppliers and more

cost effective product assignments to low-cost

providers globally

Paper prices were limited to an increase of 0.2% due

to successful negotiations and long-term agreements

currently in place

Overall distribution prices decreased 0.2% as sav

ings from changes in distribution delivery methods

and negotiations with ground carriers offset U.S

Postal Service international postage and airfreight

rate increases

Product-related selling and general expenses decreased

10.1% primarily due to cost containment initiatives at

McGraw-Hill Education

The product margin deteriorated 150 basis points mainly

due to decreased revenue and increased amortization of

prepublication costs at McGraw-Hill Education

Total service-related expenses decreased 4.8% and service

revenue decreased 4.8%

Service operating-related expenses decreased 6.2%

primarily due to the lower direct costs related to rev

enues partly offset by increased incentive compensation

Service selling and general expenses decreased 3.2%

primarily due to ongoing cost containment activities

The service margin deteriorated 10 basis points

primarily due to revenue declines at Financial Services

Other operating costs and expenses which include depre

ciation and amortization of intangibles decreased 7.2%

primarily due to lower purchases of equipment in 2009

and assets that became fully depreciated or amortized

resulting in lower expense in 2009 compared to 2008
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS CONSOLIDATED REVIEW continued

EXPENSE OUTLOOK

Product-related expense
is expected to increase in 2010 as

we take advantage of larger opportunities in the state new

adoption market versus 2009 Selling and marketing costs

are expected to increase in 2010 as typically occurs in large

state new adoption year Additionally we are investing in

technology and personnel to support our digital initiatives

In 2010 as result of the larger state adoption opportuni

ties we expect prepublication investments in the range of

$225 million to $235 million versus $177 million in 2009

In addition amortization of prepublication costs is projected

to decrease $5 million to $10 million which reflects the

lower level of investment we made in 2009

Combined printing paper and distribution prices
for

product-related manufacturing which typically represent

approximately 20% of total operating-related expenses

are expected to decrease 0.8% in 2010 Overall we expect

our printing and multimedia prices to decrease 0.3% due

to successful negotiations with major U.S manufacturing

suppliers decline in the 2009 consumer price index and

continued emphasis on effective product assignments to

low-cost suppliers globally Our paper prices are projected to

decrease 2.7% mainly due to long-term agreements and sta

bilized pricing agreements that limit price increases for the

majority of our paper purchases Overall distribution prices

are anticipated to rise 1.0% as result of flat USPS rates and

average
increases of 4.0% for international postage rates

airfreight and trucking

In 2010 we plan to continue efforts to further enhance

our operating efficiencies and leverage our buying power

Merit increases for 2010 are projected to he approxi

mately 2.5% We expect headcount to grow at McGraw-Hill

Education to support our digital initiatives and at Financial

Services driven by continued investment in our fast growing

businesses and regulatory and compliance efforts

Headcount at the Information Media segment is expected

to remain consistent with 2009

In 2010 we are expecting incentive compensation to grow

in normal patterns
with projected performance However

stock-based compensation is expected to increase approxi

mately $28 million to $50 million due to the three year

earning and vesting period off depressed base

In 2010 we are projecting capital expenditures in the

range of $90 million to $100 million largely due to increased

technology spending We expect depreciation to grow to

$120 million in 2010 versus $113 million in 2009 We expect

intangible amortization to decline and be approximately

$40 million in 2010

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

In 2008 total expenses decreased 2.6% while total

revenue decreased 6.2%

During 2008 and 2007 we restructured limited num

ber of business operations to enhance our long-term

growth prospects Included in selling and general

expenses for 2008 are pre-tax restructuring charges

of $73.4 million $45.9 million after-tax or $0.14 per

diluted share which consisted primarily of severance

costs related to workforce reduction of approximately

1045 positions Included in selling and general expenses

for 2007 are pre-tax restructuring charges of $43.7 mil

lion $27.3 million after-tax or $0.08 per diluted share

which consisted primarily of severance costs related to

workforce reduction of approximately 600 posItions

In 2008 we reduced the projected payout percentage of

our outstanding restricted performance stock awards

Accordingly we recorded an adjustment to reflect the

current projected payout percentages
for the awards

which resulted in stock-based compensation having

beneficial impact on our expenses

Total product-related expenses increased 1.7% while

product revenue decreased 0.8%

Product operating-related expenses which includes

amortization of prepublication costs increased

$51.8 million or 4.6% primarily due to Ihe growth

in expenses at McGraw-Hill Education The growth in

expenses is primarily due to increases in direct expenses

relating to product development partially offset cost

containment efforts

Amortization of prepublication costs increased by

$30.3 million or 12.6% as compared with the same

period in 2007 as result of adoption cycles

For 2008 combined printing paper
and distribution

prices for manufacturing which represented 23.2%

of total operating-related expenses decreased 1%

versus 2007

Printing prices declined 2.5% versus 2007 primar

ily
due to successful negotiations with major

U.S

printing and multi-media packaging suppliers and

more cost effective product assignments to low-cost

providers globally

Paper prices were limited to an increase of 3.7e due

to successful negotiations and long-term agreements

currently in place

Overall distribution prices increased 2.5% due to

U.S Postal Service international postage
and airfreight

rate increases offset by savings resulting from changes

in distribution delivery methods and negotiations with

ground carriers

Product-related selling and general expenses decreased

1.5% primarily due to cost containment initiatives at

McGraw-Hill Education

The product margin deteriorated 212 basis points

mainly due to increased amortization of prepublication

costs at McGraw-Hill Education

Total service-related expenses decreased 6.6% while

service revenue decreased 9.S/
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Service operating-related expenses decreased 4.4% pri

marily due to the lower direct costs related to revenues

and reduced 2008 incentive compensation costs

Service selling and general expenses
decreased

8.9% primarily due to reduced 2008 incentive

compensation costs

The service margin deteriorated 212 basis points

primarily due to revenue declines at Financial Services

Other operating costs and expenses which include depre

ciation and amortization of intangibles increased 10.8%

reflecting amortization on intangibles from recent acquisi

tions and depreciation on our new information technology

data center

OTHER Loss/INcOME NET

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Other loss/income net $3.3 $17.3

In 2009 other loss/income net includes pre-tax loss on

the sale of Vista Research Inc of $13.8 million and pre

tax gain of $10.5 million on the sale of Business Week

In 2007 other loss/income net includes pre-tax gain on

the sale of our mutual fund data business of $17.3 million

INTEREST EXPENSE NET

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Interest expense net $76.9 $75.6 $40.6

In 2009 interest expense net increased slightly compared

with 2008 primarily due to reduced interest income on

foreign investments

In November 2007 we issued $1.2 billion of senior notes

as follows

$400 million of 5.375% senior notes due in 2012

$400 million of 5.900% senior notes due in 2017 and

$400 million of 6.550% senior notes due in 2037

Included in the years ended 2009 2008 and 2007 is

$71.5 million $71.5 million and $11.7 million respectively

of interest and debt discount amortization related to the

senior notes

Average total short-term borrowings consisted of com

mercial paper
in 2009 and 2008 In 2007 average total

short-term borrowings consisted of commercial paper

extendible commercial notes ECNs and promissory

note borrowings

Average short-term borrowings outstanding during the

years ended 2009 2008 and 2007 were $44.4 million

at an average
interest rate of 0.4% $239.2 million at

an average
interest rate of 2.2% and $674.8 million

at an average interest rate of 5.4% respectively

In 2008 interest expense net increased compared with

2007 primarily due to the full year impact of our out

standing senior notes which were issued in November

2007 combined with lower interest income earned on

lower investment balances and lower interest rates

Included in 2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately

$7.6 million $8.1 million and $8.5 million respectively

of non-cash interest expense
related to the accounting

for the sale-leaseback of our headquarters building in

New York City

In 2010 interest expense is projected to remain consistent

with 2009

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

2009 2008 2007

Provision for income taxes as

of income from operations 36.4% 36.9% 37.2%

The effective tax rates include the impact of new account

ing rule adopted on January 2009 for noncontrolling

interests in subsidiaries see Note ito our consolidated

financial statements which resulted in change to the

calculated effective tax rates for 2008 and 2007

The decrease in the effective tax rate for 2009 as compared

to 2008 is primarily attributable to decrease in state and

local income taxes

During 2009 we effectively completed the U.S federal

tax audit for 2008 The years 2007 and 2008 remain open

pending the appeal of certain unresolved issues In 2009

we also completed various state and foreign tax audits

and with few exceptions we are no longer subject to

state and local or non-U.S income tax examinations by

tax authorities for the years before 2002 The favorable

impact to tax expense in 2009 was $8.7 million

During 2008 we completed various federal state and

local and foreign tax audits The favorable impact to tax

expense in 2008 was $15.9 million This favorable impact

to the tax provision was offset by additional requirements

for the repatriation of cash from international operations

During 2007 we completed the U.S federal tax audits for

the years ended December 31 2004 2005 and 2006 and

also completed various state and foreign tax audits The

favorable impact to tax expense was $20.0 million which

was offset by additional tax requirements for the repatria

tion of cash from foreign operations

On January 2007 we implemented new accounting

rules for unrecognized tax benefits The total amount of

federal state and local and foreign unrecognized tax ben

efits as of December 31 2009 and 2008 was $37.8 million

and $27.7 million respectively exclusive of interest and

penalties Included in the balance at December 31 2009

and 2008 are $0.7 million and $2.2 million respectively

of tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is

highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about

the timing of such deductibility Because of the impact of

deferred tax accounting other than interest and penalties
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS CONSOLIDATED REVIEW continued

the disallowance of the shorter deductibility period would

not affect the annual effective tax rate but would accel

erate the payment of cash to the taxing authority to an

earlier period We recognize accrued interest and penalties

related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense

and operating expense respectively In addition to the

unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 2009 and

2008 we had $8.7 million and $13.5 million respectively

of accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain

tax positions

We expect the 2010 effective tax rate to he approximately

36.4% absent the impact of numerous factors including

intervening audit settlements changes in federal state or for

eign
law and changes in the geographical mix of our income

NET INCOME

in millions 2009

In 2009 net income decreased as compared with 2008 as

result of the decreased revenue performance across all

three operating segments

2009 includes $9.7 million after-tax restructuring

charge $8.8 million after-tax loss on the sale of Vista

Research Inc and $6.7 million after-tax gain on the

sale of Business Week

In 2008 net income decreased as compared with 2007

primarily as result of the decreased revenue performance in

the Financial Services and McGraw-Hill Education segments

2008 includes $45.9 million after-tax restructuring charge

2007 includes $27.3 million after-tax restructuring charge

and $10.3 million after-tax gain on the divestiture of our

mutual fund data business

Diluted earnings per

common share

decrease/growth

In 2009 the decrease in diluted earnings per share com

pared to 2008 was due to decreased net income partially

offset by the full year impact of 2008 share repurchases

In 2008 the decrease in diluted earnings per share com

pared to 2007 was due to decreased net income partially

offset by share repurchases of 10.9 million in 2008

2008 includes $0.14 after-tax restructuring charge

2007 includes $0.03 after-tax benefit of the divestiture

of the Financial Services mutual fund data business and

$0.08 after-tax restructuring charge

The McGraw-Hill Education segment is one of the premier

global educational publishers serving the elementary and

high school el-hi college and university professional

international and adult education markets The segment

consists of two operating groups the School Education

Group SEG and the Higher Education Professional and

International HPI Group

2.009 COMPARED WITFI zoo8

In 2009 revenue from the McGraw-Hill Education segment

decreased from prior year

SEGs revenue decline was driven primarily by lower

state adoption sales Reduced potential in the state new

adoption market and reduced spending in the open

territory occurred as schools tightened their budgets in

response to the continuing decline of state and local tax

revenues in most regions K12 basal sales declined

significantly in the adoption states In the testing

market an increase in formative assessment revenue

was driven by the success of SECs Acuity program in

market driven by weakness in the retail environment

and declines in the international markets

Foreign exchange rates had $26.6 million unfavorable

impact on revenue and an immaterial impact on operating

profit in 2009

In 2009 operating profit for the McGraw-Hill Education

segment declined primarily due to the decrease in SEG rev

enue although that decrease was largely offset by reduction

in operating expenses due to cost-saving initiatives

SEGMENT REVIEW

MCGRAW-HILL EDUCATION

in millions 2009a 2108h Q7c
Revenue $2387.8 $2638.9 $27ó5.9

decrease/increase 9.5% 2.5% 72%

Operatingprofit $276.0 321.4 403.1

decrease/increase 14.1% 20.3% 21.4%

operating margin 12% 12% 15%

Operating profit includes pre-tax restructuring charge

Operating profit includes
pre.tax restructuring charge and the impact

of reductions incentive conipen sation

Operating profit includes pre-tax restructuring charge

Net income

decrease/growth

2008

$730.5

8.6% 21.1%

2007

$1013.6

14.9%

DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

2009 2008 2007 expanding its subscription base Custom testing revenue

declined due primarily to the anticipated discontinua

$2.33 $2.51 $2.94 tion of several state contracts Non-custom or shelf

7.2% 14.6% 22.5% revenue also declined reflecting budget concerns among

the school districts for which these products tend to he

discretionary purchases

HPIs revenue was flat to prior year as growth in the higher

education market was offset by declines in the professional
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During 2009 McGraw-Hill Education initiated restruc

turing plan that included realignment of several business

operations within the segment introducing market-

focused organizational approaches that will enhance their

ability to address the changing needs of their customers

The restructuring charge consisted primarily of employee

severance costs related to the reduction of approximately

340 positions In addition during 2009 the McGraw-Hill

Education segment reversed accruals for previously

recorded restructuring charges due to revised estimates

The net pre-tax restructuring charge recorded was

$11.6 million

During 2008 the McGraw-Hill Education segment

incurred pre-tax restructuring charge of $25.3 million

consisting of employee severance costs related to the

reduction of approximately 455 positions

2008 included reductions in incentive compensation

expense as further described in the Consolidated Review

section of this Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OUTLOOK

In 2010 the el-hi market is projected to increase by 6% to

7% over the very weak 2009 market This growth will occur

in the adoption states where favorable adoption cycle

will create good opportunities for new business However

this will be partially offset by continuing declines in open

territory and residual sales The total available state new

adoption market in 2010 is currently estimated at between

$925 million and $975 million depending on state funding

levels compared with approximately $500 million in 2009

The key adoption opportunities in 2010 are K12 reading

and literature in Texas and K12 math in Florida Although

funding remains uncertain given the states budget issues

second-year purchasing of K8 reading and third-year

purchasing of K8 math in California is also anticipated

Open territory sales which declined last year are projected

to decrease again in 2010 although the rate of decline is

expected to slow In 2010 SEG anticipates that the testing

market will again reflect pressures on state budgets limit

ing the opportunities for custom contract work that is not

mandated by federal or state requirements however SEG

expects to see continued growth in revenue for its formative

assessment products

HPI expects 2010 to be another challenging year in the

professional market and year of mixed opportunities in

the international market depending on region and prod

uct focus However enrollments are projected to remain

strong in domestic colleges and universities and growth is

expected for all four of HPIs higher education imprints

Science Engineering and Mathematics SEM Business

and Economics BE Humanities Social Science and

Languages HSSL and Career Education Revenue

for some professional titles will be adversely impacted by

continuing weakness in the retail environment This will

be partially offset by forthcoming titles for the scientific

technical and medical markets which are less vulnerable to

economic downturns than the general retail market Digital

licensing and digital subscriptions should also contribute to

revenue growth

Operating margin for 2010 is expected to remain

unchanged from 2009

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

In 2008 revenue for the McGraw-Hill Education segment

decreased from the prior year

SEGs revenue declined due to lower residual sales in

the adoption states and lower new and residual sales

in the open territory market partially offset by

an increase in state new adoption basal sales

The decline in open territory and residual sales which

are typically ordered in the second half of the year

reflected lower discretionary spending by schools

many of which were operating on tighter budgets

as state and local tax revenues declined while other

costs especially energy costs increased

In testing revenue declined owing to decrease in

custom contract revenues partially offset by increased

sales of non-custom or off the shelf products

notably Acuity formative assessments LAS Links

assessments for English-language learners and

TABE assessments for adult learners

HPIs revenue increased reflecting growth in U.S and

international sales of higher education titles that was

partially offset by declines in sales of professional and

reference products

Higher education revenue increased for

digital products

Sales of professional books especially those intended

for the consumer market declined as retailers reduced

their inventories through lower orders in response to

weak customer demand

International revenue increased led by success in

India and Asia that was partially offset by sales

declines in Latin America and Australia

Foreign exchange rates adversely impacted revenue

by $7.3 million and did not have material impact on

operating profit

In 2008 operating profit for the McGraw-Hill Education

segment declined primarily due to decreased SEG revenues

coupled with increased prepublication amortization

technology investment and marketing expenses

Reductions in 2008 incentive compensation helped miti

gate the operating profit reduction as further described in

the Consolidated Review section of this Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations
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SEGMENT REVIEW continued

In 2008 the McGraw-Hill Education segment
incurred

pre-tax restructuring charges totaling $25.3 million

These charges consisted primarily of employee severance

costs resulting from workforce reduction of approxi

mately 455 positions driven by continued cost contain

ment and cost reduction activities as result of current

economic conditions

In 2007 the McGraw-Hill Education segment incurred

pre-tax restructuring charges totaling $16.3 million These

charges consisted of employee severance costs resulting

from to workforce reduction of approximately 300 posi

tions across the segment The 2007 restructuring activities

related primarily to the reallocation of certain resources

to support continued digital evolution and productivity

initiatives at HPI and SEG

SCHOOL EDUCATION GROUP

in millions
____________

Revenue

decrease/increase

The McGraw-Hill School Education Group SEG
consists of several key brands including SRA/McGraw-Hill

specialized niche basal programs such as Open Court

Reading Wright Group/McGraw-Hill innovative supple

mentary products for the early childhood elementary and

remedial markets Macmillan/McGraw-Hill core basal

instructional programs for the elementary market Glencoe/

McGraw-Hill basal and supplementary products for the

secondary market CTB/McGraw-Hill customized and

standardized testing materials and scoring services online

diagnostics and formative assessment products and

The Grow Network/McGraw-Hill assessment reporting

and customized content

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

SEG revenue declined driven primarily by lower state

adoption sales Reduced potential in the state new adop

tion market and reduced spending in the open territory

occurred as schools tightened their budgets in response to

the continuing decline of state and local tax revenues in

most regions

K12 basal sales declined significantly in the adoption

states In 2008 SEG realized strong sales of KS read

ing in Florida K8 math and science in California

KS math in Texas and various subjects in smaller

states such as Alabama The 2009 state new adoption

market was smaller because Texas was not scheduled

to buy new materials and because other states includ

ing Alabama adopted in categories offering less revenue

potential for the industry The biggest opportunities were

expected to be offered by 612 literature in Florida and

K8 reading and math in California but economic prob

lems sharply limited 2009 purchasing in both states

K12 sales in the open territory declined to lesser

extent as reduced opportunities in many parts of the

country were partially offset by gains over the prior year

in areas such as Illinois where SEGs secondary prod

ucts captured strong share of the states annual text

book purchasing program and contributed signilcantlv

to full-year results

K12 supplementary sales also declined with strong

growth in intervention products being offset by lower

demand for SEGs extensive list of older products

many of which are being phased out

Non-custom or shelf testing declined for all product

lines led by declines for the TerraNova line of norm-

referenced assessments

Formative assessment increased driven by new adop

tions renewals and expanded implementations of SEGs

successful Acuity program

Custom testing declined due to the anticipated discon

tinuation of contracts for work in California Florida

and Arizona and declines in the scope of work on other

contracts in comparison to the prior year

INDUSTRY HIGHLIGHTS

Total U.S PreK12 enrollment for 20092010 is

estimated at nearly 56 million students up 0.2% from

20082009 according to the National Center for

Education Statistics NCES
According to statistics compiled by the Association of

American Publishers AAP total net basal and supple

mentary sales of elementary and secondary instructional

materials decreased 13.8% through December 2009 Basal

sales in adoption states and open territory
for the industry

decreased 21.4% compared to prior year
In the supple

mental market industry sales were up 14.9% versus prior

year driven largely by an increase in demand for interven

tion products in reading and math

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

SEG revenue declined as an increase in state new adoption

basal sales was more than offset by lower residual sales

in the adoption states and by lower new and residual

sales in the open territory market The decline in open

territory and residual sales which are typically ordered

in the second half of the year reflected lower discretion

ary spending by schools many of which were operating

on tighter budgets as state and local tax revenues declined

while other costs especially energy costs increased

2009 2008

$1112.3 $1362.6

18.4% 5.4%

2007

$1441.0

6.7%
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In the KS market for balanced basal programs sales

increased due to higher adoption state sales in Texas

California and Florida Open territory sales for these

programs were also higher because of increased sales

in several states particularly for reading KS residual

and supplemental sales declined in both the adop

tion states and open territory as schools reduced

discretionary spending

612 basal sales decreased due primarily to reduc

tion in adoption state opportunities for secondary

materials that was driven by Texas which moved from

612 math purchasing in 2007 to KS math purchasing

in 2008 and by Florida which purchased for num

ber of 612 courses in 2007 but purchased KS read

ing in 2008 Open territory sales of 612 products

increased due to higher orders for math and science in

New York As was true in the KS market residual sales

of 612 materials declined in adoption states and open

territory as schools reduced discretionary spending

Formative assessment and Non-custom or shelf

testing revenue increased driven by higher Acuity rev

enues in New York City sales of the LAS series for

English-language learners and sales of the TABE series

These gains were partially offset by declines in older

shelf products

Custom testing revenue declined due to reductions in the

volume of work performed in 2008 on three state con

tracts The expiration of several contracts that produced

revenue in 2007 also contributed to the variance

INDUSTRY HIGHLIGHTS

Total U.S PreK12 enrollment for 20082009 was

estimated at nearly 56 million students up 0.3% from

20072008 according to the National Center for

Education Statistics NCES
According to statistics compiled by the Association of

American Publishers AAP total net basal and supple

mentary sales of elementary and secondary instructional

materials decreased 4.4% through December 2008 Basal

sales in adoption states and open territory for the industry

decreased 2.7% compared to prior year In the supplemen

tal market industry sales were down 11.4% versus prior

year part of continuing trend reflecting lower demand

for traditional supplementary materials In recent years

basal programs have become increasingly comprehensive

offering integrated ancillary materials that reduce the need

for schools to buy separate supplemental products

Higher Education Professional and International Group

in millions 2009 2008

Revenue $1275.5 $1276.3

decrease/increase O.1% 0.9%

2007

$1264.8

7.8%

The McGraw-Hill Higher Education Professional

and International HPI Group serves the college profes

sional international and adult education markets

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

Higher Education sales increased for both print and digi

tal product driven by strong new publication lists at all

four imprints SEM BE HSSL and Career Education

new digital offerings to support print sales improved sales

coverage in key regions and higher enrollments in the

current academic year

Key titles contributing to 2009 performance included

McConnell Economics 18/e Lucas The Art of Public

Speaking 10/e Sanderson Computers in the Medical

Office 6/e Shier Holes Essentials of Human Anatomy

and Physiology 10/e and Saladin Anatomy and

Physiology 5/c

Digital growth was driven by the continued success

of the Homework Management product line which

included new releases on the improved and enhanced

Connect platform

Revenue in the professional market declined versus 2008 as

weakness in the consumer environment had negative effect

on sales of some print product lines Digital subscriptions had

favorable impact on 2009 results

International sales decreased in 2009 with strong demand

for higher education products across most markets offset

by lower school sales in some regions by softness in pro
fessional sales related to economic conditions and by the

unfavorable impact of foreign exchange

INDUSTRY HIGHLIGHTS

The U.S college new textbook market is approximately

$4.3 billion and is expected to grow about 5%7%
in 2010 In 2010 all our higher education imprints will

have large competitive lists of new titles and we antici

pate
that we will hold or grow our market position in

the industry As technology continues to be the key trend

in higher education for course management and content

delivery the HPI Group will aggressively pursue variety

of c-initiatives including electronic books homework sup

port for students and online faculty training and support

The median projected increase in U.S college enroll

ments is rise of 13% to 20.6 million between 2007 and

2018 according to the National Center for Educational

Statistics NCES The economic recession and related

weak job market is leading more individuals to seek
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SEGMENT REVIEW continued

additional education and training In 2009 this trend was

strengthened by provisions in the American Recovery and

Reinvestment Act ARRA that raised the maximum Pell

Grant award available to eligible students and increased

the maximum tax credit allowable to students or their fami

lies for college tuition and other defined expenses During

2009 the federal government also enacted the Post 9/11

G.I Bill which provides educational stipends for eligible

veterans attending postsecondary institutions Through

September first wave of about 24500 veterans had

been approved for 2009 enrollments under the program

The recent extension of unemployment benefits by the

U.S Congress for individuals who have exhausted their

federal unemployment benefits is expected to continue to

fuel this trend in 2010

In 2010 the professional market is expected to be challeng

ing as consumer-oriented product lines decline but this will

be largely offset by increased demand for medical and engi

neering product lines both print and digital The migration

of customers to alternate delivery channels such as e-books

and online digital delivery will continue to impact print sales

at traditional retailers and wholesalers

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

HPIs revenue increased by 0.9% reflecting growth in

U.S sales of higher education titles as well as expansion

of international sales of higher education professional

and references products

Higher Education revenue increased led by growth in the

Career and Business Economics BEimprints

The Humanities Social Science and Languages HSSL
imprint showed slight increase while the Science

Engineering Mathematics SEM imprint showed

slight decline Homework Management products and

electronic books drove digital product growth

Key titles contributing to 2008 performance

included Knorre Puntos de partida 81e Nickels

Understanding Business 8/e McConnell Economics

17/e Garrison Managerial Accounting 12/e and

Ober Keyboarding 10/e

Revenue in the professional market declined versus the

prior year due to lower book sales particularly titles

intended for the consumer market in weak retail envi

ronment and strong prior year sales of McGraw-Hill

Encyclopedia of Science and Technology which was

published in May 2007 partially offset by current year

sales of the new edition of Harrisons Principles of

Internal Medicine Growth in digital subscriptions and

digital licensing had favorable impact for the year

International revenue increased led by success in India

and Asia partially offset by sales declines in other

regions particularly Latin America

operating margin 39%

Operating profit
includes

pre tax restructuring charge and
prc tax loss

on the sale of Vista Research Inc

Operating profit includes pre-tax restructuring charge .nid the impact

of reductions in incentive compensation

Operating profit
includes

pre tax gain on the sale of our muruil tund

data business and pre-tax restructuring charge

The Financial Services segment operates under the

Standard Poors brand This segment provides services to

investors corporations governments financial institutions

investment managers and advisors globally The segment

and the markets it serves are impacted by interest rates

the state of global economies credit quality and investor

confidence The segment consists of two operating groups

Credit Market Services and Investment Services Credit

Market Services provides independent global credit ratings

credit risk evaluations and ratings-related information and

products Investment Services provides comprehensive value-

added financial data information indices and research

Issuance volumes noted within the discussion that follows

are based on the domicile of the issuer Issuance volumes can

be reported in two ways by domicile which is based on

where an issuer is located or where the assets associated with

an issue are located or based on marketplace which is

where the bonds are sold

2.009 COMPARED WITH 2.008

In 2009 Financial Services revenue and operating profit

decreased over prior year

Credit Market Services revenue decreased slightly as

result of continued weakness in structured finance

and the impact of foreign exchange rates The re enue

decline was partially offset by revenue increases in cor

porate industrial ratings sovereign and international

public finance ratings credit ratings-related information

products such as RatingsXpress and RatingsDirecr and

other credit risk solutions products

Investment Services revenue decreased as result of

reductions in investment research products and the

impact of foreign exchange rates The revenue decline

was partially mitigated by growth in Capital IQ and

to lesser extent by our data and information offerings

and index services

FINANCIAL SERVICES

in mill ions 2009 2105

Revenue

decrease/increase

Operating profit

decrease/increase

$2610.1 $2654.3 $3046.2

2.9 l0.9

$1014.1 $l00.4 $1370.2

5.3% 21.9% l3.4

40 45
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Foreign exchange unfavorably impacted revenue by

$43.4 million and operating profit by $15.4 million

2008 included reductions in incentive compensation

expense as further described in the Consolidated

Review section of this Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations

In May 2009 we sold our Vista Research Inc business

The sale resulted in $13.8 million pre-tax loss $8.8 mil

lion after-tax or $0.03 per
diluted share This business

was selected for divestiture as it no longer fit within our

strategic plans The divestiture enables our Financial

Services segment to focus on its core business of providing

independent research ratings data indices and portfolio

services The impact of this divestiture on comparability

of results is immaterial

During 2009 the Financial Services segment incurred

restructuring charge consisting of employee severance

costs related to the reduction of approximately 85 posi

tions which net of reversal of accruals for previously

recorded restructuring charges due to revised estimates

resulted in pre-tax benefit of $0.4 million

During 2008 the Financial Services segment incurred

pre-tax restructuring charge of $25.9 million consisting

of employee severance costs related to the reduction of

approximately 340 positions driven by continued cost

containment activities as result of the current credit

market environment and economic conditions

OUTLOOK
Market conditions for the global corporate bond markets

improved substantially in 2009 while most sectors of the

structured finance market continue to experience liquidity

issues and weak investor demand Global issuance of both

investment and speculative grade corporate bonds increased

as credit spreads declined significantly Issuance of ABS

RMBS CMBS and CDO declined on global basis in 2009

from the prior year

The conditions in the corporate
bond market remain favor

able for the first quarter of 2010 As the year progresses

the levels of interest rates and credit spreads are expected to

continue to affect issuance levels If global economies con

tinue to improve and central banks begin to tighten monetary

policy issuance levels could be adversely affected if interest

rates and/or credit spreads increase Similarly bond issuance

by financial institutions may be constrained if they continue

to deleverage their balance sheets In addition 2010 issuance

may be reduced if issuers have accelerated their 2010 planned

funding transactions to 2009 to benefit from the favorable

market conditions

In 2010 the global structured finance markets are

expected to continue to encounter several factors adversely

impacting market conditions The recovery of the RMBS and

CMBS markets are ultimately dependent upon the recovery

of both residential and commercial real estate markets Both

demand for and prices of residential and commercial real

estate have been depressed The outlook for the CDO market

is dependent upon banks willingness to initiate new loans

and investors risk appetite to invest in new CDO structures

in addition to required improvement in secondary market

trading liquidity Finally the ABS market is expected to be

adversely affected by consumers deleveraging and the imple

mentation of new accounting and regulatory requirements

which are expected to increase the cost of securitizations for

banks resulting in higher capital costs

However in the short-term investment programs imple

mented by governments
and central banks are expected to

lessen the impact of these adverse market conditions and

serve to increase liquidity of certain sectors of the structured

finance market Although the Term Asset-Backed Loan

Facility TALF program is currently scheduled to expire

at the end of the first quarter in 2010 the recent implementa

tion by the U.S Treasury of the Public Private Investment

Partnership PPIP is expected to increase demand for

existing legacy RMBS and CMBS In addition the European

Central Bank is in the process of providing stimulus to

the covered bond market through its purchases of euro-

denominated covered bonds

Investment Services expects to experience increased

demand for its Capital IQ and data and information offer

ings Also index services products should benefit if the

global equity markets continue to rally However demand

for investment research products is expected to decline

as the result of the expiration of the Independent Equity

Research settlement

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

In 2008 Financial Services revenue and operating profit

decreased over prior year primarily driven by declines at

Credit Market Services

Credit Market Services revenue and operating profit

were adversely impacted by the turbulence in the global

financial markets resulting from challenged credit

markets financial difficulties experienced by several

financial institutions and shrinking investot confidence

in the capital markets

Strength in Investment Services mitigated decreases

experienced in Credit Market Services and was driven

by demand for both the Capital IQ and index products

Foreign exchange positively impacted revenue growth

by $16.9 million and operating profit by $35.4 million

41



SEGMENT REVIEW continued

Reductions in 2008 incentive compensation helped

mitigate the operating profit reduction as further

described in the Consolidated Review section of this

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations

During 2008 the Financial Services segment incurred

pre-tax restructuring charge of $25.9 million consisting

of employee severance costs related to the reduction of

approximately 340 positions driven by continued cost

containment activities as result of the current credit

market environment and economic conditions

In March 2007 we sold our mutual fund data business

The sale resulted in $17.3 million pre-tax gain $10.3 mil

lion after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share recorded as

other loss/income net and had an immaterial impact

on the comparison of the segments operating profit

The divestiture of the mutual fund data business was

consistent with our Financial Services segments strategy

of directing resources to those businesses which have the

best opportunities to achieve both significant financial

growth and market leadership The divestiture enables

our Financial Services segment to focus on its core busi

ness of providing independent research ratings data

indices and portfolio services

LEGAL AND REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
The financial services industry is subject to the potential

for increased regulation in the United States and abroad

The businesses conducted by the Financial Services seg

ment are in certain cases regulated under the Credit Rating

Agency Reform Act of 2006 U.S Investment Advisers Act

of 1940 the U.S Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and/or

the laws of the states or other jurisdictions in which they

conduct business

Standard Poors Ratings Services is credit rating

agency that is registered with the Securities and Exchange

Commission SEC as one often Nationally Recognized

Statistical Rating Organizations or NRSROs The SEC first

began designating NRSROs in 1975 for use of their credit

ratings in the determination of capital charges for regis

tered brokers and dealers under the SECs Net Capital Rule

The public portions of the current version of SPs Form

NRSRO are available on SPs Web site

Credit rating agency legislation entitled Credit Rating

Agency Reform Act of 2006 the Act was signed into law

on September 29 2006 The Act created new SEC registra

tion system for rating agencies that volunteer to be recog

nized as NRSROs Under the Act the SEC is given authority

and oversight of NRSROs and can censure NRSROs revoke

their registration or limit or suspend their registration in cer

tain cases The SEC is not authorized to review the analytical

process ratings criteria or methodology of the NRSROs

On February 2009 the SEC issued new rules that with

one exception went into effect in April 2009 The new rules

address disclosure and management of conflicts related to the

issuer-pays model prohibitions against analysts accepting

gifts or making recommendations when rating security

and limitations on analyst participation in ee discussions

Under the new rules additional records of all rating actions

must be created retained and made public including

sampling of rating histories for issuer-paid ratings this rule

became effective in August 2009 Also records must he kept

of material deviations in ratings assigned from model outputs

as well as complaints about analysts performance The new

rules require more disclosure of performance statistics and

methodologies and new annual report by NRSROs of their

rating actions to be provided confidentially to the SEC
On November 23 2009 the SEC issued final rules relat

ing to the disclosure of data underlying structured finance

ratings and public disclosure of rating histories for all issuer-

paid ratings with some limitations The compliance effective

date is June 2010

In the Fall of 2009 the SEC issued additional final rules

and proposals including removing NRSRO ratings from

selected SEC rules and forms and proposing removal of

NRSRO ratings from additional rules and forms proposals

for new annual compliance report and more public disclo

sure of revenues proposals for issuers to disclose informa

tion about ratings used in selling registered securities and

concept release seeking comments as to whether Rule 436g
which exempts NRSRO ratings from liability under sections

and 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 should he rescinded

In December SP submitted public comments on the

proposals and concept release

Outside the United States regulators and government

officials are implementing formal oversight of credit rating

agencies On December 2009 the EU Regulation came

into force establishing European Union-wide regulatory

framework for credit rating agencies SP will need to apply

for registration by September 72010 Effective January

2010 SP is regulated in Australia as holder of financial

services license In June 2009 Japan passed law to regu

late rating agencies Rules to implement the law were issued

in December and will become effective later in 2010 SP
continues to work closely with regulators globally including

the International Organization of Securities Commissions

IOSCO to promote the global consistency of regulatory

requirements SP expects regulators in additional countries

to introduce new regulations starting in 2010 In many coun

tries SP is also an External Credit Assessment Institution

ECAI under Basel II for purposes of allowing banks to

use its ratings in determining risk weightings for many credit

exposures Recognized ECAIs may be subject to additional

oversight in the future
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We have reviewed the new laws regulations and rules

which have been adopted and have implemented or are

planning to implement changes as required We do not

believe that such new laws regulations or rules will have

materially adverse effect on the Companys financial condi

tion or results of operations Other laws regulations and

rules relating to credit rating agencies are being considered

by local national foreign and multinational bodies and are

likely to continue to be considered in the future The impact

on us of the adoption of any such laws regulations or rules

remains uncertain

The market for credit ratings as well as the markets for

research and investment advisory services are very competi

tive The Financial Services segment competes domestically

and internationally on the basis of number of factors

including the quality of its ratings research and invest

ment advisory businesses client service reputation price

geographic scope range of products and technological

innovation In addition in some of the countries in which

Standard Poors competes governments may provide

financial or other support to locally-based rating agencies

and may from time to time establish official credit rating

agencies credit ratings criteria or procedures for evaluating

local issuers

The Financial Crisis Inquiry Commission FCIC was

established in May 2009 in connection with the Fraud

Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 The FCIC is charged

with conducting an inquiry into among other things credit

rating agencies in the financial system including reliance

on credit ratings by financial institutions and regulators the

use of credit ratings in financial regulation and the use of

credit ratings in the securitization markets In its work the

Commission is authorized to hold hearings issue subpoe

nas either for witness testimony or documents and make

referrals to the Attorney General or the appropriate state

Attorney General report of the Commissions findings is

due to Congress on December 15 2010

On November 17 2009 the European Commission

Directorate-General for Competition EC sent Statement

of Objections SO to the Company outlining the ECs

preliminary view that Standard Poors CUSIP Service

Bureau is abusing its position as the sole-appointed National

Numbering Agency NNA for U.S securities by requir

ing financial institutions and Information Service Providers

ISPs to pay licensing fees for the use of International

Securities Identification Numbers ISINs As set forth in the

SO the ECs preliminary view is that this behavior amounts to

unfair pricing and infringes European competition law Should

the preliminary views expressed in the SO be confirmed the

EC may require the Company to cease the alleged abuse and

may impose fine The Company believes these preliminary

views are erroneous and is engaging with the EC in an effort

to resolve this matter

In the normal course of business both in the United States

and abroad the Company and its subsidiaries are defendants

in numerous legal proceedings and are involved from time

to time in governmental and self-regulatory agency proceed

ings which may result in adverse judgments damages fines

or penalties Also various governmental and self-regulatory

agencies regularly make inquiries and conduct investigations

concerning compliance with applicable laws and regulations

writ of summons was served on The McGraw-Hill

Companies SRL and on The McGraw-Hill Companies SA

both indirect subsidiaries of the Company collectively

Standard Poors on September 29 2005 and October

2005 respectively in an action brought in the Tribunal of

Milan Italy by Enrico Bondi Bondi the Extraordinary

Commissioner of Parmalat Finanziaria S.p.A and Parmalat

S.p.A collectively Parmalat Bondi has brought numer

ous other lawsuits in both Italy and the United States against

entities and individuals who had dealings with Parmalat

In this suit Bondi claims that Standard Poors which had

issued investment grade ratings on Parmalar until shortly

before Parmalats collapse in December 2003 breached its

duty to issue an independent and professional rating and

negligently and knowingly assigned inflated ratings in order

to retain Parmalats business Alleging joint and several

liability Bondi claims damages of euros 4073984120

representing the value of bonds issued by Parmalat and the

rating fees paid by Parmalat with interest plus damages

to be ascertained for Standard Poors alleged complicity

in aggravating Parmalats financial difficulties and/or for

having contributed in bringing about Parmalats indebted

ness towards its bondholders and legal fees Standard

Poors filed its answer counterclaim and third-party claims

on March 16 2006 The court has appointed two experts to

assist in its determinations

In separate proceeding the prosecutors office in Parma

Italy is conducting an investigation into the bankruptcy of

Parmalat In June 2006 the prosecutors office issued Note

of Completion of an Investigation Note of Completion

concerning allegations based on Standard Poors invest

ment grade ratings of Parmalat that individual Standard

Poors rating analysts conspired with Parmalat insiders

and rating advisors to fraudulently or negligently cause the

Parmalat bankruptcy The Note of Completion was served

on eight Standard Poors rating analysts While not for

mal charge the Note of Completion indicates the prosecu

tors intention that the named rating analysts should appear

before judge in Parma for preliminary hearing at which

hearing the judge will determine whether there is sufficient

evidence against the rating analysts to proceed to trial

No date has been set for the preliminary hearing On July

2006 defense brief was filed with the Parma prosecutors

office on behalf of the rating analysts
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The Company and Standard Poors Ratings Services

together with other credit rating agencies continue to be

named in numerous lawsuits in U.S state and federal courts

as well as in foreign jurisdictions relating to the ratings

activity of Standard Poors Ratings Services brought by

alleged purchasers of rated securities many of which include

novel claims that Standard Poors Ratings Services is

an underwriter or seller of such securities under the

Securities Act of 1933 The Company and Standard Poors

Ratings Services have also received numerous subpoenas

and other government inquiries concerning the rating activ

ity of Standard Poors Ratings Services in these areas and

continue to respond to all such requests Additional actions

investigations or proceedings may be initiated from time to

time in the future

In addition the Company and certain of its officers and

directors have been named in putative class action brought

under the federal securities laws by its shareholders two puta

tive class actions by participants in the Companys ERISA

plans and putative derivative action on behalf of the

Company all relating to alleged misrepresentations and omis

sions concerning the Companys ratings business

On August 28 2007 putative shareholder class action

titled Reese Bahash was filed in the District Court for the

District of Columbia and was subsequently transferred to

the Southern District of New York The Company and its

CEO and CFO are currently named as defendants in the suit

which alleges claims under the federal securities laws in con

nection with alleged misrepresentations and omissions made

by the defendants relating to the Companys earnings and

SPs business practices On November 2008 the District

Court denied Lead Plaintiffs motion to lift the discovery

stay imposed by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

in order to obtain documents SP submitted to the SEC

during the SECs examination The Company filed motion

to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint which was fully

briefed and submitted as of May 2009

On September 10 2008 putative shareholder class

action titled Patrick Gearren eta The McGraw-Hill

Companies Inc eta was filed in the District Court for

the Southern District of New York against the Company

its Board of Directors its Pension Investment Committee

and the administrator of its pension plans The Complaint

alleged that the defendants breached fiduciary duties to

participants in the Companys ERISA plans by allowing par

ticipants to continue to invest in Company stock as an invest

ment option under the plans during period when plaintiffs

allege the Companys stock price to have been artificially

inflated The Complaint also asserted that defendants breached

fiduciary duties under ERISA by making certain material

misrepresentations and non-disclosures concerning the ratings

business in plan communications and the Companys SEC

filings virtually identical complaint was filed on June 12

2009 in an action titled Sullivan The McGraw-Hill

Companies Inc etal Case No 09-CV-5450 in the

Southern District of New York On February 10 2010 both

actions were dismissed in their entirety for failure to state

claim under applicable law The dismissals are with prejudice

and the plaintiffs do not have the right to amend their com

plaints but may seek to appeal the dismissals

On January 2009 putative derivative action on

behalf of the Company was filed in the District Court for

the Southern District of New York titled Teamsters Allied

Benefit Funds Harold McGraw III eta asserting nine

claims including causes of action for securities fraud breach

of fiduciary duties and other related theories against the

Board of Directors and several officers of the Company

The claims in the complaint are premised on the alleged role

played by the Companys directors and officers in the issu

ance of excessively high ratings by Standard Poors and

subsequent purported misstatements or omissions in the

Companys public filings regarding the financial results and

operations of the ratings business The Companys motion

to dismiss the complaint was fully briefed and submitted as

of May 2009

The Company believes that the claims asserted in the

proceedings described above have no basis and they

will be vigorously defended by the Company and/or the

subsidiaries involved

In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome

of legal matters particularly where the claimants seek very

large or indeterminate damages or where the cases present

novel legal theories involve large number of parties or are

in early stages of discovery we cannot state with confidence

what the eventual outcome of these pending matters will

be what the timing of the ultimate resolution of these

matters will he or what the eventual loss fines penalties or

impact related to each pending matter may he We believe

based on our current knowledge the outcome of the legal

actions proceedings and investigations currently pending

should not have material adverse effect on the Companys

consolidated financial condition

CREDIT MARKET SERViCES

in millions 2009 2105 2017

Revenue $1748.2 $1754.8 $2264.1

decrease/increase 0.4% 22.5% 9.2%

Credit Market Services provides independent global credit

ratings covering corporate and government entities infra

structure projects and structured finance transactions This

operating group
also provides ratings related information

through its RatingsXpress and RatingsDirect products in

addition to credit risk evaluation services and other products
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2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

Credit Market Services revenue decreased as result of

continued weakness in structured finance and the impact

of foreign exchange rates The revenue decline was par

tially mitigated by revenue increases in corporate indus

trial ratings sovereign and international public finance

ratings credit ratings-related information products such

as RatingsXpress and RatingsDirect and other credit risk

solutions products

Declines in issuance across all structured finance asset

classes other than U.S RMBS and European CMBS

contributed to our revenue declines These declines were

partially offset by revenue increases in U.S and European

corporate industrial issuance and sovereign issuance

Growth in our information products was driven by

increased customer demand for value-added solutions

Revenue derived from non-transaction related sources

includes surveillance fees annual contracts subscrip

tion and rating fees earned relating to cancelled trans

actions breakage fees In 2009 our non-transaction

related revenue decreased slightly compared to 2008

primarily as result of lower breakage fees Non-

transaction related revenue represented 69.2% of total

Credit Market Services revenue for 2009 compared

to 69.3% for 2008

ISSUANCE VOLUMES
We monitor issuance volumes as an indicator of trends in

transaction revenue streams within Credit Market Services

The following tables depict changes in issuance levels as com

pared to prior year based on Thomson Financial Harrison

Scott Publications and Standard Poors internal estimates

Structured Finance

Residential Mortgage-Backed

Securities RMBS
Commercial Mortgage-Backed

Securities CMBS
Collateralized Debt Obligations CDO
Asset-Backed Securities ABS
Total New Issue Dollars

Structured Finance

trading markets in both the U.S and Europe Although

Europe CMBS issuance experienced gain compared

to prior year issuance levels remain very low

ABS issuance has declined as consumers continue to

deleverage resulting in lower consumer loan balances

to securitize

to Prior Year

U.S Europe

251.3% 215.8%

4.9% 21.4%

Total New Issue Dollars Corporate 7.0% 23.4%

Corporate debt issuance was higher in the U.S and Europe

resulting from issuers seeking to increase their liquidity posi

tions and to refinance debt Tighter credit spreads created

more attractive financing environment for issuers and inves

tors became more comfortable buying lower-rated bonds

U.S and Europe high yield issuance experienced large

gains compared to prior year as high yield grade compa

nies took advantage of investors growing appetite for

higher yield and the need to refinance

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

Credit Market Services revenue was adversely impacted

by turbulence in the global financial markets resulting

from challenged credit markets financial difficulties

experienced by several financial institutions and shrink

ing investor confidence in the capital markets Specifically

the decrease in revenue was attributed to the continu

ing significant decreases in structured finance as well as

decreases in corporate ratings partially offset by increases

in public finance ratings and credit ratings-related infor

mation products such as RatingsXpress and RatingsDirect

.uroI and credit risk evaluation products and services as well as

73 30/ 54 70/

moderate growth in revenue derived from non-transaction

related sources

13.4% Continued significant decreases in issuance volumes in

95.6% the United States and Europe of RMBS CMBS CDO
56.3% and ABS contributed to the decrease in revenue

Corporate ratings decreases were driven by wider credit

31.6% 63.3% spreads and tighter lending standards in light of the

weakening of the global economy and uncertainty in the

world financial markets

Growth in information products and credit risk evalua

tion products and services was driven by increased

customer demand for value-added solutions

Revenue derived from non-transaction related sources

includes surveillance fees annual contracts subscrip

tion and rating fees earned relating to cancelled trans

actions breakage fees In 2008 our non-transaction

U.S RMBS issuance reflects the increased restructuring of

existing mortgage-backed securities re-REMIC issuance

and compares to low levels of issuance in 2008 European

RMBS issuance decreased as it did not experience similar

re-REMIC activity

Both CMBS and CDO asset classes continue to experience

little investor demand and relatively illiquid secondary

Corporate issuance

High Yield Issuance

Investment Grade

Compared to Prior Year

54.3%
82.1%

37.1%
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SEGMENT REVIEW continued

Structured Finance

Residential Mortgage-Backed

Securities RMBS
Commercial Mortgage-Backed

Securities CMBS
Collateralized Debt Obligations CDO
Asset-Backed Securities ABS
Total New Issue Dollars

Structured Finance

INVESTMENT SERVICES

in millions 2009 2005 200

Revenue $861.9 899.5 $782.1

decrease/increase 4.2% 0% 16.300

Investment Services is leading provider of data analysis

independent investment advice equity research investment

indices and investment fund management ratings

2.009 COMPARED WITH 2.oo8

Investment Services revenue decreased as result of reduc

tions in investment research products and the impact of

foreign exchange rates The revenue decline was partially

mitigated by growth in Capital IQ our data and informa

tion offerings and index services

The decrease in investment research products was
Europe

impacted by the expiration of the Independent Equity

95.4o 81.7% Research IER settlement at the end of July Despite

the expiration of the IER settlement we have signed

contracts with some of the large banks to continue

providing research for their customers

Revenue decline was partially offset by continued

expansion of our customer base at Capital IQ and for

79.9% 80.1% other data and information offerings as well as growth

in our index services as assets under management

for exchange-traded funds ETFs rose 1.3% to

$247.0 billion in 2009 from $203.6 billion in 2008

The number of Capital IQ clients at December 31 2009

increased 9.9% from the prior year

In May 2009 the Vista Research Inc business was

divested and we recognized pre-tax loss of $13.8 million

$8.8 million after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share This

divestiture enables the Financial Services segment to focus

on its core business of providing independent research

ratings data indices and portfolio services The impact of

this divestiture on comparability of results is immaterial

2.008 COMPARED WITH 2.007

Investment Services revenue increased as result of growth

in index services and Capital IQ products

Revenue related to Standard Poors indices increased

despite assets under management for ETFs decreasing

13.5% from December 31 2007 to $203.6 billion at

December 31 2008 Although the assets under manage
ment decreased from the year-end 2007 levels they were

higher for the first nine months of 2008 which drove the

revenue increase for the year The number of exchange-

traded futures and option contracts based on SP indi

ces exhibited strong increases in 2008 compared to the

same period of the prior year thereby also contributing

to the revenue growth

related revenue increased moderately to $1.3 billion

which represented approximately 73% of total

Credit Market Services revenue in 2008 as compared

to 54% in 2007 The increase of non-transaction

related revenue as proportion of total Credit Market

Services revenue is attributable to the significant

declines in transaction related revenue during 2008

ISSUANCE VOLUMES
We monitor issuance volumes as an indicator of trends in

transaction revenue streams within Credit Market Services

The following tables depict changes in issuance levels as com

pared to prior year based on Thomson Financial Harrison

Scott Publications and Standard Poors internal estimates

Compared to Prior Year

U.S

_9340

89.6%
20.1%

97.0%

73.8%

Continued deterioration in the subprime mortgage mar

ket tighter lending standards and declining home prices

have significantly impacted dollar volume issuance in the

RMBS market

CMBS issuance decreased due to the market dislocation

attributed to high credit spreads resulting in high interest

rates which are not economical to borrowers

The large decline in CDO issuance resulted from contin

ued lack of investor appetite for the complex deal struc

tures and secondary market trading liquidity concerns

In Europe widening credit spreads and weak secondary

market trading have contributed to the decline in new

issue ABS volume

Corporate Issuance

High Yield Issuance

Investment Grade

Total New Issue Dollars Corporate

Compared to Prior Year

U.S Europe

73.7% 73.3%

28.4% 9.5%

33.8c 11.7c

Corporate debt issuance declined as the result of insuf

ficient investor demand despite widening credit spreads

in both the investment grade and high yield sectors

New dollar issuance in the U.S municipal market

decreased 6.1% for 2008 compared to last year
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The number of Capital IQ clients at December 31 2008

increased 19.0% from the prior year

INFORMATION MEDIA

in millions 2009a 2008b

Revenue $953.9 $1061.9

decrease/increase 1O.2%4.1%

Operating profit $92.7 $92.0

increase 0.7% 45.0%

operating margin 10% 9%

2007c

$1020.2

3.6%

$63.5

27.2%

6%

Operating profit includes pre-tax gain on the sale of BusinessWeek and

pre-tax restructuring charge

hi Operating profit
includes pre-tax restructuring charge and the impact of

reductions in incentive compensation

Revenue and operating profit include the impact of the Sweets transforma

tion Operating profit includes pee-tax restructuring charge

The Information Media segment includes business

professional and broadcast media offering information

insight and analysis and consists of two operating groups

the Business-to-Business Group including such brands as

J.D Power and Associates McGraw-Hill Construction

Platts and Aviation Week and the Broadcasting Group

which operates nine television stations four ABC affiliated

and five Azteca America affiliated stations The segments

business is driven by the need for information and trans

parency
in variety of industries and to lesser extent

by advertising revenue

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

In 2009 revenue declines were driven primarily by adver

tising weakness across all of our media properties and

reduced sales of our automotive studies

The declines were partly offset by growth in our global

energy and other commodities products and services

During the first quarter of 2009 J.D Power and

Associates began transitioning number of syndicated

studies to an online service platform This resulted in

$11.4 million of revenue and $7.1 million of operating

profit that would have been recognized in 2009 to be

deferred and will he recognized over the service period

Foreign exchange rates had an immaterial impact on

revenue and $7.3 million favorable impact on operat

ing profit

In 2009 the Information Media segment
incurred

pre-tax restructuring charge that reduced operating profit

by $4.0 million consisting primarily of employee severance

costs related to the reduction of approximately 125 posi

tions driven by continued cost containment and cost

reduction activities

In 2008 the Information Media segment incurred

pre-tax restructuring charge that reduced operating

profit by $19.2 million consisting of employee severance

costs related to the reduction of approximately 210 posi

tions driven by continued cost containment and cost

reduction activities

On December 12009 we sold Business Week which was

part of our Information Media segment This business

was selected for divestiture as it no longer fit within our

strategic plans We recognized pre-tax gain of $10.5 mil

lion $6.7 million after tax or $0.02 per diluted share

The impact of this divestiture on comparability of results

is immaterial

2008 included reductions in incentive compensation

expense as further discussed in the Consolidated Review

section of this Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OUTLOOK
In 2010 the Information Media segment expects to

invest in digital capabilities that will enable the businesses

to become integrated digital solutions providers and

create foundation for the development of new businesses

and revenue streams The segment will further expand

its presence in selected markets and geographies to help

drive growth

The ongoing volatility of the oil and natural gas mar

kets is expected to continue customer demand for news

and pricing products although at slower pace than

in 2009

J.D Power and Associates will focus on expanding its

global automotive business and extend its product

offering into new verticals and emerging markets but

expects to face challenges as the U.S automotive market

experiences significant challenges

In the construction market digital and Web-based

products will provide expanded business information

integrated into customer workflows

In political year the Broadcasting stations expect

growth in political advertising as base advertising con

tinues to be impacted by the current economic condi

tions particularly in the automotive and retail sectors

The Broadcasting stations will continue to develop and

grow new digital businesses

The Broadcasting Group has recently agreed on the

terms of its affiliation renewal with ABC which will

have an adverse but immaterial impact on the

segments future revenue and profitability
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SEGMENT REVIEW continued

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

In 2008 revenue growth was driven primarily by the

Business-to-Business Group

The growth was driven by Platts leading provider of

energy and other commodities information as well as

J.D Power and Associates partially offset by declines

in Business Week

Foreign exchange rates had an immaterial impact on

revenue and operating profit

In 2008 the Information Media segment incurred

pre-tax restructuring charge that reduced operating

profit by $19.2 million consisting primarily of employee

severance costs related to the reduction of approximately

210 positions driven by continued cost containment

and cost reduction activities

In 2007 the Information Media segment incurred

pre-tax restructuring charge that reduced operating

profit by $6.7 million consisting primarily of employee

severance costs related to the reduction of approximately

100 positions across the segment These restructuring

activities related primarily to the reallocation of certain

resources to support continued digital evolution and

productivity initiatives

2008 included reductions in incentive compensation

expense as further discussed in the Consolidated Review

section of this Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations

BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS GROUP

in millions 2009 2008 2007

$954.8 $917.2

4.1% 6.2%

Revenue $872.7

decrease/increase 8.6%

2.009 COMPARED WITH 2.008

Business-to-Business Group revenue decline was primar

ily driven by advertising weakness across all of our media

properties and reduced sales of our automotive studies

Partially offsetting these declines was an increase in our

global energy and other commodities products and services

Current economic weakness continues to drive declines

in the automotive industry softness in advertising and

decreases in the construction market

According to the PIB Business Weeks advertising pages

in the global edition through November 2009 were

down 33.5% compared to the same period in 2008

with one less issue year to year for PIB purposes and

two fewer issues for revenue recognition purposes

As discussed above we sold Business Week on

December 12009

Global commodities products related to oil natural gas

and power experienced growth as the continued volatil

ity in crude oil and other commodity prices drove the

continued need for market information

During the first quarter of 2009 J.D Power and

Associates began transitioning number of syndicated

studies to an online service platform This resulted in

$11.4 million of revenue and $7.1 million of operating

profit that would have been recognized in 2009 to he

deferred and will be recognized over the service period

INDUSTRY HIGHLIGHTS

According to the International Energy Agency oil demand

in 2009 is expected to drop by 2.2% following drop

of 0.2% in 2008 as result of the financial and economic

crisis Energy investment worldwide has plunged in the face

of tougher financing environment weakening demand for

energy and falling cash flows Global oil demand is expected

to recover as the economy pulls out of recession outpacing

the growth in capacity which will exert upward pressure on

energy prices which are likely to remain highly volatile

In 2009 the dollar value of total U.S construction

starts was down 26% against the prior year Most of the

decline was due to 31% decrease in residential build

ing activity as well as 33% decrease in non-residential

construction from lower commercial and manufacturing

building activities while non-building construction was

down 9%
In 2009 the dollar value of total U.S light vehicle sales

was down 19% on 21% decline in total sales volume

against the prior year Flat incentive spend versus 2008

combined with slightly higher industry transaction prices

in 2009 led to the relatively better performance on

dollar value versus sales volume basis

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

Business-to-Business Group revenue growth was driven by

Platts as well as J.D Power and Associates partially offset

by declines in Business Week

Oil natural gas and power news and pricing products

experienced growth as the increased volatility in crude

oil and other commodity prices drove the increased need

for market information

Improved market penetration in the international con

sumer research studies particularly in Asia positively

influenced growth
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According to the Publishers Information Bureau PIB
BusinessWeeks advertising pages in the global edition for

2008 were down 16.1% in 2008 versus 2007 with one less

issue in 2008 for PIB purposes but comparable issues for

revenue recognition purposes

In 2008 U.S construction starts decreased 15% com

pared to 2007 as the housing correction outweighed

growth for nonresidential building and public works

Nonresidential building increased 1% relative to 2007

Residential building decreased 39% compared to

2007 as the demand for single-family housing has been

curtailed by tighter lending standards

Nonbuilding construction grew 4% reflecting gains for

highways bridges sewers and supply systems
offset by

electrical utilities

According to the PIB advertising pages for all consumer

magazine publications were down 11.7% for 2008

compared to 2007

BROADCASTING GROUP

in millions 2009 2008 2007

The Broadcasting Group operates nine television stations of

which four are ABC affiliates located in Denver Indianapolis

San Diego and Bakersfield California and five are Azteca

America affiliated stations in Denver two stations Colorado

Springs San Diego and Bakersfield California

2.009 COMPARED WITH zoo8

In 2009 Broadcasting revenue declined compared to 2008

Declines in base advertising were primarily due to

economic weakness in key markets

Political advertising declined significantly as 2009 was

non-political election year

zoo8 COMPARED WITH 2.007

In 2008 Broadcasting revenue increased compared to 2007

Strong political advertising due to the presidential

election was offset by declines in base advertising due to

economic weakness in key markets

Time sales excluding political advertising declined

driven by decreases in the automotive services retail and

consumer products sectors

Inventories net 301.2 369.7

decrease/increase 18.5% 5.4%

Investment in prepublication costs 177.0 254.1

decrease 30.3% 15.0%

We continue to maintain strong financial position Our

primary source of funds for operations is cash generated by

operating activities Our core businesses have been strong

cash generators Income and consequently cash provided

from operations during the year are significantly impacted

$103
by the seasonality of our businesses particularly educational

14.6% publishing The first quarter is the smallest accounting for

19.3% of revenue and only 8.6% of net income in 2009 The

third quarter is the largest accounting for 31.5% of revenue

and generating 46.0% of 2009 net income This seasonality

also impacts cash flow and related borrowing patterns as

investments are typically made in the first half of the year

to support the strong selling period that occurs in the

third quarter As result our cash flow is typically negative

in the first half of the year and turns positive during the third

and fourth quarters Debt financing is used as necessary for

acquisitions seasonal fluctuations in working capital and

share repurchases Cash and cash equivalents were $1.2 bil

lion on December 31 2009 an increase of $738.3 million

as compared to December 31 2008 and consist of domes

tic cash and cash held abroad Typically cash held out

side the United States is anticipated to be utilized to fund

international operations or to be reinvested outside of the

United States as significant portion of our opportunities

for growth in the coming years are expected to be abroad

The major items affecting the cash flow in 2009 were

No shares were repurchased in 2009

Decreased incentive compensation payments and inventory

purchases and

Reduced investments in property and equipment and

prepublication costs

Cash flow from operations was sufficient to cover all of

our investing and financing requirements In 2010 cash on

hand cash flows from operations
and availability under our

existing credit facility are expected to be sufficient to meet

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

December 3i in millions

Working capital

Total debt

Gross accounts receivable

decrease

2009 2008

484.4 228.0

$1197.8 $1267.6

$1245.8 $1329.5

6.3% 8.7%

Purchase of property and equipment

decrease

68.5 106.0

35.3% 53.8%

Revenue

decrease/increase

$81.1 $107.1

24.2% 4.0%
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES continued

any additional operating and recurring cash needs divi

dends investment in publishing programs capital expendi

tures and stock repurchases into the foreseeable future

We had positive working capital of $484.4 million at

December 31 2009 compared to negative working capital

of $228.0 million at the end of 2008 The change primarily

reflects an increase in cash as result of no share repurchases

in 2009 decrease in incentive compensation payments and

inventory purchases and reduced investments in property

and equipment and prepublication costs

CASH FLOW

OPERATING ACTIVITIES Cash provided by operations

increased $152.0 million to $1.3 billion in 2009 mainly due

to decrease in incentive compensation payments and

decrease in inventory purchases

The year-end decrease in accounts receivable is attrib

utable to strong cash collections Days sales outstanding

DSO in 2009 improved by nine days as compared with

2008 primarily as result of strong cash collections across

all of our segments In 2008 accounts receivable decreased

due to reduced revenue in the fourth quarter as well as the

impact of foreign exchange

Total inventories decreased $67.6 million in 2009 as com

pared to 2008 primarily as result of the expected stronger

adoption opportunities in 2008 compared with 2009 Total

inventories increased $26.5 million in 2008 as result of

lower residual sales in the adoption states and new and resid

ual sales in the open territory market

Decreases in accounts payable and accrued expenses

in 2009 and 2008 were driven by reduced payments

and accruals for incentive compensation as result of

our performance

INVESTING ACTIVITIES Cash used for investing activities

was $278.7 million and $433.3 million for 2009 and 2008

respectively The decrease of $154.6 million is due primarily

to decreased purchases of property and equipment lower

investments in prepublication costs and the absence of acqui

sitions in 2009

Purchases of property and equipment totaled $68.5 mil

lion in 2009 as compared with $106.0 million in 2008 The

decrease in 2009 is primarily related to decreased invest

ment in our data centers and other technology initiatives

In 2010 we are projecting capital expenditures in the
range

of $90 million to $100 million largely due to increased

technology spending

In 2009 net prepublication costs decreased $91.7 million

from December 31 2008 to $460.8 million as amortization

outpaced spending Prepublication investment in the current

year totaled $177.0 million $77.1 million less than the

same period in 2008 In 2010 as result of the larger state

adoption opportunities we expect prepublication invest

ments in the
range

of $225 million to $235 million versus

$177 million in 2009

FINANCING ACTIVITIES Cash used for financing activi

ties was $326.1 million in 2009 compared to $612.3 mil

lion in 2008 The difference is primarily attributable to

decrease in the repurchase of shares partially offset by

reduced borrowings and reduced proceeds from stock

option exercises

Cash was utilized to repurchase 10.9 million shares

for $447.2 million in 2008 No shares were repurchased

in 2009 Shares repurchased under the repurchase programs

are held in treasury and used for general corporate purposes

including the issuance of shares for stock compensation plans

and to offset the dilutive effect of the exercise of employee

stock options Commercial paper borrowings were used at

times during 2008 to fund share repurchases and prepublica

tion investments related to adoption opportunities in 2009

and beyond

OUTSTANDING DEBT AND OTHER

FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

In November 2007 the Company issued $1.2 billion of

senior notes as follows

On millions Pri nclpa non it

5.375% Senior Notes due 2012 400.0

5.900% Senior Notes due 2017 400.0

6.550% Senior Notes due 2037 400.0

$1 .200

As of December 31 2009 we had outstanding $399.8 mil

lion of 2012 senior notes consisting of $400 million prn

cipal and an unamortized debt discount of $0.2 million

The 2012 senior notes when issued in November 2007 were

priced at 99.911% with yield of 5.399% Interest payments

are due semiannually on February 15 and August 15

As of December 31 2009 we had outstanding $399.3 mil

lion of 2017 senior notes consisting of $400 million principal

and an unamortized debt discount of $0.7 million The 2017

senior notes when issued in November 2007 were priced at

99.76% with yield of 5.933% Interest payments are due

semiannually on April 15 and October 15

As of December 31 2009 we had outstanding $398.5 mil

lion of 2037 senior notes consisting of $400 million prui

cipal and an unamortized debt discount of $1.5 million

The 2037 senior notes when issued in November 2007 were

priced at 99.605% with yield of 6.580% Interest parnents

are due semiannually on May 15 and November IS

The size of our total commercial paper program remains

$1.2 billion and is supported by the revolving credit
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agreement
described below There were no commercial paper

borrowings outstanding at December 31 2009 Commercial

paper borrowings outstanding at December 31 2008 totaled

$70.0 million with an average interest rate and average term

of 1.4% and 29 days

On September 12 2008 we closed on two new revolving

credit facility agreements totaling $1.15 billion collectively

the 2008 credit facility to replace the existing $1.2 bil

lion five-year credit facility that expired on July 20 2009

The 2008 credit facility was with syndicate of fourteen

banks led by JP Morgan Chase and Bank of America The

previous credit facility was cancelled once the 2008 facility

became effective

On August 14 2009 we entered into new $433.3 million

364-day revolving credit facility the new 364-day facility

which replaces our existing $383.3 million 364-day credit

agreement entered into on September 12 2008 The previous

credit facility was cancelled after the new 364-day facility

became effective

The combined credit facility now totals $1.2 billion

and consists of two separate tranches $433.3 million

364-day facility that will terminate on August 13 2010

and $766.7 million 3-year facility that will terminate on

September 12 2011 We pay
commitment fee of

12.537.5 basis points for the new 364-day facility and

commitment fee of 1020 basis points for the 3-year facility

depending upon our credit rating whether or not amounts

have been borrowed At our current credit rating the com

mitment fee is 15 basis points for the new 364-day facility

and 12.5 basis points for the 3-year facility The interest

rate on borrowings under the credit facility is at our option

based on spread over the prevailing London Inter-Bank

Offer Rate LIBOR that is based on our credit rating

LIBOR loans or ii on the higher of the prime rate

which is the rate of interest publicly announced by the

administrative agent 0.5% plus the Federal funds rate or

LIBOR plus 1% ABR loans The interest rate spread

on LIBOR loans is calculated by multiplying the current

30 business day average of the CDX 5-year investment grade

index by percentage ranging from 75150% for the new

364-day facility and from 50100% for the 3-year facility

At our current credit rating the borrowing rate would be

75% of this index on the new 364-day facility and 50% on

the 3-year facility with minimum spread of 0.75% on the

new 364-day facility and 0.5% on the 3-year facility

We have the option at the termination of the new 364-day

facility to convert any revolving loans outstanding into term

loans for an additional year Term loans can be LIBOR loans

or ABR loans and would carry an additional spread of 1.0%

The credit facility contains certain covenants The only

financial covenant requires that we not exceed indebtedness

to cash flow ratio as defined in the new credit facility of

to This covenant is similar to the
previous

credit agree

ments and has never been exceeded There were no borrow

ings under either of the facilities as of December 31 2009

and 2008

We have the capacity to issue Extendible Commercial

Notes ECNs of up to $240 million provided that suf

ficient investor demand for the ECNs exists ECNs replicate

commercial paper except that we have an option to extend

the note beyond its initial redemption date to maximum

final maturity of 390 days However if exercised such an

extension is at higher reset rate which is at predeter

mined spread over LIBOR and is related to our commercial

paper rating at the time of extension As result of the exten

sion option no backup facilities for these borrowings are

required As is the case with commercial paper ECNs have

no financial covenants There were no ECN borrowings out

standing as of December 31 2009 and 2008 In the current

credit environment the ECN market is not available and we

have no plans to utilize this market

On April 19 2007 we signed promissory note with one

of our providers of banking services to enable us to borrow

additional funds on an uncommitted basis from time

to time to supplement our commercial paper
and ECN

borrowings The specific terms principal interest rate and

maturity date of each borrowing governed by this promis

sory note are determined on the borrowing date of each

loan These borrowings have no financial covenants There

were no promissory note borrowings outstanding as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 In the current credit environ

ment the market for these instruments is currently not avail

able and we have no plans to utilize them in the short-term

On January 2009 we transferred most of Standard

Poors U.S properties and assets from division to newly-

formed wholly-owned subsidiary This action was done to

address future operational and financial conditions and

will not affect the ongoing conduct of Standard Poors

businesses including the credit ratings business

In conjunction with this reorganization series of supple

mental agreements were executed They include supplemen

tal indenture for our $1.2 billion senior notes three tranches

of $400 million due in 2012 2017 and 2037 amendments

to our $1.15 billion Credit Agreement including both

the 2008 364-day terminated on August 14 2009 and the

3-year agreements amendments to the commercial paper

issuing and paying agency agreement with JP Morgan and

amended and restated commercial paper dealer agreements

with JP Morgan Morgan Stanley and Merrill Lynch

The 2008 364-day facility was terminated after the 2009

364-day facility became effective in August 2009 The

2009 364-day facility which brought the total credit facility
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES continued

amount to $1.2 billion also included guarantee similar to

those in the supplemental agreement All of these agreements

and amendments provide that the new SP subsidiary will

guarantee the senior notes issued pursuant to the indenture

amounts borrowed under the credit agreement and the

commercial paper

DIVIDENDS

On January 20 2010 the Board of Directors approved

an increase in the quarterly common stock dividend from

$0.225 to $0235 per share On January 28 2009 the Board

of Directors approved an increase in the quarterly common

stock dividend from $0.22 to $0.225 per share

SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

On January 24 2006 the Board of Directors approved

stock repurchase program the 2006 program authoriz

ing the repurchase of up to 45.0 million shares which was

approximately 12.1% of our total outstanding common

stock at that time At December 31 2006 authorization

for the repurchase of 20.0 million shares remained under

the 2006 program

On January 31 2007 the Board of Directors approved an

additional stock repurchase program the 2007 program

authorizing the repurchase of up to 45.0 million shares which

was approximately 12.7% of our total outstanding common

stock at that time

During 2007 we repurchased 37.0 million shares which

included 20.0 million shares remaining under the 2006

program for $2.2 billion at an average price of $59.80

At December 31 2007 authorization for the repurchase

of 28.0 million shares remained under the 2007 program

During 2008 we repurchased 10.9 million shares for

$447.2 million at an average price of $41.03 The repurchased

shares are used for general corporate purposes including the

issuance of shares in connection with the exercise of employee

stock options Purchases under this program were made from

time to time on the open market and in private transactions

depending on market conditions At December 31 2008

authorization for the repurchase of 17.1 million shares

remained under the 2007 program

During 2009 we did not repurchase any shares

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign

exchange rates We have operations in various foreign coun

tries For most international operations the functional cur

rency is the local currency For international operations that

are determined to be extensions of the Parent Company the

U.S dollar is the functional currency For hyper-infiationary

economies the functional currency is the U.S dollar In the

normal course of business these operations are exposed to

fluctuations in currency values We do not generally enter

into derivative financial instruments in the normal course of

business nor are such instruments used for speculative pur

poses We have no such instruments outstanding at this time

We typically have naturally hedged positions in most coun

tries from local currency perspective with offsetting assets

and liabilities The gross amount of our foreign exchange

balance sheet exposure from operations is $189.0 million as

of December 31 2009 We have estimated using an undiversi

fled average value-at-risk analysis with 95% confidence level

that the foreign exchange gains and losses should not exceed

$35.1 million over the next year based on the historical

volatilities of the portfolio

Our net interest expense is sensitive to changes in the gen

eral level of U.S and foreign interest rates Based on average

debt and investments outstanding over the past year the

following is the projected annual impact on interest expense

on current operations

Percent change Proiected annual prctax impact

in interest tates on operations

mu lions

1% $7.3

RECENTLY IS SUED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note to our consolidated financial statements for

disclosure of the impact that recently issued accounting

standards will have on our financial statements
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We typically have various contractual obligations which are recorded as liabilities in the consolidated financial statements

Other items such as certain purchase commitments and other executory contracts are not recognized as liabilities in the

consolidated financial statements but are disclosed herein For example we are contractually committed to acquire paper and

other printing services and broadcast programming and make certain minimum lease payments for the use of property under

operating lease agreements

We believe that the amount of cash and cash equivalents on hand cash flow expected from operations and availability

under our credit facilities will be adequate for us to execute our business strategy and meet anticipated requirements for lease

obligations capital expenditures working capital and debt service for 2010

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commercial commitments at December 31 2009

over the next several years Additional details regarding these obligations are provided in the notes to our consolidated financial

statements as referenced in the footnotes to the table

Less than

in millions Total Year 13 Years 45 Years After Years

Outstanding debt1 $1200.2 400.2 800.0

Operating leases2 1584.3 194.1 339.1 288.4 762.7

Pension and postretirement obligations3 427.6 18.2 38.2 40.6 330.6

Paper and other printing services4 1373.9 308.5 581.8 457.6 26.0

Purchase obligations 122.6 68.6 28.3 21.9 3.8

Other contractual obligations56 34.4 17.2 14.9 2.3

Unconditional purchase obligations7 70.4 38.4 30.1 1.9

Total contractual cash obligations $4813.4 $645.0 $1432.6 $812.7 $1923.1

Our long-term debt obligations are described in Note to the consolidated financial statements

Our operating lease obligations are described in Note to the consolidated financial statements Amounts shown include taxes and escalation

Our pension and postretirement medical benefit plans are described in Notes and 10 to the consolidated financial statements

Included in the category of paper and other printing services are contracts to purchase paper and printing services While the contracts do have
target

volume commitments there are no contractual terms that
require us to purchase specified amount of goods or services If

significant
volume shortfalls were

to occur over the long term during contract period then revised contractual terms may be renegotiated with the supplier These obligations are not recorded

in our consolidated financial statements until contract payment terms take effect

We have various contractual commitments for the purchase of broadcast rights for various television programming

Our commitments under creative talent agreements include obligations to producers sports personnel executives and television personalities

significant portion of our unconditional purchase obligations represents commitment for contracts with ATT and Verizon for data voice and optical

network transport services and contractual obligations with Microsoft IBM and Oracle for enterprise-wide IT software licensing and maintenance

As of December 31 2009 we had $37.8 million of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits We have excluded the liabilities

for unrecognized tax benefits from our contractual obligations table because reasonable estimates of the timing of cash settlements

with the respective taxing authorities are not practicable
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS

At December 31 2009 and 2008 we did not have any rela

tionships with unconsolidated entities such as entities often

referred to as specific purpose or variable interest entities

where we are the primary beneficiary which would have

been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance

sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited

purposes As such we are not exposed to any financial liquid

ity market or credit risk that could arise if it had engaged in

such relationships

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT
UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

This section as well as other portions of this document

includes certain forward-looking statements about our busi

nesses and our prospects new products sales expenses tax

rates cash flows prepublication investments and operating

and capital requirements Such forward-looking statements

include but are not limited to the strength and sustainabil

ity
of the U.S and global economy the duration and depth

of the current recession Educational Publishings level of

success in 2010 adoptions and in open territories and enroll

ment and demographic trends the level of educational fund

ing the strength of School Education including the testing

market Higher Education Professional and International

publishing markers and the impact of technology on them

the level of interest rates and the strength of the economy

profit levels and the capital markets in the U.S and abroad

the level of success of new product development and global

expansion and strength of domestic and international

markets the demand and marker for debr ratings includ

ing
collateralized debt obligations CDO residential and

commercial mortgage and asset-backed securities and related

asset classes the continued difficulties in the credit markets

and their impact on Standard Poors and the economy in

general the regulatory environment affecting Standard

Poors the level of merger and acquisition activity in the U.S

and abroad the strength of the domestic and international

advertising markets the strength and the performance of the

domestic and international automotive markets the volatility

of the energy marketplace the contract value of public works

manufacturing and single-family unit construction the level

of political advertising and the level of future cash flow debt

levels manufacturing expenses distribution expenses

prepublicarion amortization and depreciation expense income

tax rates capital technology restructuring charges and other

expenditures and prepublicarion cost investment

Actual results may differ materially from those in any

forward-looking statements because any such sratements

involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based

upon various important factors including but not limited to

worldwide economic financial political and regulatory condi

tions currency
and foreign exchange volatility the health of

debt and equity markets including interest rates credit qual

ity
and spreads the level of liquidity future debt issuances

including residential and commercial mortgage-backed securi

ties and CDOs backed by residential mortgages and related

asset classes the implementation of an expanded regulatory

scheme affecting Standard Poors ratings and services the

level of funding in the education market both domestically

and internationally the pace of recovery in advertising

continued investment by the construction automotive com

puter and aviation industries the successful marketing of new

products and the effect of competitive products and
pricing
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Years ended December31 in thousands except per
share data

Revenue

Product

Service

Total
Revenue

Expenses

Operating-related

Product

Service

Operating-related Expenses

Selling and general NOTE 14

Product

Service

Selling and General Expenses

Depreciation

Amortization of intangibles

Total Expenses

Other loss/income net NOTE

Income from Operations

Interest expense net

Income before Taxes on Income

Provision for taxes on income

Net income

Less net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to the McGraw-Hill Companies Inc

Earnings per
Common Share

Basic

Diluted

Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding

Basic

Diluted

Dividend Declared Per Common Share

2.34 2.53 3.01

2.33 2.51 2.94

312223 315559 336210

313296 318687 344785

0.90 0.88 0.82

See accompanying notes

2009 2008

$2362235 $2582553

3589547 3T2502

________ ________
5951782 6355055

2007

$2604432

4167849

6772281

1129519

1398081

2527600

1014070

1410015

2424085

112586

48403

5112674

17305

1676912

40581

1636331

608973

1027358

13799

1132302

1253705

2386007

897946

1243305

2141251

112764

52720

4692742

_______
3304

1255736

76867

1178869

429108

749761

19259

1181322

1337108

2518430

998989

1284606

2283595

119849

58497

4980371

1374684

75624

1299060

479695

819365

19874

730502 799491 $1013559



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31 in thousands except share data

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and equivalents

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable net of allowances for doubtful accounts and

sales returns 2009 $276110 2008 $268685
Inventories

Finished goods

Work-in-process

Paper and other materials

Total inventories

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid and other current assets

Total current assets

Prepublication Costs net of accumulated amortization

2009 $1005114 2008 $943022
Investments and Other Assets

Assets for pension benefits

Deferred income taxes

Other

Total investments and other assets

Property and Equipment At Cost

Land

Buildings and leasehold improvements

Equipment and furniture

2009 2008

$1209927 471671

24602

969662 1.060858

349203

4359

16117

369679

285364

115151

2936396 2302723

460843 552534

13841

575850

984260

1.573951

952889

1062

1.703240

202065

162307

226758

2229242 2294370

$6475250 $6080142

290415

3858

6956

301229

278414

152562

78522

24072

166379

268973

.52994

79559

.176900

309453

14281

598472

957697

Total property and equipment 1570450

Less accumulated depreciation 990654

Net property and equipment 579796

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill net 1690507

Indefinite-lived intangible assets 202065

Copyrights net 146239

Other_intangible
assets net 190431

Net goodwill and other intangible assets

Total Assets

See accompanying notes
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2009

Liabilities and Equity

Current Liabilities

Notes payable

Accounts payable

Accrued royalties

Accrued compensation and contributions to retirement plans

Income taxes currently payable

Unearned revenue

Deferred gain on sale leaseback

Other current liabilities

22 70022

337459

111471

420515

17209

1099167

10726

464134

301828

114157

450673

17086

1115357

11236

441595

Total current liabilities
2451954 2530703

Other Liabilities

Long-term debt
1197791 1197611

Deferred income taxes 9965 3406

Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 511683 606331

Deferred gain on sale leaseback 147838 159115

Other non-current liabilities
226842 230105

Total other liabilities
2094119 2196568

Total liabilities
4546073 4727271

Commitments and Contingencies NOTES AND 15

Equity

Common stock $1 par value authorized 600000000 shares

issued 411709328 shares in 2009 and 2008 411709 411709

Additional paid-in capital
5125 55150

Retained income 6522613 6070793

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 343017 444022

Less Common stock in treasury at cost 96368589 shares in 2009

and 97303901 shares in 2008 4749143 4811294

Total equity controlling interests 1847287 1282336

Total equity noncontrolling interests 81890 70535

Total equity
1929177 1352871

Total Liabilities and Equity
6475250 6080142

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2009

112764

52720

270469

31635

5688

22268

3304

2377

50313

67645

11807
79

25619

14453
17892
29711

119849

58497

270442

27098

17
934

16029

95070

26482
1702

2423P
25145

26317

-354

4701

Years ended December in thousands

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income 749761 819165 I02358
Adlustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation 12586
Amortization of intangibles 48401
Amortization of prepublication costs 240182
Provision for losses on accounts receivable

14991
Net change in deferred income taxes 46615
Stock-based compensation 24692

Loss/gain on disposition of businesses net 21412
Other 1160

Change in operating assets and liabilities net of effect of acquisitions and dispositions

Accounts receivable 1448
Inventories

1601

Prepaid and other current assets 471
Accounts payable and accrued

expenses 34840
Unearned revenue 868
Other current liabilities 16 36

Net change in prepaid/accrued income taxes 36940
Net change in other assets and liabilities 6401

Cash provided by operating activities 1320779 1168751 1695
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Investment in prepublication costs 176996 254106 298984
Purchase of property and equipment 68526 105978 229609
Acquisition of businesses and equity interests 4826
Disposition of businesses and property and equipment 15196 440 62261
Additions to technology projects 23764 25353 16654

Change in short-term investments 24602 --

Cash used for investing activities 278692 433258 569693

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Dividends paid to shareholders 281553 280455 27746
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net 1188.803

Payments/additions on short-term debt net 70000 70000 2345
Repurchase of treasury shares 442 33 22 2655
Exercise of stock options 25174 41420 14686
Excess tax benefit from share-based payments 329 3981 15.849

Cash used for financing activities 326050 61 228 112 122
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 22219 47633 1656

Net change in cash and equivalents 738256 75575 42598
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year 471671 396096 53498

Cash and equivalents atend of year S1209927 47167 396096

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

in thousands except per
share data

_______

Balance at December 31 2006

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrealized gain on investment net of tax

Pension and other postretirement benefit

plans net of tax

Comprehensive Income

Adjustment to initially apply FIN 48

Dividends

Share repurchases

Employee stock plans net of tax benefit

Other

Balance at December 31 2007

Net income

Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency
translation adjustment

Unrealized loss on investment net of tax

Pension and other postretirement

benefit plans net of tax

Comprehensive Income

Dividends

Share repurchases

Employee stock plans net of tax benefit

Other

70224

11 35862

5174
3747 281493

2212655
306384

167 4720 4795

411709 169187 5551757 12623 4513380 71112 1677762

799491 19874 819365

331273 65 331208

376873

9297 289752

447233 447233

149319 35282

61 61

70535 1352871

Accumulated Less

Additional othcr common stock Non-

Common stock paid-in
Retained comprehensive in treasury controlling

-_______
$1 par capital income loss at cost interests Total

$411709 $114596 $4821118 $115212 $2552593 $50425 $2730043

1013559 13799 1027358

28618

3747

5915 34533

3747

5174
277746

54683

92

2212655

251701

96683
3443

11158 107841

3443

280455

114037

Balance at December 31 2008 411709 55150 6070793 444022 4811294

Net income 730502 19259 749761

Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment 43023 3596 46619

Unrealized gain on investment net of tax 1655 1655

Pension and other postretirement

benefit plans net of tax 56327 96 56231

Comprehensive Income
854266

Dividends 278682 9162 287844

Employee stock plans net of tax benefit 50025 62151 12126

Other 2242 2242

Balance at December 31 2009 $411709 5125 $6522613 $343017 $4749143 $81890 1929177

See accompanying notes
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NATURE OF OPERATIONS We are leading global infor

mation services provider serving the financial services

education and business information markets with informa

tion products and services Other markets include energy

automotive construction aerospace and defense broadcast

ing and marketing information services The operations

consist of three business segments McGraw-Hill Education

Financial Services and Information Media

The McGraw-Hill Education
segment is one of the premier

global educational publishers This segment consists of

two operating groups the School Education Group SEG
serving the elementary and high school el-hi markets

and the Higher Education Professional and International

HPI Group serving the college professional interna

tional and adult education markets

The Financial Services segment operates under the

Standard Poors brand This segment provides services

to investors corporations governments financial institu

tions investment managers and advisors globally The seg

ment and the markets it serves are impacted by interest rates

the state of global economies credit quality and investor

confidence The segment consists of two operating groups

Credit Market Services and Investment Services Credit

Market Services provides independent global credit ratings

credit risk evaluations and ratings-related information and

products Investment Services provides comprehensive value-

added financial data information indices and research

The Information Media
segment includes business

professional and broadcast media offering information

insight and analysis and consists of two operating groups

the Business-to-Business Group including such brands as

J.D Power and Associates McGraw-Hill Construction

Platts and Aviation Week and the Broadcasting Group
which operates nine television stations four ABC affiliated

and five Azteca America affiliated stations

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION The consolidated finan

cial statements include the accounts of all subsidiaries and our

share of earnings or losses of joint ventures and affiliated com
panies under the equity method of accounting All significant

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

USE OF ESTIMATES The preparation of financial state

ments in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial

statements and accompanying notes Actual results could

differ from those estimates

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Cash and cash equiva

lents include ordinary bank deposits and highly liquid

investments with original maturities of three months or

less that consist primarily of money market funds with

unrestricted daily liquidity and fixed term time deposits

Such investments and bank deposits are stated at cost

which approximates market value and were $1.2 billion and

$471.7 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

These investments are not subject to significant market risk

SHORT-TERM IN VESTMENTS Short-term investments

are securities with original maturities greater than 90 days

that are available for use in our operations in the next twelve

months The short-term investments primarily consisting

of certificates of deposit are classified as held-to-maturity

and therefore are carried at cost Interest and dividends are

recorded into income when earned

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE Credit is extended to customers

based upon an evaluation of the customers financial condi

tion Accounts receivable are recorded at net realizable value

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS AND SALES

RETURNS The allowance for doubtful accounts reserve

methodology is based on historical analysis review of

outstanding balances and current conditions In determin

ing these reserves we consider amongst other factors

the financial condition and risk profile of our customers

areas of specific or concentrated risk as well as applicable

industry trends or market indicators significant estimate

in the McGraw-Hill Education segment and particularly

within the HPI Group is the allowance for sales returns

which is based on the historical rate of return and current

market conditions

INVENTORIES Inventories are stated at the lower of cost

first-in first-out or market significant estimate in the

McGraw-Hill Education segment is the reserve for inventory

obsolescence In determining this reserve we consider man

agements current assessment of the marketplace industry

trends and projected product demand as compared to the

number of units currently on hand

PREPUBLICAT1ON COSTS Prepublication costs princi

pally external preparation costs are amortized from the year

of publication over their estimated useful lives one to six

years using either an accelerated or straight-line method

The majority of the programs are amortized using an accel

erated methodology We periodically evaluate the amortiza

tion methods rates remaining lives and recoverability of

such costs which are sometimes dependent upon program

acceptance by state adoption authorities In evaluating recov

erability we consider managements current assessment of

the marketplace industry trends and the projected success

of programs

DEFERRED TECHNOLOGY COSTS We capitalize certain

software development and website implementation costs

Capitalized costs only include incremental direct costs of

materials and services incurred to develop the software

after the preliminary project stage is completed tundiiit

has been committed and it is probable that the project will

be completed and used to perform the function intended

Incremental costs are expenditures that are out-of-pocket to
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us and are not part of an allocation or existing expense base

Software development and website implementation costs are

expensed as incurred during the preliminary project stage

Capitalized costs are amortized from the year the software is

ready for its intended use over its estimated useful life three

to seven years using the straight-line method Periodically

we evaluate the amortization methods remaining lives and

recoverability of such costs Capitalized software develop

ment and website implementation costs are included in

other non-current assets and are presented net of accumu

lated amortization Gross deferred technology costs were

$147.8 million and $145.2 million at December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively Accumulated amortization of deferred

technology costs was $105.5 million and $96.9 million at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED

ASSETS INCLUDING OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS We

evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount

of an asset may not be recoverable Upon such an occurrence

recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by

comparing the carrying amount of an asset to current fore

casts of undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be

generated by the asset If the carrying amount of the asset

exceeds its estimated future cash flows an impairment charge

is recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying

amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset For

long-lived assets held for sale assets are written down to fair

value less cost to sell Fair value is determined based on mar

ket evidence discounted cash flows appraised values or man

agements estimates depending upon the nature of the assets

There were no material impairments of long-lived assets for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

GOODWILL AND OTHER INDEFINITE-LIVED

INTANGIBLE ASSETS Goodwill represents the excess of pur
chase price and related costs over the value assigned to the

net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of businesses

acquired As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the carrying

value of goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets

was approximately $1.9 billion in each year Goodwill and

other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amor

tized but instead are tested for impairment annually or more

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the asset might be impaired

We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill using two-

step impairment test approach at the reporting unit level In

the first step the estimated fair value of the reporting unit

is compared to its carrying value including goodwill Fair

value of the reporting units are estimated using discounted

free cash flow DCF analyses and are corroborated using

Market Approaches principally the guideline public company

method The DCF analyses are based on the current operat

ing budgets and estimated long-term growth projections for

each reporting unit Free cash flow is discounted based on

market comparable weighted average cost of capital rate

for each reporting unit adjusted for market and other risks

where appropriate In addition we analyze any difference

between the sum of the fair values of the reporting units and

our total market capitalization for reasonableness taking

into account certain factors including control premiums

If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carry

ing value second step is performed which compares the

implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill to the car

rying value of the goodwill The fair value of the goodwill

is determined based on the difference between the fair value

of the reporting unit and the net fair value of the identifiable

assets and liabilities of the reporting unit If the implied fair

value of the goodwill is less than the carrying value the dif

ference is recognized as an impairment charge Significant

judgments inherent in this analysis include estimating the

amount of and timing of future cash flows and the selection

of appropriate discount rates and long-term growth rate

assumptions Changes in these estimates and assumptions

could materially affect the determination of fair value for

each reporting unit and for some of the reporting units could

result in an impairment charge which could be material to

our financial position and results of operations

We evaluate the recoverability of indefinite lived intangible

assets by comparing the estimated fair value of the intan

gible asset to its carrying value The fair value of the J.D

Power and Associates trade name is estimated using the

Income Approach The fair values of our FCC licenses are

estimated using the Greenfield Approach If the indefinite

life intangible asset carrying value exceeds its fair value an

impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that

excess Significant judgments inherent in these analyses

include estimating the amount and timing of future cash

flows and the selection of appropriate discount rates royalty

rates broadcast market shares and long-term growth rate

assumptions Changes in these estimates and assumptions

could materially affect the determination of fair value for

each indefinite life intangible asset and could result in an

impairment charge which could be material to our financial

position and results of operations

We performed our impairment assessment of goodwill

and indefinite lived intangible assets and concluded that no

impairment existed for the years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION We have opera

tions in many foreign countries For most international

operations the local currency is the functional currency

For international operations that are determined to be exten

sions of the Parent Company the U.S dollar is the functional

currency For local currency operations assets and liabilities

are translated into U.S dollars using end of period exchange

rates and revenue and expenses are translated into U.S
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dollars using weighted-average exchange rates Foreign cur

rency translation adjustments are accumulated in separate

component of equity

REVENUE RECOGNITION Revenue is recognized as it is

earned when goods are shipped to customers or services

are rendered We consider amounts to be earned once evi

dence of an arrangement has been obtained services are

performed fees are fixed or determinable and collectability

is reasonably assured Revenue relating to products that pro
vide for more than one deliverable is recognized based upon

the relative fair value to the customer of each deliverable as

each deliverable is provided Revenue relating to agreements

that provide for more than one service is recognized based

upon the relative fair value to the customer of each service

component as each component is earned If the fair value to

the customer for each service is not objectively determinable

revenue is recorded as unearned and recognized ratably over

the service period Fair value is determined for each service

component through bifurcation analysis that relies upon

the pricing of similar cash arrangements that are not part

of the multi-element arrangement Advertising revenue is rec

ognized when the page is run or the spot is aired Subscription

income is recognized over the related subscription period

During the first quarter of 2009 J.D Power and

Associates began transitioning number of syndicated stud

ies to an online service platform This resulted in $11.4 mil

lion of revenue and $7.1 million of operating profit that

would have been recognized in 2009 to be deferred and will

be recognized over the service period

Product revenue consists of the educational and informa

tion products primarily books magazine circulations and

syndicated study products of the McGraw-Hill Education

and Information Media segments Service revenue consists

of the Financial Services segment the service assessment

contracts of the McGraw-Hill Education segment and infor

mation-related services and advertising of the Information

Media segment

SHIPPING AND HANDLING COSTS All amounts billed to

customers in sales transaction for shipping and handling

are classified as revenue

DEPRECIATION The costs of property and equipment

are depreciated using the straight-line method based upon

the following estimated useful lives buildings and improve

ments 15 to 40 years equipment and furniture two to

10 years The costs of leasehold improvements are amortized

over the lesser of the useful lives or the terms of the respec

tive leases

ADVERTISING EXPENSE The cost of advertising is

expensed as incurred We incurred $54.1 million $67.3 mil

lion and $80.8 million in advertising costs in 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION Stock-based compen
sation expense is measured at the grant date based on the

fair value of the award and is recognized over the requisite

service period which typically is the vesting period Stock-

based compensation is classified as both operating expense

and selling and general expense on the consolidated state

ment of income

INCOME TAXES Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to

differences between financial statement carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted

tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the

years in which those temporary differences are expected to

be recovered or settled We recognize liabilities for uncertain

tax positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax

returns Accrued interest and penalties related to unrecog

nized tax benefits are recognized in interest expense and

operating expense respectively

Judgment is required in determining our provision

for income taxes deferred tax assets and liabilities and

unrecognized tax benefits In determining the need for

valuation allowance the historical and projected finan

cial performance of the operation that is recording net

deferred tax asset is considered along with any other

pertinent information

We file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdic

tion various states and foreign jurisdictions and we are

routinely under audit by many different tax authorities

We believe that our accrual for tax liabilities is adequate

for all open audit years based on our assessment of many

factors including past experience and interpretations of tax

law This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions

and may involve series of complex judgments about future

events It is possible that examinations will be settled prior

to December 31 2010 If any of these tax audit settlements

do occur within that period we would make any necessary

adjustments to the accrual for unrecognized tax benefits

Until formal resolutions are reached between us and the

tax authorities the determination of possible audit settle

ment range with respect to the impact on unrecognized tax

benefits is not practicable On the basis of present informa

tion our opinion is that any assessments resulting from the

current audits will not have material effect on our consoli

dated financial statements

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS In

October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB issued FASB Accounting Standards Update

FASB ASU No 09-13 Revenue Recognition Topic 605

Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements consensus

of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force FASB ASU 09-13

FASB ASU 09-13 updates the existing multiple-element

arrangement guidance currently in FASB ASC 605-25

Revenue Recognition-Multiple-Element-Arrangements

This new guidance eliminates the requirement that all

undelivered elements have objective and reliable evidence
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of fair value before company can recognize the portion of

the overall arrangement fee that is attributable to the items

that have already been delivered Further companies will

he required to allocate revenue in arrangements involving

multiple deliverables based on estimated selling price of

each deliverable even though such deliverables are not sold

separately by either the company itself or other vendors

This new guidance also significantly expands the disclo

sures required for multiple-element revenue arrangements

The revised guidance will be effective for the fiscal
year

ending December 31 2011 We are currently evaluating

the impact FASB ASU 09-13 will have on our consolidated

financial statements

In December 2008 the FASB issued FASB Accounting

Standards Codification 715-20-65-2 Compensation

Retirement Benefits FASB ASC 715-20-65-2 FASB

ASC 715-20-65-2 provides guidance on an employers disclo

sure about plan assets of defined benefit pension or other

postretirement plan We adopted FASB ASC 715-20-65-2 on

December 31 2009 and the initial adoption did not have

material impact on our consolidated financial statements

In the third quarter of 2009 we adopted the FASB ASC 105

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles FASB ASC

105 FASB ASC 105 establishes the FASB ASC as the source

of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB

to be applied to nongovernmental entities in preparation of

financial statements in conformity with Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles The adoption did not have material

impact on our consolidated financial statements

In the second quarter of 2009 we adopted FASB ASC 855

Subsequent Events FASB ASC 855 FASB ASC 855

sets forth general standards of accounting
for and disclosure

of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before

financial statements are issued or are available to be issued

We have evaluated subsequent events through February 24

2010 which represents the date the financial statements are

issued The adoption did not have material impact on our

consolidated financial statements

Effective January 2009 we adopted FASB ASC 810-10-

65-1 Consolidation FASB ASC 810-10-65-1 which

establishes accounting and reporting standards for any non-

controlling interest in subsidiary and for the deconsolida

tion of subsidiary FASB ASC 810-10-65-1 clarifies that

noncontrolling interest in subsidiary should be reported

as component of equity in the consolidated financial state

ments and requires disclosure on the face of the consolidated

statement of income of the amounts of consolidated net

income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling

interests Accordingly certain amounts in prior year periods

presented have been reclassified to reflect the adoption of

FASB ASC 10-10-65-1

RECLASSIFICATION Certain prior year amounts have

been reclassified for comparability purposes

ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSITIONS

ACQUISITIONS In 2009 we did not make any acquisitions

In 2008 we paid $48.3 million for the acquisition of several

businesses and for purchase price adjustments from our

prior years acquisitions In 2007 we paid $86.7 million for

the acquisition of several businesses and for purchase price

adjustments from our prior years acquisitions All of these

acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net

assets acquired was allocated to goodwill and other intan

gibles Intangible assets recorded for all current transactions

are amortized using the straight-line method for periods not

exceeding 18 years

NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES Liabilities assumed

in conjunction with the acquisition of businesses are as follows

in millions 2009

Fair value of assets acquired

Cash paid net of cash acquired

All of these acquisitions are immaterial to us individually

and in the aggregate

DISPOSITIONS In May 2009 we sold our Vista Research

Inc business which was part of our Financial Services seg

ment This business was selected for divestiture as it no

longer fit within our strategic plans This divestiture enables

the Financial Services segment to focus on its core business

of providing independent research ratings data indices and

portfolio services We recognized pre-tax loss of $13.8 mil

lion $8.8 million after-tax or $0.03 per diluted share

recorded as other loss/income net

In December 2009 we sold Business Week which was part

of our Information Media segment This business was

selected for divestiture as it no longer fit within our stra

tegic plans We recognized pre-tax gain of $10.5 million

$6.7 million after tax or $0.02 per diluted share

In 2008 we did not make any dispositions

In 2007 we sold our mutual fund data business which

was part of the Financial Services segment This business was

selected for divestiture as it no longer fit within our strate

gic plans The divestiture of the mutual fund data business

enables the Financial Services segment to focus on its core

business of providing independent research ratings data

indices and portfolios services We recognized pre-tax

gain of $17.3 million $10.3 million after-tax or $0.03 per

diluted share

In 2007 all dispositions including the sale of the mutual

fund data business were immaterial to us individually and in

the aggregate

Liabilities assumed

2008 2007

$50.8 $102.5

48.3 86.7

2.5 15.8
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DEBT AND OTHER
COMMITMENTS

summary of short-term and long-term debt outstanding as

of December 31 is as follows

in millions 2009 2008

5.375% Senior Notes due 2012a 399.8 399.7

5.900% Senior Notes due 2017b 399.3 399.1

6.550% Senior Notes due 2037C 398.5 398.5

Commercial paper 0.0 70.0

Notes_payable
0.2 0.3

Total debt 1197.8 1267.6

Less Short-term debt including

current maturities 0.0 70.0

Long-term debt $1197.8 $1197.6

SENIOR NOTES

As of December 31 2009 we had outstanding $399.8 mil

lion of 2012 senior notes consisting of $400 million principal

and an unamortized debt discount of $0.2 million The 2012

senior notes when issued in November 2007 were priced at

99.911% with yield of 5.399% Interest payments are due

semiannually on February 15 and August 15

As of December 31 2009 the Company had outstanding

$399.3 million of 2017 senior notes consisting of $400 mil

lion principal and an unamortized debt discount of $0.7 million

The 2017 senior notes when issued in November 2007 were

priced at 99.76% with yield of 5.933% Interest payments

are due semiannually on April 15 and October 15

As of December 31 2009 the Company had outstanding

$398.5 million of 2037 senior notes consisting of $400 mil

lion principal and an unamortized debt discount of $1.5 million

The 2037 senior notes when issued in November 2007 were

priced at 99.605% with yield of 6.580% Interest payments

are due semiannually on May 15 and November 15

AVAILABLE FINANCING The size of our total commercial

paper program remains $1.2 billion and is supported by the

revolving credit agreement described below There were no

commercial paper borrowings outstanding at December 31

2009 Commercial paper borrowings outstanding at

December 31 2008 totaled $70.0 million with an average

interest rate and average term of 1.4% and 29 days

On September 12 2008 we closed on two new revolving

credit facility agreements totaling $1.15 billion collectively

the 2008 credit facility to replace the existing $1.2 billion

five-year credit facility that expired on July 20 2009 The

2008 credit facility was with syndicate of 14 banks led by

Morgan Chase and Bank of America The previous credit

facility was cancelled once the 2008 facility became effective

On August 14 2009 we entered into new $433.3 million

364-day revolving credit facility the new 364-day facility

which replaces our existing $383.3 million 364-day credit

agreement entered into on September 12 2008 The previous

credit facility was cancelled after the new 364-day facility

became effective

The combined credit facility now totals $1.2 billion and

consists of two separate tranches $433.3 million 364-day

facility that will terminate on August 132010 and $7667 mil

lion 3-year facility that will terminate on September 12 2011

We pay commitment fee of 12.537.5 basis points for the

new 364-day facility and commitment fee of 1020 basis

points for the 3-year facility depending upon our credit rat

ing whether or not amounts have been borrowed At our

current credit rating the commitment fee is 15 basis points

for the new 364-day facility and 12.5 basis points for the

3-year facility The interest rate on borrowings under the

credit facility is at our option based on spread over the

prevailing London Inter-Bank Offer Rate LIBOR that

is based on our credit rating LIBOR loans or ii on the

higher of the prime rate which is the rate of interest pub

licly
announced by the administrative agent 0.5% plus

the Federal funds rate or LIBOR plus 1% ABR loans

The interest rate spread on LIBOR loans is calculated by

multiplying the current 30 business day average of the CDX

5-year investment grade index by percentage ranging from

75150% for the new 364-day facility and from 50100%

for the 3-year facility At our current credit rating the bor

rowing rate would be 75% of this index on the new 364-day

facility and 50% on the 3-year facility with minimum

spread of 0.75% on the new 364-day facility and 0.5% on

the 3-year facility

We have the option at the termination of the new 364-day

facility to convert any revolving loans outstanding into term

loans for an additional year Term loans can be LIBOR loans

or ABR loans and would carry an additional spread of 1.0%

The credit facility contains certain covenants The only

financial covenant requires that we not exceed indebtedness

to cash flow ratio as defined in the new credit facility of

to This covenant is similar to the previous credit agree

ments and has never been exceeded There were no borrow

ings under either of the facilities as of December 31 2009

and 2008

We have the capacity to issue Extendible Commercial

Notes ECNs of up to $240 million provided that suf

ficient investor demand for the ECNs exists ECNs rep

licate commercial paper except that we have an option

to extend the note beyond its initial redemption date to

maximum final maturity of 390 days However if exer

cised such an extension is at higher reset rate which is at
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predetermined spread over LIBOR and is related to our

commercial paper rating at the time of extension As result

of the extension option no backup facilities for these bor

rowings are required As is the case with commercial paper

ECNs have no financial covenants There were no ECN bor

rowings outstanding as of December 31 2009 and 2008 In

the current credit environment the ECN market is not avail

able and we have no plans to utilize this market

On April 19 2007 we signed promissory note with one

of our providers of banking services to enable us to borrow

additional funds on an uncommitted basis from time

to time to supplement our commercial paper and ECN

borrowings The specific terms principal interest rate and

maturity date of each borrowing governed by this promis

sory note are determined on the borrowing date of each

loan These borrowings have no financial covenants There

were no promissory note borrowings outstanding as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 In the current credit environ

ment the market for these instruments is currently not avail

able and we have no plans to utilize them in the short-term

On January 2009 we transferred most of Standard

Poors U.S properties and assets from division to newly-

formed wholly-owned subsidiary This action was done to

address future operational and financial conditions and

will not affect the ongoing conduct of Standard Poors

businesses including the credit ratings business

In conjunction with this reorganization series of supple

mental agreements were executed They include supplemen

tal indenture for our $1.2 billion senior notes three tranches

of $400 million due in 2012 2017 and 2037 amendments

to our $1.15 billion Credit Agreement including both the

2008 364-day terminated on August 14 2009 and the

3-year agreements amendments to the commercial paper

issuing and paying agency agreement with JP Morgan and

amended and restated commercial paper dealer agreements

with JP Morgan Morgan Stanley and Merrill Lynch The 2008

364-day facility was terminated after the 2009 364-day facil

ity
became effective in August 2009 The 2009 364-day facility

which brought the total credit facility amount to $1.2 billion

also included guarantee similar to those in the supplemen

tal agreement All of these agreements
and amendments pro

vide that the new SP subsidiary will guarantee the senior

notes issued pursuant to the indenture amounts borrowed

under the credit agreement
and the commercial paper

Long-term debt was $1197.8 million and $1197.6 mil

lion as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The

carrying amount of our borrowings approximates fair value

at December 31 2009 We paid interest on our debt totaling

$71.4 million in 2009 $71.9 million in 2008 and $44.1 mil

lion in 2007

Aggregate requirements for long-term debt maturities dur

ing the next five years are as follows 2010 through 2011 no

amounts due 2012 $400.0 million 2013 through 2014

no amounts due

As of December 31 2009 the Companys unconditional

purchase obligations payments are as follows

in millions 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter

$38.4 $24.3 $5.8 $1.9 $0.0 $0.0

SEGMENT REPORTING AND
GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We have three reportable segments McGraw-Hill

Education Financial Services and Information Media

The McGraw-Hill Education segment is one of the premier

global educational publishers serving the elementary and

high school el-hi college and university professional

international and adult education markets During 2009

2008 and 2007 the segment
incurred pre-tax restructuring

charges that reduced operating profit by $14.0 million

$25.3 million and $16.3 million respectively Additionally

in 2009 we revised our estimate for previously recorded

restructuring charges and reversed $2.4 million for the

segment see Note 14 Included in 2007 operating profit is

$4.1 million gain resulting from divestiture of product

line in July 2007

The Financial Services segment operates under the

Standard Poors brand This segment provides services to

investors corporations governments financial institutions

investment managers and advisors globally The segment and

the markets it serves are impacted by interest rates the state

of global economies credit quality and investor confidence

During 2009 2008 and 2007 the segment incurred pre-tax

restructuring charges that reduced operating profit by

$4.5 million $25.9 million and $18.8 million respectively

Additionally in 2009 we revised our estimate for previously

recorded restructuring charges and reversed $4.9 million for

the segment see Note 14 Included in 2009 operating profit

is pre-tax loss of $13.8 million resulting from the sale of

our Vista Research Inc business Included in 2007 operating

profit is pre-tax gain of $17.3 million from the sale of our

mutual fund data business

The Information Media segment includes business pro

fessional and broadcast media offering information insight

and analysis During 2009 2008 and 2007 the segment

incurred pre-tax restructuring charges that reduced operating

profit by $5.8 million $19.2 million and $6.7 million respec

tively Additionally in 2009 we revised our estimate for previ

ously recorded restructuring charges and reversed $1.8 million
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for the segment see Note 14 Included in 2009 operating

profit is pre-tax gain of $10.5 million related to the divesti

ture of Business Week The results of 2009 reflect deferral of

$11.4 million of revenue and $7.1 million of operating profit

related to the transitioning of number of syndicated studies

to an online service platform which will be recognized over

the service period

In 2008 as result of reduction in the change in the

projected payout of restricted performance stock awards and

reductions in other incentive compensation projections we

recorded decrease in incentive compensation as follows

McGraw-Hill Education $29.3 million Financial Services

$166.0 million Information Media $22.6 million and

Corporate $55.8 million In 2009 we further reduced the

projected payout of our restricted performance stock awards

although to much lesser extent than 2008

Information as to the operations of our three segments is set

forth below based on the nature of the products and services

offered The Executive Committee consisting of our principal

corporate executives is our chief operating decision-maker

and evaluates performance based primarily on operating

profit The accounting policies of the operating segments are

the same as those described in the summary of significant

accounting policies

The adjustments to operating profit listed below relate to

the operating results of the corporate entity which is not

considered an operating segment and includes corporate

expenses
of $127.0 million $109.1 million and $159.8 mil

lion and net interest expense of $76.9 million $75.6 million

and $40.6 million for the
years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively Pre-tax restructuring charges

impacted corporate expenses by $3.0 million and $1.9 million

for the years ended December 31 2008 and 207 respectively

Corporate assets consist principally of cash and equivalents

assets for pension benefits deferred income taxes and lease

hold improvements related to subleased areas

Foreign revenue and long-lived assets include operations

in approximately 40 countries We do not have operations in

any foreign country that represent more than S/n of our con

solidated revenue Transfers between geographic areas are

recorded at agreed upon prices and intercompany revenue and

profit are eliminated

Segment information for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 is as follows

in millions

2009

Income before taxes on income

McGraw-Hill Financial Information Segment Consolidated

Education Services Media Totals Adjustments Total

The results of 2009 reflect deferral of $11.4 million of revenue and $7.1 million of operating profit related to the transitioning nt_i number it syndis ated

studies to an online service platform which will be recognized over the service period

In 2008 the Company reduced its projected payout percentage for restricted performance stock awards see Note

Includes amortization of intangible assers and prepublication costs

Includes purchase of property and equipment and investments in prepublication costs

Revenue $2387.8 $2610.1 9539a $5951.8 $5951.8

Operating profit 276.0 1014.1 92.7a 1382.8 203.9 1178.9

Stock-based compensation 4.3 6.5 3.1 13.9 8.4 22.3

Depreciation and amortizationc 349.0 53.8 26.7 429.5 6.5 436.0

Assets 2582.2 1249.0 846.2 4677.4 1797.9 6475.3

Capital expendituresd 203.2 31.5 8.8 243.5 2.0 245.5

Technologyprojectadditions 11.4 11.9 23.3 0.5 23.8

2008

Revenue $2638.9 $2654.3 $1061.9 $6355.1 $o355.1

Operating profit 321.4 1070.4 92.0 1483.8 184.7 1299.1

Stock-based compensation 1.6 1.9 0.5 4.0 1.9

Depreciation and amortizationc 351.0 60.2 31.1 442.3 6.5 448.8

Assets 2859.4 1247.6 926.9 5033.9 1046.2 h080.l

Capital expendituresd 298.7 38.8 8.4 355.9 4.1 360.1

Technology project additions 7.2 10.9 7.3 25.4 25.4

2007

Revenue $2705.9 $3046.2 $1020.2 $6772.3 $o.772

Operating profit 403.1 1370.2 63.5 1836.8 2014 1636.4

Stock-based compensation 27.7 44.2 22.1 94.0 30.7 124
Depreciation and amortizationc 310.3 50.9 33.2 394.4 6.8 401.2

Assets 2996.0 1306.4 953.1 5255.5 1135.9 h391.4

Capital expendituresd 434.5 62.1 29.6 526.2 2.4 528.6

Technologyprojectadditions 5.2 7.1 0.7 13.0 16.7
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The following is schedule of revenue and long-lived assets by geographic location

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Long-lived Long-lived Long-lived

Revenue Assets Revenue Assets Revenue Assets

United States $4226.4 $2881.5 $4579.4 $3107.7 $5008.5 $3175.8

European region
963.7 220.4 1020.5 220.5 1030.9 246.3

Asia 467.8 133.2 438.8 117.9 426.1 126.8

Restof world 293.9 77.1 316.4 70.2 306.8 744

Total $5951.8 $3312.2 $6355.1 $3516.3 $6772.3 $3623.3

TAXES ON INCOME

Income before taxes on income resulted from domestic and

foreign operations as follows

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Domestic operations 878.5 981.0 $1349.3

Foreign operations 300.4 318.1 287.0

Total income before taxes $1178.9 $1299.1 $1636.3

$281.0 $319.6 $455.7

17.5 1.8 59.7

Total federal 263.5 321.4 396.0

Foreign

Current 101.6 77.8 96.8

Deferred 6.6 3.8 8.1

Total foreign 108.2 81.6 104.9

State and local

Current 46.0 78.7 122.3

Deferred 11.4 2.0

Total state and local 57.4
76.7_-

108.1

Total provision for taxes $429.1 $479.7 $609.0

reconciliation of the U.S statutory tax rate to the Companys

effective tax rate for financial reporting purposes follows

The effective tax rates include the impact of new account

ing rule adopted on January 2009 for noncontrolling inter

ests in subsidiaries see Note to our consolidated financial

statements which resulted in change to the calculated

effective tax rates for 2008 and 2007

The principal temporary differences between the account

ing for income and expenses for financial reporting and

income tax purposes as of December 31 are as follows

Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Fixed assets and intangible assets 367.4 380.7

Prepaid pension and other expenses 90.2 76.5

Unearned revenue 4.1

Total deferred tax liabilities 457.6 461.3

Net deferred income tax asset

before valuation allowance 311.5 379.5

Valuation allowance 19.0 18.0

Net deferred income tax asset 292.5 361.5

Reported as

Current deferred tax assets 278.4 285.4

Non-current deferred tax assets 24.1 79.5

Non-current deferred tax liabilities 10.0 3.4

Net deferred income tax asset 292.5 361.5

We record valuation allowances against deferred income
2009 2008 2007

tax assets when we determine that it is more likely than not

35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
based upon all the available evidence that such deferred

income tax assets will not be realized The valuation allow-

4.4
ance is primarily related to operating losses from certain

2.2
foreign operations

36.4% 36.9% 37.2%

The ptovision/benefit for taxes on income consists of

the following

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Federal

Current

Deferred

in millions
________

2009 2008

Deferred tax assets

Reserves and accruals

Postretirement benefits

Deferred gain

Unearned revenue

Other net

329.4

306.9

63.5

349.6

343.6

68.7

4.2

65.1 78.9

769.1 840.8

U.S statutory rate

Effect of state and local

income taxes

Other net

Effective tax rate

3.9 4.2

2.5 2.3
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We have not recorded deferred income taxes applicable

to undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are

indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations Undistributed

earnings that are indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations

amounted to approximately $449.2 million at December 31
2009 Quantification of the deferred tax liability if

any associated with indefinitely reinvested earnings is

not practicable

We made net income tax payments totaling $415.6 million

in 2009 $466.1 million in 2008 and $635.4 million in 2007

At December 31 2009 we had federal net operating loss car

ryforwards of approximately $11.2 million which will expire

between 2017 and 2026 and the utilization of these losses

will be subject to limitations

On January 2007 we implemented new accounting

rules for unrecognized tax benefits The total amount of

federal state and local and foreign unrecognized tax ben

efits as of December 31 2009 and 2008 was $37.8 million

and $27.7 million respectively exclusive of interest and

penalties Included in the balance at December 31 2009

and 2008 are $0.7 million and $2.2 million respectively of

tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly

certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing

of such deductibility Because of the impact of deferred tax

accounting other than interest and penalties the disallow

ance of the shorter deductibility period would not affect the

annual effective tax rate but would accelerate the payment of

cash to the
taxing authority to an earlier period We recog

nize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized

tax benefits in interest expense and operating expense

respectively In addition to the unrecognized tax benefits as

of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had $8.7 million and

$13.5 million respectively of accrued interest and penalties

associated with uncertain tax positions

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of

unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

in mill ions

Balance at beginning of year

Additions based on tax

positions related to the

current year 9.5 8.5 12.0

Additions for tax positions

of prior years 16.1 1.3 1.5

Reductions for tax positions

ofprioryears
_____

15.5 27.9 42.8

Balance at end of year 37.8 27.7 45.8

The net increase of $10.1 million in 2009 is the amount

of unrecognized tax benefits that unfavorably impacted tax

expense The unfavorable
impact to the tax provision was

offset by the favorable outcome of the completed federal

state local and foreign tax audits

During 2009 we effectively completed the U.S federal

tax audit for 2008 The years 2007 and 2008 remain open

pending the appeal of certain unresolved issues In 2009

we also completed various state and foreign tax audits

and with few exceptions we are no longer subject to state and

local or non-U.S income tax examinations by tax authori

ties for the years before 2002 The favorable impact to tax

expense in 2009 was $8.7 million

During 2008 we completed various federal state and

local and foreign tax audits The net decrease of $18.1 mil

lion in the amount of unrecognized tax benefits favorably

impacted tax expense by $15.9 million The remaining net

decrease was attributable to tax positions that were either

timing related or settled This favorable impact to the tax

provision was offset by additional requirements for the

repatriation of cash from international operations

During 2007 we completed various federal state and

local and foreign tax audits The favorable impact to tax

expense in 2007 was $20.0 million which was offset by

additional tax requirements for the repatriation of cash

from foreign operations

We file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction

various states and foreign jurisdictions and we are routinely

under audit by many different tax authorities We believe

that our accrual for tax liabilities is adequate for all open

audit years based on its assessment of many factors includ

ing past experience and interpretations of tax law This

assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may

involve series of complex judgments about future events

It is possible that tax examinations will be settled prior to

December 31 2010 If any of these tax audit settlements

do occur within that period we would make any necessary

adjustments to the accrual for unrecognized tax benefits

Until formal resolutions are reached between us and the tax

authorities the determination of possible audit settlement

range with respect to the impact on unrecognized tax ben

efits is not practicable On the basis of present information

it is our opinion that any assessments resulting from the

current audits will not have material effect on our consoli

dated financial statements

We do not expect our 2010 effective tax rate to vary

significantly from our 2009 effective tax rate

Although the timing of income tax audit resolution and

negotiations with taxing authorities are highly uncertain

we do not anticipate significant change to the total

amount of unrecognized income tax benefits within the

next twelve months

2009

27.7

2008 2007

$45.8 $75.1
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RENTAL EXPENSE AND
LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Rental expense
for property and equipment under all operat

ing lease agreements is as follows

2008 2007

$241.0 $228.2

2.4 5.5

18.4 17.6

$216.3 $220.2 $205.1

We are committed under lease arrangements covering

property computer systems
and office equipment Leasehold

improvements are amortized straight-line over the shorter

of their economic lives or their lease term Certain lease

arrangements contain escalation clauses covering increased

costs for various defined real estate taxes and operating serv

ices Rent escalation fees are recognized straight-line over the

lease term

Minimum rental commitments including rent payments

on the sale-leaseback described in Note 13 to the consoli

dated financial statements under existing non-cancelable

leases with remaining term of more than one year are

shown in the following table The annual rental commit

ments for real estate are reduced by $2.4 million in 2010

$2.1 million in 2011 $1.3 million in 2012 $1.0 million

in 2013 and $0.8 million in 2014 for sublease income

in millions

2010 183.4

2011 167.9

2012 149.4

2013 136.4

2014 130.1

2015 and beyond
695.3

Total $1462.5

EQUITY

CAPITAL STOCK Two million shares of preferred stock par

value $1 per share are authorized none have been issued

In 2009 dividends were paid at the quarterly rate of

$0.225 per common share Dividends were paid at an annu

alized rate of $0.90 $0.88 and $0.82 per common share

in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Total dividends paid in

2009 2008 and 2007 were $281.6 million $280.5 million

and $277.7 million respectively On January 20 2010 the

Board of Directors approved an increase in the dividends for

2010 to quarterly rate of $0.235 per common share

STOCK REPuRCHASES On January 242006 the

Board of Directors approved stock repurchase program

the 2006 program authorizing the purchase of
up

to 45.0 million shares which was approximately 12.1%

of our total outstanding common stock at that time

At December 31 2006 authorization for the repurchase

of 20.0 million shares remained under the 2006 program

On January 31 2007 the Board of Directors approved

new stock repurchase program the 2007 program

authorizing the repurchase of up to 45.0 million additional

shares which was approximately 12.7% of our total out

standing common stock at that time During 2007 we repur

chased 37.0 million shares which included the remaining

20.0 million shares under the 2006 program for $2.2 billion

at an average price of $59.80 At December 31 2007 autho

rization for the repurchase of 280 million shares remained

under the 2007 program

During 2008 we repurchased 10.9 million shares under the

2007 program for $0.4 billion at an average price of $41.03

At December 31 2008 authorization for the repurchase

of 17.1 million shares remained under the 2007 program

During 2009 no shares were repurchased

Share repurchases for the years
ended December 31 are

as follows

in millions except average price 2009 2008 2007

Shares repurchased 10.9 37.0

Average price $41.03 59.80

Amount $447.2 $2212.7

Shares repurchased were used for general corporate pur

poses including the issuance of shares for stock compensa

tion plans and to offset the dilutive effect of the exercise of

employee stock options In any period cash used in financing

activities related to common stock repurchased may differ

from the comparable change in equity reflecting timing dif

ferences between the recognition of share repurchase trans

actions and their settlement for cash

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31

consists of the following

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Foreign currency

translation adjustments 61734 $104757 8074
Unrealized gain on

investment net of tax 1959 304 3747

Pension and other

postretirement plans

net of
tax__ 283242 339569 8296

Total accumulated other

comprehensive loss $343017 $444022 $12623

in millions 2009

Gross rental expense $236.8

Less sublease revenue 2.1
Less Rock-McGraw rent credit 18.4

Net rental expense
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STOCK PLAN AWARDS

We have Director Deferred Stock Ownership Plan and

three employee stock ownership plans the 1987 1993

and 2002 Employee Stock Incentive Plans

DIRECTOR DEFERRED STOCK OWNERSHIP PLANUnder

this Plan common stock reserved may be credited to deferred

stock accounts for eligible Directors In general the Plan

requires that 50% of eligible Directors annual compensa

tion plus dividend equivalents be credited to deferred stock

accounts Each Director may also elect to defer all or portion

of the remaining compensation and have an equivalent num
ber of shares credited to the deferred stock account Recipients

under this Plan are not required to provide consideration to

us other than rendering service Shares will he delivered as

of the date recipient ceases to be member of the Board of

Directors or within five years thereafter if so elected The Plan

will remain in effect until terminated by the Board of Directors

or until no shares of stock remain available under the Plan

1987 AND 1993 EMPLOYEE STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

These plans provided for the granting of incentive stock

options nonqualified stock options stock appreciation rights

SARs restricted stock awards deferred stock applicable

to the 1987 Plan only or other stock-based awards No further

awards may be granted under these Plans although awards

granted prior to the adoption of the 2002 Plan as amended

remain outstanding under these Plans in accordance with

their terms

2002 EMPLOYEE STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN AS AMENDED

IN 2004 THE 2002 PLAN The2002Planpermitsthe

granting of nonqualified stock options SARs performance

stock restricted stock and other stock-based awards Shares

subject to awards other than stock options or SARS count

against the pool as three shares for
every one share granted

The number of common shares reserved for issuance at

December 31 are as follows

in thousands 2009 2008

Shares available for granting under the

2002 Plan 18956 20526

Options outstanding 31406 32469

Shares reserved for issuance for employee

stock plan awards 50362 52995
Director Deferred Stock Ownership Plan 536 556

Total shares reserved for issuance 50898 53551

We issue treasury shares upon exercise of stock options

and the issuance of restricted stock and unit awards To

offset the dilutive effect of the exercise of employee stock

options we periodically repurchase shares

STOCK OPTIONS

Stock options which may not he granted at price less than

the fair market value of our common stock on the date of

grant vest over two year service period in equal annual

installments and have maximum term of 10 years

We receive tax deduction for certain stock option exer

cises during the period in which the options are exercised

generally for the excess of the quoted market value of

the stock at the time of the exercise of the options over the

exercise price of the options The actual income tax benefit

realized from stock option exercises for the years ended

December 31 is as follows

in mu lions 2009

Income tax benefit realized

from stock option exercises 2.0

Net cash proceeds from the

exercise of stock options $25.2

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

$0.3 million $4.0 million and $35.8 million respectively of

excess tax benefits from stock options exercised are reported

in cash flows from financing activities

We use lattice-based option-pricing model to estimate

the fair value of options granted The following assumptions

were used in valuing the options granted during the years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

2009 2005

Risk-free average interest rate 0.44.1% 1.44.4%

Dividend yield 3.33.7% 2.03.4%

Volatility 3375% 259%
Expected life years 5.66.0 6.77.1

Weighted-average grant-date

fair value $5.78 $9.7-

Because lattice-based option-pricing models incorporate

ranges of assumptions those ranges are disclosed These

assumptions are based on multiple factors including histori

cal exercise patterns post-vesting termination rates expected

future exercise patterns and the expected volatility of our

stock price The risk-free interest rate is the imputed forward

rate based on the U.S Treasury yield at the date of
grant We

use the historical volatility of our stock price over the expected

term of the options to estimate the expected volatility The

expected term of options granted is derived from the output of

the lattice model and represents the period of time that options

granted are expected to be outstanding

Stock option compensation costs are recognized from the

date of grant utilizing two-year graded vesting method

Under this method fifty percent of the costs are ratably

recognized over the first twelve months with the remaining

7.0 56.6

$41.4 $146.9

2007

3.66
1.21.7

422%
7.07.2

15.80
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Costs ratably recognized over twenty-four month period

starting from the date of grant At December 31 2009

there was $8.6 million of unrecognized compensation costs

related to unvested stock options which is expected to be

recognized over weighted-average period of 1.0 year

The total intrinsic value market value on date of exer

cise less exercise price of options exercised during 2009

2008 and 2007 totaled $5.0 million $17.4 million and

$139.7 million respectively The total fair value of options

vested during 2009 2008 and 2007 totaled $25.3 million

$27.3 million and $42.3 million respectively The aggregate

intrinsic values of stock options outstanding and exercisable

at December 31 2009 were $59.7 million and $30.7 mil

lion respectively The weighted-average remaining years of

contractual life for options outstanding and exercisable at

December 31 2009 were years and years respectively

Stock option activity for the year ended December 31 2009

is as follows

in thousands of shares
_______________ ____________

Options outstanding at December 31 2008

Granted 2955 $23.13

Exercised 943 $26.68

Cancelled forfeited and expired 3075 $38.16

Options outstanding at December 31 2009 31406 $38.88

Options exercisable at December 31 2009 27341 $40.50

Nonvested stock option activity for the year ended

December 31 2009 is as follows

Weighted-

average

grant-date

in thousands of shares Shares fair value

Nonvested options outstanding at

December 31 2008 3683 $11.09

Granted 2955 5.78

Vested 2167 $11.60

Forfeited 406 8.88

Nonvested options outstanding at

December 31 2009 4065 7.03

RESTRICTED STOCK AND UNIT AWARDS

Restricted stock and unit awards performance and non-

performance have been granted under the 2002 Plan

Restricted stock and unit performance awards will vest only

if we achieve certain financial goals over the performance

period Restricted stock non-performance awards have

various vesting periods generally three years with vesting

beginning on the first anniversary of the awards

Recipients of restricted stock and unit awards are

not required to provide consideration to us other than

rendering service

The stock-based compensation expense for restricted

stock and unit awards is determined based on the market

price of our stock at the grant date of the award applied

to the total number of awards that are anticipated to fully

vest For restricted stock and unit performance awards

adjustments are made to expense dependent upon financial

goals achieved At December 31 2009 there was unrecog

nized stock-based compensation of $30.1 million related to

restricted stock and unit awards which is expected to he

recognized over weighted-average period of 2.3 years

The weighted-average grant-date fair values of restricted

stock and unit awards granted during 2009 2008 and 2007

were $31.05 $39.37 and $56.12 respectively The total

fair value of restricted stock and unit awards vested during

2009 2008 and 2007 totaled $81.9 million $29.4 niil

lion and $28.5 million respectively The tax expense

benefit relating to restricted stock award activity during

2009 2008 and 2007 was $0.7 million $11.7 million and

$12.1 million respectively

Restricted stock and unit activity for the year
ended

December 31 2009 is as follows

Weighted-average

grant-date

Shares fair value

21 $44.66

65 $22.64

$48.39

$52.01

Nonvested shares at December 31 2009 75 $26.01

Weighted-average

Performance Awards grant-date

in thousands of shares Shares fair value

Nonvested shares at December 31 2008 3245 $49.79

Granted 2386 $31.28

Vested 1421 $57.37

Forfeited 249 $35.90

Nonvested shares at December 31 2009 3961 $36.77

Stock-based compensation expense and the corresponding

tax benefit for the years
ended December 31 are as follows

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Stock-based compensation

Expense benefit

Tax expensebenefit

Weighted-

average

Shares exercise price

32469 $39.89

Non-performance Awards

in thousands of shares

Nonvested shares at December 31 2008

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

$22.3

8.8

$1.9 $124.7

$0.8 50.5
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During 2008 we reduced the projected payout percentage

of our outstanding restricted performance stock awards

During 2009 we further reduced the projected payout

percentage of our outstanding restricted performance

stock awards although to much lesser extent than 2008

Accordingly we recorded adjustments to reduce our stock-

based compensation expense for the amount of previously

recognized expense in excess of the revised projected payouts

In 2008 the effect of these adjustments resulted in beneficial

impact on total stock-based compensation expense

RETIREMENT PLANS

We have number of defined benefit pension plans and

defined contribution plans covering substantially all employees

Our primary pension plan is noncontributory plan under

which benefits are based on employee career employment

compensation We also have unfunded non-U.S and supple

mental benefit plans The supplemental benefit plans provide

senior management with supplemental retirement disability

and death benefits Certain supplemental retirement benefits

are based on final monthly earnings In addition we sponsor

voluntary 40 1k plans under which we may match employee

contributions up to certain levels of compensation as well as

profit-sharing plans under which we contribute percentage of

eligible employees compensation to the employees accounts

We recognize the funded status of our pension plans in the

consolidated balance sheet with corresponding adjustment

to accumulated other comprehensive income net of taxes

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income

represent net unrecognized actuarial losses and unrecog

nized prior service costs These amounts will be subsequently

recognized as net periodic pension cost pursuant to our

accounting policy for amortizing such amounts

summary of the benefit obligation and the fair value of

plan assets as well as the funded status for the defined ben

efit plans as of December 31 is as follows

Benefits paid in the above table include only those amounts

contributed directly to or paid directly from plan assets

The funded status of the defined benefit plans includes

$78.5 million in non-current assets for pension benefits

$5.0 million in other current liabilities and $365.9 million

in liability for pension and other postretirement benefits in

the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2009

and $53.0 million in non-current assets for pension benefits

$4.5 million in other current liabilities arid $472.0 million

in liability for pension and other postretirement benefits in

the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008

The accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31

for the defined benefit plans is as follows

The following table reflects pension plans with an accu

mulated benefit obligation in excess of the fair salue of plan

assets as of December 31

2009 2008

SJ288.3 $1180.3

S1158.1 $1055.2

Fair value of plan assets 930.6 725.6

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION

in millions

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Plan participants contributions

Actuarial loss/gain

Gross benefits paid

Foreign currency effect

Other adjustments

Net benefit obligation at end of year

Discount rate

Compensation increase factor

Net actuarial loss

Prior service credit

2009 2008

5.9S% 6.1

5.50% .50

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

in millions 2009

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 972.3

Actual return on plan assets 268.1

Employer contributions 78.0

Plan participants contributions 0.6

Gross benefits paid 55.7

Foreign currency effect 13.7

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 1277.0

Funded status 292.4

2008

$1493.9

445.0

39.3

0.9

0.4
46.4

972.3

423.5

in millions

Accumulated benefit obligation

2009 2008

81398.7 $1235.3

in millions

Projected benefit obligation

Accumulated benefit obligation

The U.S weighted-average assumptions used to determine

the benefit obligations are as follows
2009

$1395.8

58.1

86.4

0.6

63.6

55.7

15.6

5.0

2008

$1380.8

58.3

86.0

0.9

4.8

70.4

55.0

$1569.4 $1395.8
_______________________________

In millions

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive

loss net of tax as of December 31 consist of

Total recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive loss net of tax

2009 2008

$281.3 $343.9

6.6 6.9

$274.7 $33
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The actuarial loss and prior service credit included in

accumulated other comprehensive income and expected

to be recognized in net periodic pension cost during the

year ending December 31 2010 are $15.1 million and

$0.3 million respectively

For purposes of determining annual pension cost prior

service costs are being amortized straight-line over the

average remaining service period of employees expected to

receive benefits For 2009 the assumed return on U.S plan

assets of 8.0% is based on calculated market-related value

of assets which recognizes changes in market value over

five years

summary of net periodic benefit cost for our defined

benefit plans is as follows

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Service cost 58.1 58.3 64.1

Interest cost 86.4 86.0 79.9

Expected return on assets 105.0 110.1 98.9

Amortization of

Transition obligation 0.1

Actuarial loss 5.5 3.1

Prior service credit_cost 0.3 0.4 0.3

Net periodic benefit cost 44.7 36.9 58.5

The U.S weighted-average assumptions used to determine

net periodic benefit cost are as follows

January 2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 6.10% 6.25% 5.90%

Compensation increase factor 5.50% 5.50% 5.50%

Return on assets 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%

Our United Kingdom U.K retirement plan accounted

for $6.3 million in 2009 $9.5 million in 2008 and $16.3 mil

lion in 2007 of the net periodic benefit cost attributable to

the funded plans The discount rate assumption for our

U.K retirement plan was 5.80% 5.40% and 4.90% for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respec

tively The assumed compensation increase factor for the

U.K retirement plan was 5.50% 5.95% and 5.75% for

the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respec

tively Additionally effective January 2010 we changed

our discount rate assumption on our U.S retirement plans

to 5.95% from 6.10% in 2009 and changed our discount

rate assumption on our U.K retirement plan to 5.90% from

5.80% in 2009

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recog

nized in other comprehensive income/loss net of tax for the

years ended December 31 are as follows

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Net actuarial gain/loss $59.1 $324.8 $58.7

Recognized actuarial gain 3.5 2.1 8.5
Prior service credit 5.5

Recognized prior service cost 0.3 0.3 0.3

Recognized transition obligation 0.1

Total recognized in other

comprehensive loss

net of tax $62.3 $323.0 $72.5

The total cost for our retirement plans was $140.6 million

for 2009 $146.5 million for 2008 and $168.1 million for

2007 Included in the total retirement plans cost are defined

contribution plans cost of $82.9 million for 2009 $95.9 mil

lion for 2008 and $96.8 million for 2007

Information about the expected cash flows for all of the

defined benefit plans combined is as follows

EXPECTED EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

in millions

$30.32010

EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS

in millions

2010 59.9

2011 62.7

2012 65.7

2013 69.1

2014 75.7

20152019 455.2

The preceding table reflects the total benefits expected

to be paid from the plans or from our assets including both

our share of the benefit cost and the participants share of

the cost

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received

to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants Assets and

liabilities carried at fair value are classified in the following

three categories

Level Quoted prices for identical instruments in active

markets

Level Quoted prices for similar instruments in active

markets quoted prices for identical or similar instruments

in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in

which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are

observable in active markets

Level Valuations derived from valuation techniques

in which one or more significant inputs or significant value

drivers are unobservable
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The fair value of our defined benefit plans assets at the end of 2009 and 2008 by asset category is as follows

in millions 2009

Fair value measurements

Quoted prices

in active Significant Significant

markets for observable unobservable

identical assets inputs inputs

Asset category
__________

Total Level Level Level

Short-term investments 81.2 81.2

Equity Securities

U.S indexed equitya 223.6 102.9 120.7

U.S growth equityb 81.3 80.0 1.3

U.S value equityC 248.4 241.3 7.1

U.K equityld 79.8 79.8

International equitye 326.4 19S.6 128.0 2.8

Fixed income securities

Long duration honds 178.3 178.3

Non-Agency Mortgage Backed securitjesgl 58.0 0.9 57.1

Total $1277.0 $877.9 $339.2 $59.9

in millions 2108

Fair value measurements

Quoted prices

in active Significant Sign fica ni

markets br obsers able un oliserva He

identical assets inputs inputs

Asset category Total Lesel level Lesel

Short-term investments 6.2 6.2

Equity securities

U.S indexed equitya 214.0 34.1 179.9

U.S growth equityh 62.9 60.0 2.9

U.S value equityc 206.2 196.8 9.4

U.K equityd 48.3 48.3

International equitye 221.0 128.3 89.0

Fixed income securities

Long duration bonds 213.7 21

Total $972.3 $681.2 $287.4 $3

This category includes securities that are tracked in the following indexes SP 00 SP MidCap 400 SP Midap 400 Growth and SP Sniallcap 60
This

category
includes securities in accounts actively managed by investment managers who invest primarily in U.S companies with

strong earnings growth potential

This category includes securities in accounts actively managed by investment managers who invest primarily in mature U.S companies

dThis category includes securities in accounts managed by investment managers who invest primarily in U.K companies

This category includes primarily equity securities that are domiciled in countries other than the U.S

This category includes primarily securities that are investment grade fixed income obligations of U.S and governments and companies

gThis category includes primarily U.S mortgage-backed securities that are not guaranteed by the U.S government
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in millions

Fair value measurements using s1gnicant unobservable inputs Level

Beginning balance at December 31 2008 3.7

Actual return on plan assets

Unrealized gains
4.4

Realized gains 0.9

Income received/expenses paid net 1.5

Capital contributions/distributions net 49.9

Change in accrued income 0.4

Transfers in and/or Out of Level 0.9

Ending balance at December 31 2009

For securities that are quoted in active markets the

trustee/custodian determines fair value by applying securi

ties prices obtained from its pricing vendors

For commingled funds that are not actively traded the

trustee applies pricing information provided by investment

management firms to the unit quantities of such funds

Investment management firms employ their own pricing

vendors to value the securities underlying each commingled

fund Underlying securities that are not actively traded

derive their prices from investment managers which in turn

employ vendors that use pricing models e.g discounted cash

flow comparables

The trustee obtains estimated prices from vendors for

securities that are not easily quotable and they are catego

rized accordingly as Level

The domestic defined benefit plans have no investment in

our stock except through the SP 500 commingled

index fund

The pension assets are invested with the goal of produc

ing combination of capital growth and income The mix of

assets is established after careful consideration of the long-

term performance and risk characteristics of asset classes

Investments are selected based on their potential to enhance

returns preserve capital and reduce overall volatility

Holdings are well-diversified within each asset class which

includes U.S and foreign stocks high-quality fixed income

and short-term investments The overall portfolio employs

mix of index and actively managed equity strategies Equity

securities include diversified mix by market capitalization

style and industry The fixed income portion of the port

folio employs an actively managed strategy that invests in

long duration securities and non-agency mortgage-backed

securities The short-term portfolio whose primary goal is

capital preservation for liquidity purposes is composed of

government and government agency securities The pension

portfolio does not employ any financial leverage The target

allocations for 2010 include 43% domestic equities 33%

international equity securities and 24% domestic debt secu

rities and short-term investments

Assets of the defined contribution plan consist primar

ily
of index funds equity funds debt instruments and

McGraw-Hill common stock The U.S plan purchased

702409 and sold 753984 shares of McGraw-Hill

common stock in 2009 and purchased 714000 and sold

818000 shares of McGraw-Hill common stock in 2008

The plan held approximately 4.1 million and 4.2 million

shares of McGraw-Hill common stock at December 31 2009

and 2008 respectively with market values of $137.7 million and

$96.9 million respectively The plan received dividends

on McGraw-Hill common stock of $3.8 million and

$3.7 million per year during 2009 and 2008 respectively

JO POSTRETIREMENT
HEALTHCARE AND
OTHER BENEFITS

We provide certain medical dental and life insurance ben

efits for retired employees and eligible dependents The medi

cal and dental plans are contributory while the life insurance

plan is noncontributory We currently do not prefund any
of

these plans

We recognize the funded status of our Postretirement

Healthcare and Other Benefits plans in the consolidated bal

ance sheet with corresponding adjustment to accumulated

other comprehensive income net of taxes The actuarial

gains and losses that arise are not recognized as net periodic

benefit cost in the same periods and are recognized as com

ponent of other comprehensive income Those amounts will

be subsequently recognized as component of net periodic

benefit cost pursuant to our accounting policy for amortizing

such amounts

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances

in the benefit obligation as well as the funded status as of

December 31 is as follows

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION

in mill ions
_______________

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Plan participants contributions

Actuarial loss

Gross benefits paid

Federal subsidy benefits received

Net benefit obligation at end of year

The discount rate used to determine the benefit obliga

tions as of December 31 2009 and 2008 was 5.30% and

5.95% respectively

2009

$150.6

2.4

8.3

2018

$142.4

2.4

8.4

5.2 4.3

8.6 12.7

19.1 20.6

1.0

$157.0

1.0

$150.6
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January

Discount rate

Weighted-average healthcare

cost rate

in millions

Effect on total of service

and interest cost

Effect on postretirement

benefit obligation

2009 2105 201

5.95% 6.00% 5.75%

One percentage One percentage

point increase point decrease

$0.4 $0.3

$7.0 $6.2

The above table reflects the total benefits expected to be

paid from our assets

As of December 31 2009 the unfunded status of the

postretirement benefit obligation of $157.0 million includes

$13.2 million in other current liabilities and $143.8 million

in liabilities for pension and other postretirement benefits in

the consolidated balance sheet As of December 31 2008 the

unfunded status of the postretirement benefit obligation of

$150.6 million includes $16.3 million in other current liabili

ties and $134.3 million in liabilities for pension and other

postretirement benefits in the consolidated balance sheet

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive

loss net of tax as of December 31 consist of

The weighted-average assumption used to determine net

periodic benefit cost is as follows

8.00% 8.50% 9.00%

inmillions 2009 2008

Net actuarial loss/gain $12.3 7.1

Prior service credit 3.4 4.1

Total recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive loss net of tax 8.9 3.0

The assumed weighted-average healthcare cost trend rate

will decrease ratably from 8% in 2010 to 5% in 2017

and remain at that level thereafter Assumed healthcare cost

trends have significant effect on the amounts reported

for the healthcare plans one percentage point change in

assumed healthcare cost trend creates the following effects

The prior service credit and actuarial loss included in

accumulated other comprehensive loss and expected to

be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the fiscal

year ending December 31 2010 is $1.2 million and

$0.6 million respectively

summary of the components of the net periodic benefit

cost is as follows

COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Service cost 2.4 2.4 2.5

Interest cost 8.3 8.4 7.9

Amortization of prior

servicecredit 1.2 1.2 1.2

Net periodic benefit cost 9.5 9.6 9.2

In December 2003 the Medicare Prescription Drug

Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 the Act
was enacted The Act established prescription drug benefit

under Medicare known as Medicare Part and federal

subsidy to sponsors
of retiree healthcare benefit plans that

provide benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to

Medicare Part Our benefits provided to certain partici

pants are at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part

and accordingly we are entitled to subsidy

Information about the expected cash flows and the impact

of the Medicare subsidy for the other postretirement benefit

plans is as follows

EXPECTED EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

in millions

Other changes in the benefit obligation recognized in other

comprehensive income/loss net of tax for the years ended

December 31 are as follows

in millions 2009 2008 2007

Net actuarial loss $5.2 $7.5 $2.0

Recognized prior service cost 0.7 0.7 0.7

Total recognized in other

comprehensive loss net of tax $5.9 $8.2 $2.7

2010 $14.2

EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS

Gross Medicare Paynis-nts tier

in millions payments subsidr ul subsidy

2010 $14.2 $1.0 $13.2

2011 $14.3 $1.0 $13.3

2012 $14.2 $I.0 $13.2

2013 $13.9 $I.0 $12.9

2014 $13.7 $0.9 $12.8

20152019 $62.8 $4.0 $58.8
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II EARNINGS PER SHARE

reconciliation of the number of shares used for calculating

basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per

common share is as follows

in thousands 2009 2008 2007

Net income $730502 $799491 $1013559

Average number of common

shares outstanding 312223 315559 336210

Effect of stock options and

other dilutive securities 1073 3128 8575

Average number of common
shares outstanding

including effect of

dilutive securities 313296 318687 344785

Restricted performance shares outstanding of 2.3 million

2.3 million and 2.0 million at December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively were not included in the computation

of diluted earnings per common share because the necessary

vesting conditions have not yet been met

The weighted-average diluted shares outstanding for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 excludes

the effect of approximately 27.9 million 21.7 million and

1.7 million respectively of potentially dilutive outstanding

stock options from the calculation of diluted earnings per

common share because the effects were not dilutive

12 GOODWILL AND
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table summarizes the activity in goodwill for

the years ended December 31

2009 2008

$1703240 $1697621

21011 17267

8278 11648

$1690507 $1703240

The following table summarizes the activity in goodwill by

segment
for the years ended December 31

in thousands 2009__-
2008

McGraw-Hill Education

Beginning balance 927128 931066

Other 2270 3938

Total McGraw-Hill Education 929398 927128

Financial Services

Beginning balance 487539 487877

Dispositions/additions 20628 4537

Other 5275 4875

Total Financial Services 472186 487539

Information Media

Beginning balance 288573 278678

Dispositions/additions 383 12730

Other 733 2835

Total Information Media 288923 288573

Total Company $1690507 $1703240

In 2009 the change in goodwill is primarily attributable to

the effect of dispositions and foreign exchange translation

In 2008 the change in goodwill is primarily attributable

to the effect of acquisitions and foreign exchange translation

The following table summarizes other intangible assets

subject to amortization at December 31

in thousands

Copyrights

Accumulated amortization

Net copyrights

Other intangibles

Accumulated amortization

146239 162307

435512 445087

245081 218329

Net other intangibles 190431 226758

Total gross intangible assets 897660 906607

Total accumulated amortization 560990 517542

Total net intangible assets 336670 389065

Intangible assets are being amortized on straight-line

basis over periods of up to 40 years Amortization expense

for intangible assets totaled $52.7 million $58.5 million

and $48.4 million for the years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively The weighted-average life of

the intangible assets at December 31 2009 is 13 years The

projected amortization expense for intangible assets assum

ing no further acquisitions or dispositions is approximately

$34.0 million per year over the next five years

2009

in thousands

2008

462148 461520

315909 299213

Beginning balance

Dispositions/additions

Other

Total
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The following table summarizes other intangible assets not

sublect to amortization as of December 31

in thousands

________ 2009__----
2008

Trade name J.D Power and Associates $164000 $164000
FCC licenses 38065 38065

13 SALE-LEASEBACK TRANSACTION

In December 2003 we sold our 45% equity investment in

Rock-McGraw Inc which owns our headquarters building

in New York City The transaction was valued at $450.0 mil

lion including assumed debt Proceeds from the disposition

were $382.1 million The sale resulted in pre-tax gain of

$131.3 million and an after-tax benefit of $58.4 million or

$0.15 per diluted share

We remain an anchor tenant of what continues to be known

as The McGraw-Hill Companies building and will continue

to lease space from Rock-McGraw Inc under an existing

lease through March 2020 Currently we lease approximately

17% of the building space The lease is being accounted for

as an operating lease Pursuant to sale-leasehack account

ing rules as result of our continued involvement gain of

approximately $212.3 million $126.3 million after-tax was

deferred at December 31 2003 and is being amortized over

the remaining lease term as reduction in rent expense At the

time of the sale our degree of involvement was determined to

be more than minor since the present value of future mini

mum lease payments under the current lease was greater than

10% of the fair value of the property

Information relating to the sale-leaseback transaction for

the year ended December 31 2009 is as follows

in millions

Deferred gain at December 31 2008 $169.8

Reduction in rent expense 18.4

Interest expense 7.6

Deferred gain at December 31 2009 $159.0

As of December 31 2009 the minimum lease
payments to

be paid each year are as follows

in mill ions

20l0

2011

2012

2013

2014

18.4

18.4

19.1

19.9

19.9

Thereafter 104.5

Total

14 RESTRUCTURING

$200.2

2.009 RESTRUCTURING

During the second quarter 2009 we initiated restructuring

plan that included realignment of select business opera

tions within the McGraw-Hill Education segment to further

strengthen our position in the market by creating market

focused organization that enhances our ability to address the

changing needs of our customers Additionally we continued

to implement restructuring plans related to limited num
ber of our business operations to contain costs and mitigate

the impact of the current and expected future economic

conditions We recorded pre-tax restructuring charge of

$24.3 million consisting primarily of employee severance

costs related to workforce reduction of approximately

550 positions This charge consisted of $14.0 million for

McGraw-Hill Education $4.5 million for Financial Services

and $5.8 million for Information Media In addition

during the second quarter 2009 we revised our estimate

of previously recorded restructuring charges and reversed

approximately $9.1 million consisting of $2.4 million for

McGraw-Hill Education $4.9 million for Financial Services

and $1.8 million for Information Media The net after-tax

charge recorded was $9.7 million or $0.03 per diluted share

Net
restructuring expenses for McGraw-l-lill Education

were $11.6 million classified as selling and general product

expenses within the statement of income Net restructur

ing benefit for Financial Services was $0.4 million classified

as selling and general service expenses within the statement

of income Net
restructuring expenses for Information

Media were $2.3 million classified as selling and general

service expenses and $1.7 million classified as selling and

general product expenses within the statement of income
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At December 31 2009 we have paid approximately

$11.3 million related to the 2009 restructuring consisting

primarily of employee severance costs The remaining reserve

at December 31 2009 is approximately $13.0 million and

is included in other current liabilities

zoo8 RESTRUCTURING

During 2008 we continued to implement restructuring

plans related to limited number of business operations to

contain costs and mitigate the impact of the current and

expected future economic conditions We recorded pre

tax restructuring charge of $73.4 million consisting pri

marily of employee severance costs related to workforce

reduction of approximately 1045 positions This charge

consisted of $25.3 million for McGraw-Hill Education

$25.9 million for Financial Services $19.2 million for

Information Media and $3.0 million for Corporate The

after-tax charge recorded was $45.9 million or $0.14 per

diluted share Restructuring expenses
for McGraw-Hill

Education were $20.8 million classified as selling and general

product expenses and $4.5 million classified as selling and

general service expenses within the statement of income

Restructuring expenses for Financial Services were classi

fied as selling and general service expenses within the state

ment of income Restructuring expenses for Information

Media were $18.9 million classified as selling and general

service expenses and $0.3 million classified as selling and

general product expenses within the statement of income

Restructuring charges for Corporate were classified as selling

and general service expenses
within the statement of income

For the year ended December 31 2009 we have paid

approximately $38.8 million and reversed approximately

$2.9 million related to the 2008 restructuring consisting

primarily of employee severance costs The remaining reserve

at December 31 2009 is approximately $9.1 million and is

included in other current liabilities

Z007 RESTRUCTURING

During 2007 we began implementing restructuring plan

related to limited number of business operations to gain

efficiencies reflect current business conditions and to fortify

our long-term growth prospects As result we recorded

pre-tax restructuring charge of $43.7 million consisting

primarily of employee severance costs related to work-

force reduction of approximately 600 positions This charge

comprised $16.3 million for McGraw-Hill Education

$18.8 million for Financial Services $6.7 million for

Information Media and $1.9 million for Corporate The

after-tax charge recorded was $27.3 million or $0.08 per

diluted share Restructuring expenses for Financial Services

and Corporate are classified as selling and general service

expenses within the statement of income Restructuring

expenses for McGraw-Hill Education are classified as sell

ing and general product expenses $15.0 million and selling

and general service expense $1.3 million within the state

ment of income Restructuring expenses
for Information and

Media are classified as selling and general product expenses

$0.4 million and selling and general service expense

$6.3 million within the statement of income

For the year ended December 31 2009 we have paid approx

imately $2.9 million and reversed approximately $6.2 million

related to the 2007 restructuring consisting primarily of

employee severance costs At December 31 2009 the 2007

restructuring action was complete

zoo6 RESTRUCTURING

During 2006 we recorded pre-tax restructuring charge

of $31.5 million consisting primarily of vacant facilities

and employee severance costs related to the elimination

of 700 positions This charge comprised $16.0 million for

McGraw-Hill Education $8.7 million for Information

Media and $6.8 million for Corporate The after-tax

charge recorded was $19.8 million or $0.06 per diluted

share Restructuring expenses for Information Media

and Corporate are classified as selling and general service

expenses
within the statement of income Restructuring

expenses for McGraw-Hill Education are classified as selling

and general product expenses $9.3 million and selling and

general service expense $6.7 million within the statement

of income

For the year
ended December 31 2009 we have paid

approximately $1.4 million related to the 2006 restructuring

consisting primarily of facility costs At December 31 2009

the remaining reserve which consists of facilities costs was

approximately $6.6 million payable through 2014
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15 COMMITMENTS
AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of business both in the United States

and abroad the Company and its subsidiaries are defendants

in numerous legal proceedings and are involved from time

to time in governmental and self-regulatory agency proceed

ings which may result in adverse judgments damages fines

or penalties Also various governmental and self-regulatory

agencies regularly make inquiries and conduct investigations

concerning compliance with applicable laws and regulations

writ of summons was served on The McGraw-Hill

Companies SRL and on The McGraw-Hill Companies SA

both indirect subsidiaries of the Company collectively

Standard Poors on September 29 2005 and October

2005 respectively in an action brought in the Tribunal of

Milan Italy by Enrico Bondi Bondi the Extraordinary

Commissioner of Parmalat Finanziaria S.p.A and Parmalat

S.p.A collectively Parmalat Bondi has brought numer

ous other lawsuits in both Italy and the United States against

entities and individuals who had dealings with Parmalat

In this suit Bondi claims that Standard Poors which had

issued investment grade ratings on Parmalat until shortly

before Parmalats collapse in December 2003 breached its

duty to issue an independent and professional rating and

negligently and knowingly assigned inflated ratings in order

to retain Parmalats business Alleging joint and several

liability Bondi claims damages of euros 4073984120

representing the value of bonds issued by Parmalat and the

rating fees paid by Parmalat with interest plus damages to

be ascertained for Standard Poors alleged complicity in

aggravating Parmalats financial difficulties and/or for hav

ing contributed in bringing about Parmalats indebtedness

towards its bondholders and legal fees Standard Poors

filed its answer counterclaim and third-party claims on

March 16 2006 The court has appointed two experts to

assist in its determinations

In separate proceeding the prosecutors office in Parma

Italy is conducting an investigation into the bankruptcy of

Parmalat In June 2006 the prosecutors office issued Note

of Completion of an Investigation Note of Completion

concerning allegations based on Standard Poors invest

ment grade ratings of Parmalat that individual Standard

Poors rating analysts conspired with Parmalat insiders

and rating advisors to fraudulently or negligently cause the

Parmalat bankruptcy The Note of Completion was served

on eight Standard Poors rating analysts While not for

mal charge the Note of Completion indicates the prosecu

tors intention that the named rating analysts should appear

before judge in Parma for preliminary hearing at which

hearing the judge will determine whether there is sufficient

evidence against the rating analysts to proceed to trial No

date has been set for the preliminary hearing On July

2006 defense brief was filed with the Parma prosecutors

office on behalf of the rating analysts

On October 2009 an action was filed in the District

Court for the Southern District of New York entitled Reed

Construction Data Inc The McGraw-Hill Companies

Inc in which Reed Construction Data asserted eleven claims

under various state and federal laws against the Company

relating to alleged misappropriation and unfair competition

by McGraw-Hill Construction and seeking an unspecified

amount of damages plus attorneys fees and costs

In response to the Companys motion to dismiss five of the

eleven claims in the Reed action Plaintiff filed an Amended

Complaint on December 11 2009 among other things add

ing an allegation that McGraw-Hill Construction misappro

priated Plaintiffs confidential and trade secret information

regarding specific construction projects The Company filed

renewed motion to dismiss five of the eleven claims in the

Amended Complaint on January 22 2010

The Company and Standard Poors Ratings Services

together with other credit rating agencies continue to he

named in numerous lawsuits in U.S state and federal courts

as well as in foreign jurisdictions relating to the ratings

activity of Standard Poors Ratings Services brought by

alleged purchasers of rated securities many of which include

novel claims that Standard Poors Ratings Services is

an underwriter or seller of such securities under tile

Securities Act of 1933 The Company and Standard Poors

Ratings Services have also received numerous subpoenas

and other government inquiries concerning the rating activ

ity of Standard Poors Ratings Services in these areas and

continue to respond to all such requests Additional actions

investigations or proceedings may be initiated from time to

time in the future
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In addition the Company and certain of its officers and

directors have been named in putative class action brought

under the federal securities laws by its shareholders

two putative class actions by participants in the Companys

ERISA plans and putative derivative action on behalf of

the Company all relating to alleged misrepresentations and

omissions concerning the Companys ratings business

On August 28 2007 putative shareholder class action

titled Reese Bahash was filed in the District Court for the

District of Columbia and was subsequently transferred to

the Southern District of New York The Company and its

CEO and CFO are currently named as defendants in the suit

which alleges claims under the federal securities laws in con

nection with alleged misrepresentations and omissions made

by the defendants relating to the Companys earnings and

SPs business practices On November 2008 the District

Court denied Lead Plaintiffs motion to lift the discovery

stay imposed by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

in order to obtain documents SP submitted to the SEC

during the SECs examination The Company filed motion

to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint which was fully

briefed and submitted as of May 2009

On September 10 2008 putative shareholder class

action titled Patrick Gearren etal The McGraw-Hill

Companies Inc et al was filed in the District Court for

the Southern District of New York against the Company

its Board of Directors its Pension Investment Committee

and the administrator of its pension plans The Complaint

alleged that the defendants breached fiduciary duties to

participants in the Companys ERISA plans by allowing

participants to continue to invest in Company stock as an

investment option under the plans during period when

plaintiffs allege the Companys stock price to have been arti

ficially inflated The Complaint also asserted that defendants

breached fiduciary duties under ERISA by making certain

material misrepresentations and non-disclosures concern

ing the ratings business in plan communications and the

Companys SEC filings virtually identical complaint was

filed on June 12 2009 in an action titled Sullivan The

McGraw-Hill Companies Inc etal Case No 09-CV-5450

in the Southern District of New York On February 10 2010

both actions were dismissed in their entirety for failure to

state claim under applicable law The dismissals are with

prejudice and the plaintiffs do not have the right to amend

their complaints but may seek to appeal the dismissals

On January 2009 putative derivative action on

behalf of the Company was filed in the District Court for

the Southern District of New York titled Teamsters Allied

Benefit Funds Harold McGraw III et al asserting nine

claims including causes of action for securities fraud breach

of fiduciary duties and other related theories against the Board of

Directors and several officers of the Company The claims in

the complaint are premised on the alleged role played by the

Companys directors and officers in the issuance of exces

sively high ratings by Standard Poors and subsequent pur

ported misstatements or omissions in the Companys public

filings regarding the financial results and operations of the rat

ings business The Companys motion to dismiss the complaint

was fully briefed and submitted as of May 2009

The Company believes that the claims asserted in the

proceedings described above have no basis and they

will be vigorously defended by the Company and/or the

subsidiaries involved

In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome

of legal matters particularly where the claimants seek very

large or indeterminate damages or where the cases present

novel legal theories involve large number of parties or are

in early stages of discovery we cannot state with confidence

what the eventual outcome of these pending matters will

be what the timing of the ultimate resolution of these

matters will be or what the eventual loss fines penalties or

impact related to each pending matter may be We believe

based on our current knowledge the outcome of the legal

actions proceedings and investigations currently pending

should not have material adverse effect on the Companys

consolidated financial condition
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

To the Shareholders of

The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc

MANAGEMENTS ANNUAL REPORT ON ITS

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE COMPANYS FINAN
CIAL STATEMENTS AND INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The financial statements in this report were prepared by the

management of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc which is

responsible for their integrity and objectivity

These statements prepared in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States and includ

ing amounts based on managements best estimates and judg

ments present fairly The McGraw-Hill Companies financial

condition and the results of the Companys operations Other

financial information given in this report is consistent with

these statements

The Companys management is responsible for estab

lishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting for the Company as defined under the

U.S Securities Exchange Act of 1934 It further assures

the quality of the financial records in several ways pro

gram of internal audits the careful selection and training

of management personnel maintaining an organizational

structure that provides an appropriate division of financial

responsibilities and communicating financial and other

relevant policies throughout the Company
The McGraw-Hill Companies Board of Directors

through its Audit Committee composed entirely of outside

directors is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the

Companys financial reporting and accounting practices

The Audit Committee meets periodically with management

the Companys internal auditors and the independent reg

istered public accounting firm to ensure that each group is

carrying out its respective responsibilities In addition the

independent registered public accounting firm has full and

free access to the Audit Committee and meet with it with

no representatives from management present

MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
As stated above the Companys management is responsible

for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control

over financial reporting The Companys management has

evaluated the system of internal control using the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

COSO framework Management has selected the COSO

framework for its evaluation as it is control framework

recognized by the Securities and Exchange Commission and

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board that is

free from bias permits reasonably consistent qualitative and

quantitative measurement of the Companys internal con

trols is sufficiently complete so that relevant controls are not

omitted and is relevant to an evaluation of internal controls

over financial reporting

Based on managements evaluation under this framework

we have concluded that the Companys internal controls over

financial reporting were effective as of December 31 2009

There are no material weaknesses in the internal

control over financial reporting that have been identified

by management

The Companys independent registered public account

ing firm Ernst Young LLP have audited the consolidated

financial statements of the Company for the year ended

December 31 2009 and have issued their reports on the

financial statements and the effectiveness of internal con

trols over financial reporting These reports are located on

pages 83 and 84 of the 2009 Annual Report to Shareholders

OTHER MATTERS

There have been no changes in the Companys internal con

trols over financial reporting during the most recent quarter

that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to

materially affect the Companys internal control over finan

cial reporting

Harold McGraw III

Chairman of the Board President and

Chief Executive Officer

RobertJ Bahash

Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS

OF THE MCGRAW-HILL COMPANIES INC

We have audited The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.s inter

nal Control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO

criteria The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.s management

is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effective

ness of internal control over financial reporting included

in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on its

Responsibility for the Companys Financial Statements and

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibil

ity is to express an opinion on the Companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stan

dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and per

form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

effective internal control over financial reporting was main

tained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal

control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances

We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for

our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external
purposes

in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys inter

nal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that

in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transac

tions and dispositions of the assets of the company pro

vide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and

that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company and provide reasonable assur

ance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that

could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc main

tained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the

COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the stan

dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of The

McGraw-Hill Companies Inc as of December 31 2009 and

2008 and the related consolidated statements of income

equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31 2009 of The McGraw-Hill Companies

Inc and our report dated February 24 2010 expressed an

unqualified opinion thereon

New York New York

February 24 2010
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated

statements of income equity and cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31 2009 These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement An

audit includes examining on test basis evidence support

ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management as well

as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation

We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for

our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above

present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc at

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated results

of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years

in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity with

U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.s internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

based on criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our

report dated February 24 2010 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

444Qt

New York New York

February 24 2010

84 The McGraw-I-1ii Companies Z009 Anoal Report



SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Revenue

Income before taxes on income1

Net income1

Net income attributable to the

McGraw-Hill Companies Inc

Earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

$1296418 $1718179 $2187996 $1569688 $6772281

232869i 445063 729385 2290l4k 1636331

145731 278815 458175 144637k 1027358

143838i 277078 452018 140625k 1013559

0.41 0.81 1.37 0.43 3.01

0.40 0.79 1.34 0.43 2.94

Note Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed independently for

each quarter and full year presented The number of weighted-average shares

outstanding changes as common shares are issued pursuant to employee

stock plans as shares are repurchased by us and other activity occurs

throughout the year Accordingly the sum of the quarterly earnings per share

data may not agree with the calculated full year earnings per
share

The results of 2009 reflect deferral of $11.4 million of revenue and

$7.1 million of operating profit
related to the

transitioning
of number of

syndicated studies to an online service platform which will be recognized

over the service period

Includes $24.3 million pre-tax restructuring charge in addition we

revised our estimate of previously recorded restructuring charges and

reversed $9.1 million $9.7 million net after-tax charge or $0.03 per

diluted share

Includes $13.8 million pre-eax loss $8.8 million after-tax or $0.03 per

diluted share on the divestiture of Vista Research Inc

Includes $10.5 million pre-tax gain $6.7 million after-tax or $0.02 per

diluted share on the divestiture of Business Week

Includes $23.7 million pre-tax restructuring charge $14.8 million after-

tax charge or $0.05 per diluted share

Includes $23.4 million pre-tax restructuring charge $14.6 million after-

tax charge or $0.05 per diluted share

Includes $26.3 million pre-eax restructuring charge $16.4 million after-

tax charge or $0.05 per diluted share

Includes reduction to reflect change in the prolected payout of

restricted performance stock awards and reductions in other incentive com

pensation projections that resulted in $273.7 million pre-tax decrease in

incentive compensation

Fourth quarter 2006 includes deferral of $23.8 million of revenue and

$21.1 million of operating profit $13.3 million after-tax or $0.04
per

diluted share related to the transformation of Sweets from primarily print

catalog to bundled
print

and online services which was recognized ratably

throughout 2007

Includes $17.3 million pee-tax gain $10.3 million after-tax or $0.03 per

diluted share on the divestiture of our mutual fund data business and

$4.1 million pre-tax gain on the divestiture of product line in the first and

third quarter respectively

Includes $43.7 million pre-tax restructuring charge $27.3 million after-

tax charge or $0.08 per diluted share

The 2008 and 2007 results reflect the impact of the new accounting rule

adopted on January 12009 for nonconerolling interests in subsidiaries

see Note to our consolidated financial statements which resulted in

change to previously reported amounts

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION uNAuDITED

in thousands except per share data First quarter
Second

quarter
Third quarter Fourth quarter

Total
year

2009

Revenuea $1148207 $1465180 $1875903 $1462492 $5951782

Income before taxes on incomea 103750 263979bc 538138 273002d 1178869

Net incomea 65985 l67891bc 342256 173629d 749761

Net income attributable to the

McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.a 63004 164093bc 336111 167294d 730502

Earnings per share

Basic 0.20 0.53 1.08 0.54 2.34

Diluted 0.20 0.52 1.07 0.53 2.33

2008

2007

Revenue $1217871 $1673225 $2048541 $1415418 $6355055

Income before taxes on income1 133230 344327e 630914f 190589g l299060h

Net income1 84563 216950e 396815f 121037g 819365h

Net income attributable to the

McGraw-Hill Companies Inc 81110 212294 390166 115921g 799491h

Earnings per share

Basic 0.25 0.67 1.25 0.37 2.53

Diluted 0.25 0.66 1.23 0.37 2.51
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in thousands except per
share data operating statisnes and number of employees 2009 2008 20Y

Operating Results by Segment and Income Statistics

Revenue

McGraw-Hill Educationa $2387787 $2638893

Financial Services 2610123 2654287
Informatinn MediabC

_________ ______
953872 1061875

Total Revenue
_______ ______ ___________

5951782 6355055

Operating Profit

McGraw-Hill Education 276019 321398 403107

Financial Services 1014095 1070357 1370159

Information Mediabc
______

92668 92051 63467

Operating Profit
______ ________

1382782 1483806 1836733

General corporate expense/income1 127046 109122 159821

Interest_expense net
__________ ________

76867 75624 411581

Income from Continuing Operations before Taxes on 1178869 1299060 1636331

Provision for taxes on incomeJ4
________ ______

429108 479695 608973

Income from Continuing Operations_before Cumulative_Adjustment 749761 819365 1027358

Discontinued Operations

Net_loss/earnings from discontinued operations1

Income before_Cumulative_Adjustment 749761 81 9365 1127358

Cumulative effect on prior years
of changes in accountingt

Netlncome 749761 819365 $1027358

Less net income attributable to noncontrolling tnterestst 19259 19874 13799

Net Income Attributable to The McGraw-Hill_Companies Inc 730502 799491 $1013559

Basic Earnings Per Share

Net income attributable to The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc before cumulative adjustment 2.34 2.53 3.01

Discontinued operations1

Net income attributable to The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc before cumulative adjustment 2.34 2.53 3.11

Cumulative adjustmentr

Net Income Attributable to The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc
______

2.34 2.53 3.11

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Net income attributable to The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc before cumulative adjustment 2.33 2.51 2.94

Discontinued operations1

Net income attributable to The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc before cumulative adjustment 2.33 2.54 2.94

Cumulative adjustmentr

Net income attributable to The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc 2.33 2.51 2.94

Dividends
per

share of common stock
______ _____

0.90 0.88 0.82

Operating Statistics

Return on average equityst

Income from continuing operations before taxes as percent of revenue

Income before cumulative_adjustment as apercent of revenue ______
Balance Sheet Data

Working capital

Total assets

Total debt

Equityst______________ _______________
Number of Employees

$2705831

3046229

1020221

6772281

45.7% 54.1%

19.8% 20.4%

12.6% 12.9%

46.6%

24.29k

15.2%

484442

$6475250
$1197813

$1929177

21077

227980 314558
$6080142 $6391376

$1267633 $1197447

$1352871 $1677762

21649 21171

In 2004 prior period revenues were reclassified in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification

FASB ASC 605 Revenue Recognition resulting in an increase in

revenue for all
years presented

In 2006 revenue of $23.8 milion and operating profit of $21.1 million

shifted to 2007 due to the transtormation of Sweets from primarily print

catalog to bundled
print

and online service

Ic In 2009 j.D Power and Associates began transitinning number of syndi

cated studies to an online service platform This resulted in $11.4 million of

revenue and $7.1 million of operating profit that would have heen recognized

in 2009 to he deferred and will hr recognized over the service period

2009 income from continuing operations hefore taxes on income

includes $13.8 million pee-tax loss 158.8 million after-tax or $0.03
per

diluted share on the sale of Vista Research Inc $10.5 million pee-tax

gain $6.7 million after-tax or $0.02 per
diluted share on the sale of

Business Week and $15.2 million net pee-tax restructuring charge $9.7 mil

lion after-tax or $0.03 pee
diluted share which is included in the following

McGraw-Hill Educatiisn of $11.6 million pee-tax Financial Services of

50.4 million pre-tax and Information Media of $4.0 million pee-tax

2008 income from continuing operations
before taxes on income includes

$73.4 million pee-tax restructuring charge $45.9 million after-tax or $0.14 per

diluted share which is included in the following McGraw-Hill Education of

$25.3 million pee-tax Financial Services of $25.9 million pee-tax Information

Media of $19.2 million
pee-tax

and Corporate of $3.0 million pee-tax and

reductions en reflect change in the pnsected payout of restricted peefisemanee

snsck awards and reductions in other incentive compensation projections

2007 income from continuing operations before taxes on income includes

$17.3 million
pet-tax gain 1510.3 million aftee-tax or $0.03

pee
diluted
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share on the sale of mutual fund data business and 543.7 millnin
pee-tax

restructuring charge $27..3 million after-tax or $11.08 pee
diluted share

which is included in the following McGraw-Hill Edneatisin of $16. nullion

pee-tax Financial Services of $18.8 million pee-tax Information Media sit

$6.7 million pet-tax and Corporate of $1.9 million pee-tax

In 2006 as eesult of new accounting standard fist share-based payments

the Company incurred stock-based compensation expense of $136.2 million

1585.5 million after-tax or $0.23 per diluted share which was charged to the

following McGraw-Hill Education ot $31.6 million pee-tax Financial Services

of $38.3 million pee-tax Information Media of $22.9 million pee-tax and

Corporate of $43.4 million pee-tax Included in this expense is the inspaet

of the eliminatiesn of the Ciampanys eestoeatmssn stock option peesg tam of

523.8 million $14.9 million after-tax or $0.04 pee diluted share which

impacted the segments by $4.2 million pee-tax to McGraw-Hill Edueattiim

$2.1 million peetax to Financial Services $2.7 million pet-tax to lisfoematsns

Media and the remainder to Corporate Also included in tht expense is

restricted pertoemanee stock expense ot $66 million 545 mmEiiin aftee

tax or $0.11
per

diluted share as compared with $51.1 inillisni 52.1 ni
lion after-tax tsr $0.08

per
diluted share in 2005 The breakout Is segment

is as follows McGrawHill Education 516.8 million pee-max us 2016 and

$12.0 million pee-tax in 2005 Financial Seesiees $20.2 millisin pie-tax

in 2006 and $8.4 million pee-tax in 2005 Media 12.1

lion pee-tax in 2006 and $8.8 million pee-tax us 2005 aisd Cisrpoeate

$16.9 million pee-tax in 2006 and $21.9 million pee-tax 2005

2006 income from continuing operatmsnss befomr taxes ins miseonme includes

$31.5 million pee-tax restructuring charge $19.8 nsillmmni afeee- se

$0.06 per diluted share which is included in the following McGraw-Full

Education of $16.0 million pee-tax Infoematinn Media of $8.7 million

pee-tax
and Corporate of $6.8 milton per-tax



2005 income from continuing operations before taxes on income includes the

following
items $6.8 million pre-tax gain $4.2 million after-tax or $0.01 per

diluted share on the sale of the Corporate Value Consulting business $5.5 mil

lion loss $3.3 million after-tax on the sale of the Healthcare Information Group

and $23.2 million
pre-tax restructuring charge $14.6 million after-tax

or $0.04 per
diluted share

2005 includes $10.0 million $0.03 per
diluted share increase in income

taxes on the repatriation
of funds

2004 includes non-cash benefit of approximately $20 million $0.05 per

diluted share as result of the Companys completion of various federal

state and local and foreign tax audit cycles In the first quarter of 2004 the

Company accordingly removed approximately $20 million from its accrued

income tax liability accounts This non-cash item resulted iii reduction to

the overall effective tax rate from continuing operations to 35.3o

In 2003 the Company adopted the Discontinued Operations presentation

outlined in the FASB ASC 360 Property Plant and Equipment/ASC 205

presentation of Financial Statements Revenue and operating profit
of SP

ComStock and the juvenile retail publishing business historically included in

the Financial Services and McGraw-Hill Education segments respectively

were restated as discontinued operations 2003 discontinued operations

include $87.5 million on the divestiture of SP ComStock $57.2 million

after-tax gain or $0.15 per diluted share and an $81.1 million loss on the

planned disposition
of the juvenile retail publishing business $57.3 million

after-tax loss or $0.15 per diluted share which was subsequently sold on

January 30 2004 Discontinued operations in
years

20022000 reflect net

after-tax earnings/loss from the operations of SP ComStock and the juve

nile retail publishing business and 19991998 reflect net after-tax earnings

Ioss from the operations of SP ComStock Discontinued operations in

2004 reflect the net after-tax loss from the operations of the juvenile retail

publishing business in January of 2004 before the sale of the business

2003 income from continuing operations before taxes Ofl income includes

pre-tax gain on sale of real estate of $131.3 million $58.4 million after tax

gain or $0.15 per
diluted share

2002 income from continuing operations before taxes on income reflects

$14.5 million pre tax loss $2.0 million after-tax benefit or $0.01 per

diluted share on the
disposition

of MMS International

2001 income from continuing operations before taxes on income reflects

the following items $1 59.0 million pre-tax restructuring charge and

asset write-Jown an $8.8 million pre-tax gain on the disposition ot DRI
$22.8 million pre-tax loss on the closing

of Blue List the contribution of

Rational Investors and the write down of selected assets and $6.9 million

pre-tax gain on the sale of building

2000 income from continuing operations before taxes on income reflects

$16.6 million gain on the sale of Tower Group International

1999 income from continuing operations before taxes on income reflects

$39.7 million gain on the sale of the Petrochemical publications

The cumulative adjustment in 2000 reflects the adoption of FASB ASC 605

Revenue Recognition

In 2006 the Company adopted FASB ASC 715 Compensation Retirement

Benefits which resulted in reduction of
equity

of $69.4 million after-tax

In 2009 the Company adopted FASB ASC 810-10-65-1 Consolidation

Accordingly certain amounts in
prior year periods presented have been reclassi

fied to reflect the adoption

Note Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for comparability

purposes All
per

share amounts have been restated to reflect the Companys

two-for-one stock split completed on May 17 2005

2006 2005
--

2004

$2524151 $2671732 $2395513

2746442 2400809 2055288

_____ _____ 984545 931101 799737
______ ______-

6255138 6003642 5250538

2000 19992101

$2289622

1398303

846063

4533988

331947

1208105

49888

_______
1589940

162848
13631

1413461

522592

890869

2003

$2348624

17o9093

772603

4890320

323697

667597

109841

1101135

38185

7097
1132223

442466

689757

$2038594

1205038

1007552

4251184

2002

$2342528

1555726

809439

4707693

334561

560845

118052

1013458

91934
22517

899007

325429

57358

412593 342390

1021468 839398

60576 119313

1494637 1301101

124826 124088
5202 5785

1364609 1171228

515656 412495

848953 58733

$1786220

1163644

1030015

3979879

275051 308980 275158

425911 383025 358155

65003 212921 185551

765965 904926 818864

93062 91380 83280
55070 52841 42013

617833 760705 693571

238436 292367 269911

379397 468338 423660

587 161 4794 654 4886

890869 848953 758146 689596 578372 378743 473224

68122

890869 848953 758146 689596 578372 378743 405102

8638 4647 2323 1946 1612 1712 1308

882231 844306 755823 687650 576760 377031 403794

2.47 2.25 1.99 1.81 1.48 0.97 1.21

0.01 0.01

--

2.47 2.25 1.99 1.81 1.49 0.97 1.22

0.18

2.47 2.25 1.99 1.81 1.49 0.97 1.04

2.40 2.21 1.96 1.79 1.47 0.96 1.19

0.01 0.01

2.40 2.21 1.96 1.79 1.48 0.96 1.20

0.17

2.40 2.21 1.96 1.79 1.48 0.96 1.03

0.73 0.66 0.60 0.54 0.51 0.49 0.47

3405

427065

427065

1491

425574

1.07

0.01

1.08

1.08

1.06

0.01

1.07

1.07

0.43

26.9%

17.4%

10.7%

30.3% 27.6% 27.2% 29.0% 28.6% 20.8%

22.6% 22.7% 22.3% 23.2% 19.1% 13.6%

14.2% 14.1% 14.4% 14.1% 12.3% 8.4%

23.6%

17.9%

11.1%

210078 366113 479168 262418 100984 63446 20905 14731

$6042890 $6395808 $5841281 $5342473 $4974146 $5098537 $4865855 $4046765

2681 3286 5126 26344 578337 $1056524 $1045377 536449

$2730043 $3153740 $3006606 $2575782 $2181265 $1867913 $1774008 $1660834

20214 19600 17253 16068 16505 17135 16761 16376
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING
The 2010 annual meeting will be held at 11 a.m EST on

Wednesday April 28th at our world headquarters

1221 Avenue of the Americas Auditorium Second Floor

New York NY 10020-1095

The annual meeting will also be Webcast at

www.mcgraw-hill.com

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Shares of our common stock are traded primarily on the

New York Stock Exchange MHP is the ticker symbol for

our common stock

INVESTOR RELATIONS WEB SITE

Go to www.mcgraw-hill.com/investor_relations to find

Dividend and stock split history

Stock quotes and charts

Investor Fact Book

Corporate Governance

Financial reports including the annual report proxy

statement and SEC filings

Financial news releases

Management presentations

Investor e-mail alerts

RSS news feeds

INVESTOR KIT

Available online or in print the kit includes the current

annual report proxy statement Form 10-Q Form 10-K

and current earnings release

Online go to www.mcgraw-hill.com/mvestor_relations

and click on the Digital Investor Kit

Requests for printed copies can be c-mailed to

investorrelations@mcgraw-hill.com or mailed

to Investor Relations The McGraw-Hill Companies

1221 Avenue of the Americas New York NY 10020-1095

You may also call Investor Relations toll-free at

1.866.436.8502 option International callers may
dial 1.212.512.2192

TRANSFER AGENT
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services is the transfer agent for

The McGraw-Hill Companies and administers all mat

ters related to stock that is directly registered with the

Corporation Registered shareholders can view and manage

their account online at www.bnymellon.com/shareowner.isd

For shareholder assistance call toll-free at 1.888.201.5538

Outside the U.S and Canada dial 1.201.680.6578 The 111
for the hearing impaired is 1.800.231.5469 The TDD for

shareholders outside the U.S and Canada is 1.201.680.6610

Shareholders may write to BNY Mellon Shareowner

Services P.O Box 358015 Pittsburgh PA 15252-8015 or

send an e-mail to shrrelations@bnymellon.com

DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE AND

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

This program offers convenient low-cost way to invest in

our common stock Participants can purchase and sell shares

directly through the program make optional cash invest

ments weekly reinvest dividends and send certificates to the

transfer agent for safekeeping

To order the prospectus and enrollment forms contact

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services as noted above Interested

investors can also view the prospectus and enroll online at

www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

NEWS MEDIA INQUIRIES
Go to www.mcgraw-hill.com/media to view the latest

Company news and information or to submit an e-mail Inquiry

You may also call 1.212.512.2826 or write to Corporate

Affairs The McGraw-Hill Companies 1221 Avenue of the

Americas New York NY 10020-1095

CERTIFICATIONS

We have filed the required certifications under Sections 302 and

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits 31.1 31.2

and 32 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2009 After the 2010 annual meeting

of shareholders we intend to file with the New York Stock

Exchange the CEO certification regarding our compliance

with the NYSEs corporate governance listing standards as

required by NYSE rule 303A.12 Last year we filed this CEO
certification with the NYSE on April 30 2009

HIGH AND LOW SALES PRICES OF THE MCGRAW-HILL COMPANIES
COMMON STOCK ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

Year

2009 2005 20r

$25.8917.22 $44.7633.91 $69.981.06

$34.0922.46 $45.6 136.17 $72.5060 16

$34.1O23.55 $47.1329.08 $68.8 147 IS

$35.2424.46 $33 1217.15 $55.1 443.46

$35.2417.22 $47.13I 7.15 $72.5043.46

The New York Stock Exchange is the principal market on which the Corporations shares are traded
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DIRECTORS AND PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS PRINCIPAL CORPORATE EXECUTIVES

Harold McGraw 111E Harold McGraw III

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer Chairman President and

The McGraw-Hill Companies Chief Executive Officer

Pedro AspeCN Robert Bahash

Co-Chairman Evercore Partners Inc Executive Vice President and

Chief Executive Officer Protego Chief Financial Officer

Sir Winfried BischoffCEF Bruce Marcus

Chairman Executive Vice President and

Lloyds Banking Group plc Chief Information Officer

Douglas DaftAC David Murphy
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President

The Coca-Cola Company Human Resources

Linda Koch LorimerCN Edward Smyth
Vice President and Secretary Executive Vice President Corporate Affairs and

Yale University Executive Assistant to the Chairman

President and Chief Executive Officer

Robert McGrawF
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Charles Teschner Jr

Averdale Holdings LLC Executive Vice President

Global Strategy

Hilda OchoaBrillembourgAF

President and Chief Executive Officer Kenneth Vittor

Strategic Investment Group Executive Vice President and

General Counsel

Sir Michael RakeAEF
Chairman

BTGroupplc PRINCIPAL OPERATIONS EXECUTIVES

Edward Rust Jr.ACEN
Peter Davis

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer
President

State Farm Insurance Companies McGraw-Hill Education

Kurt SchmokeFN
Glenn Goldberg

Dean
President

Howard University School of Law
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Sidney TaurelCEN
Deven Sharma
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President
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